

Republic of Iraq Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research University of Kerbala /College of Medicine Department of Microbiology



# Correlation of Serum Soluble Interleukin-2 Receptor and Interleukin-18 with Auto-antibody Profile In Patients With Celiac Disease In Karbala Province

# A Thesis

Submitted to the Council of the College of Medicine and the Committee of Post Graduate Studies / University of Kerbala, as Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master Degree of Science in Medical Microbiology/Clinical Immunity

By

Maha Sabah Majeed

# M.B.Ch.B

Supervised by

Assistant Prof. Dr. Sattar Jabbar Rahi Algraittee Ph.D. Immunobiology Assistant Prof. Dr. Mohammed Fawzi Qanbar F.I.C.M.S Pathology

1443 A.H

2021 A.D





( طه/١١٤ )



# "Supervisors Certification"

We certify that this M.Sc. thesis titled

# "Correlation of Serum Soluble Interleukin-2 Receptor and Interleukin-18 with Auto-antibody Profile In Patients With Celiac Disease In Karbala Province"

Was prepared under our supervision in the College of Medicine/ University of Kerbala, as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Medical Microbiology/Clinical Immunity.

Assist.Prof.	Assist.Prof.
Dr.Sattar Jabar Rahi Algraitti	Dr.Mohammed Fawzi Qanber
College of Medicine	College of Medicine
University of Kerbala	University of Kerbala

In view of the available recommendation, I forward this thesis for

debate by the examining committee

Assist. Prof. Dr. Sawsan Mohammed Jabbar Al-Hasnawi Head of Medical Microbiology Department College of Medicine University of Kerbala

# "Committee Certification"

We, the examining committee, certify that we have read the M.Sc. thesis entitled:

# " Correlation of Serum Soluble Interleukin-2 Receptor and Interleukin-18 with Auto-antibody Profile In Patients With Celiac Disease In Karbala Province "

We have examined the student (Maha Sabah Majeed Salman) in its content, find it adequate as a thesis for the degree of Master in Medical Microbiology and/ Clinical Immunity.

# Assist.Prof. Dr.Ali Mansoor

College of Medicine

University of Kerbala

(Chairman)

# Assist.Prof.Dr.Thanna Shams Aldeen Abbass Assist.Prof.Dr.Ali Jaleel Ali

College of Medicine

University of Kufa,

(Member)

### Assist.Prof.Dr.Sattar Jabbar Rahi

# Assist.Prof.Dr.Mohammed Fawzi Qanber

College of Medicine

University of Kerbala

(Member-supervisor)

College of Medicine University of Kerbala

College of Pharmacy

University of Kerbala,

(Member)

(Member-supervisor)

Approved by College of Medicine /University of Kerbala

**Prof. Dr. Riyad Dhayhood Mehdi Al- Zubaidi** Dean of College of Medicine/ University of Kerbala

# **DEDICATION**

To our time Imam ; Al-Hujjah Ibn Al- Hassan "God accelerated his appearance".

To the soul of my father .... Who I hope he is happy for my graduation.

To my faithful husband, Assistant Prof. Dr. Ali Fadhil Alrammahi ....Who always standing next to me in every moment of this journey, his limitless support and encouragement made this work come into existence.

To my daughters.....Whom their love contributed to my emotional wellbeing throughout the completion of the project at hand.

To all my teachers through The whole period of my life.

# MAHA

# NOVEMBER /2021

# **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

First of all...." Commendation to almighty merciful Allah for gracing me greater than I merit".

I would like to thank all the people who supported and helped me during the period of my study.

I express my deep and sincere appreciation to the smart supervisor Assistant Prof. Dr. Sattar J.Rahi Algraittee for his continued advising, boundless help, manuscript revision and providing expert advice and supporting me along the project time.

I present my profound gratitude and respect to Assistant Prof. Dr.Mohammed Fawzi Qanbar for his great help in processing and examining the histological samples included in this study.

My thanks and gratefulness to Assistant Prof. Dr.Ali Mansoor, Assistant Prof. Dr.Sawsan Mohammad and all the academic staff of Microbiology department, College of Medicine/ University of Karbala for everything they provide.

I would like to express my thanks and appreciation to Immunity Consultant Dr. Mohammed Salih for his continuing advise, guiding and providing me with recent scientific references.

Sincere gratitude to Assistant Prof. Dr.Ali Fadhil Alrammahi for his profound assistance in biopsies assessment and other parts of the study.

I present my gratefulness to the consultants in the Gastrointestinal department in Immam Al-Hussein Medical City, especially Dr.Hadi Al-

Khuttabi in helping me to communicate with the patients during the Pandemic of COVID-19.

Special thanks to Dr.Ali Al-Mousawi who helped me in conducting the statistical measurements for the data results in the thesis.

My deep thanks and gratefulness to the Gastrointestinal and Laboratory departments of the Al-Immam Zain Al-Abideen, Al-Kafeel and Al-Immam-Al-Hujja private hospitals in supporting me for communicating with the persons included in this study.

Of course my great gratitude to Dr. Rasha kahtan , the technicians and health workers in the immunity department of the central Lab of Al-Immam Al- Hussein Medical city in helping me to conduct the practical part of my thesis.

I express my thanks to the private medical laboratories in the governorate of Karbala for their great assistance in providing me with the facilities to my work.

I wish to express my respect and appreciation to the control participants, patients with celiac disease and their families.

This thesis would have been unattainable without the extraordinary support of my family.

# MAHA

# NOVEMBER /2021

# SUMMARY

Celiac disease is an autoimmune chronic disease involving mainly the digestive system with variable degree of severity and type of presenting symptoms. It's triggered by ingesting gluten-containing food, found mainly in wheat, barley, and rye in the genetically predisposed people of all ages. For decades, the pathogenesis of celiac disease has been focused on and tried to connect with other human autoimmune disorders. Several factors are stimulating the onset of the disease including environmental, genetic and local immune disorders.

**The aim** of this study is to comparatively assess serum soluble interleukin-2receptor (sIL-2R) and interleukin 18 (IL-18) with anti-tissue transglutaminase (anti- tTG) and anti-deamidated gliadin peptide (anti-DGP) antibodies across biodemographic factors in patients with celiac disease.

The tissue transglutaminase(tTG) enzyme and deamidated gliadin peptide (DGP) are involved in the series of the immune processes associated with the celiac disease .The sIL-2R together with IL-18 are predictive markers for inflammatory process of small intestine in adult Iraqi people with celiac disease since both markers are upregulated in the disease. Histological examination for duodenal tissue biopsies which was considered as a cornerstone in the diagnosis of celiac disease for several decades was used in this study and by applying MARSH grading system in this examination.

**Method:** cross sectional study was carried out to test 45 patients with celiac disease of adult age group of both genders for serum level of the four markers using an ELISA technique then to be compared with 45 healthy controls comparable for age and gender. Endoscopic obtained biopsies from patient's duodenal tissues were examined histologically (by applying hematoxylin and eosin protocol) with a subsequent MARSH grading.

**Results:** High serum anti-tTG, DGP , IL-18 and sIL-2R concentrations were noticed in the majority of the patients with celiac disease, which was probably attributed to consumption of gluten in the diet of most of the candidates. This study demonstrates a significant statistical difference in serum levels of the above four markers among those patients in comparison to controls group (p< 0.05).There were significant correlations of anti-tTG,IL-18,and sIL-2R markers level with the different histological grades(p< 0.05).

**Conclusion:** The inflammatory process associated with CD can be monitored by detecting the serum level of pro-inflammatory cytokines of the patients and so the physicians can predict the clinical outcome. This review also calls for investigating persons who have refractory anemia or unusual extraintestinal features. The usage of the serological inflammatory markers may reduce the need for application of the oesophageogastroduodenoscopy (OGD).

# CONTENTS

Contents	Page
Summary	INU.
Table of contents	III
List of tables	IX
List of figures	XI
List of abbreviations	XIII
References	105
Appendices	133
Chapter One : Introduction & Literature Review	
1.1- Introduction	1
1.1.1- Hypothesis	3
1.2 - The aim of this study	4
1.2.1 Study objectives	4
1.3- Literature Review	5
1.3.1- General view of Celiac disease	5
1.3.2-Epidemiology	6
1.3.3- Etiology of celiac disease	8
1.3.3.1- Environmental factors	9
1.3.3.2- Certain cereal ingestion	10
1.3.3.2.1 Gluten	10
1.3.3.2.2 Alpha-amylase/Trypsin Inhibitors(ATIs) and Lectins	13
1.3.3.2.3 Fermentable olig, di,monosaccharides and polyols	14
(FODMAPS)	

1.3.3.3 - Genetic Susceptibility	14
1.3.4- Pathophysiology of Celiac Disease	17
1.3.5- Histological changes of celiac disease	25
1.3.6- Clinical Presentation of Celiac disease	30
1.3.7- Clinical types of Celiac Disease	33
1.3.8-Non celiac Gluten-Related Disorders	35
1.3.8.1- Non Celiac Gluten Sensitivity (NCGS)	36
1.3.8.2- Wheat Allergy	36
1.3.9-Dermatitis Herpitiformis	38
1.3.10-Gluten Related Neurological Disorders	39
1.3.11- Diagnosis of Celiac Disease	39
1.3.11.1-Serologic tests for CD diagnosis	40
1.3.11.1.1 - The role of combined serological tests	43
1.3.11.1.2 - The role of total IgA level in serological tests	44
1.3.11.2 Intestinal endoscopy and biopsy	44
1.3.11.3-Genetic testing	45
1.3.11.4-Gluten challenge test (GC)	46
1.3.12- Differential Diagnosis of Celiac Disease	49
1.3.13- Complications of Celiac Disease	50
1.3.14- Associated Disorders with Celiac Disease	51
1.3.14.1- Diabetes Mellitus	51
1.3.14.2- Autoimmune Thyroiditis	52
1.3.14.3- Addison's Disease	53
1.3.14.4- Dermatological Disorders	53
1.3.14.5- Rheumatoid Diseases	53
1.3.14.6- Hematological Manifestations	53
1.3.14.7- Hepatic Disorders	54

1.3.15- Soluble Interleukin-2 Receptor (sIL-2 R)	54
1.3.15.1- Introduction	54
1.3.15.2- Structure	54
1.3.15.3- Biological action of sIL-2R	55
1.3.15.4- Role of sIL-2R in Celiac Disease	57
1.3.16- Interleukin-18 (IL-18)	58
1.3.16.1- History	58
1.3.16.2- Mechanism of Action of IL-18	58
1.3.16.3- Biological function of IL-18	59
1.3.16.3.1- Physiological role of IL-18	59
1.3.16.3.2- Pathological role of IL-18	60
1.3.16.4 Role of IL-18 in Celiac Disease	61
Chapter Two: Materials & Methods	
2.1-Materials	62
2.1.1-Study design	62
2.1.2-Study population	62
2.1.3-Descriptive variables of the study groups	62
2.1.3.1-Inclusion criteria	62
2.1.3.2-Exclusion criteria	64
2.1.4-Sample collection	64
2.2-Methods	65
2.2.1-Histological processing of duodenal biopsy samples	65
2.2.2 Determination the serum levels of IL-18 and sIL-2R	66
2.2.2.1 Assay principle of IL-18 test kit	66
2.2.2.2 Assay principle of sIL-2R test kit	67
2.2.2.3 Assay procedure of both IL-18 & sIL-2R kits	67

2.2.3 Measurement of the serum levels of anti-deamidated gliadin	
peptides (DGP) IgG and anti-tissue transglutaminase (tTG) IgA	69
antibodies using indirect ELISA technique	
2.2.3.1 Assay principle of Anti-DGP IgG test kit	70
2.2.3.2 Assay principle of Anti-tTG IgA test kit	70
2.2.3.3 Assay procedure for measuring serum titer of Anti-DGP	71
IgG & Anti-tTG IgA antibodies	
2.3-Statistical analysis	72
Chapter Three: Study Results	
3.1-Age distribution of participants	74
3.2-The Gender of patients and control groups	74
3.3-Anemia in patients of Celiac Disease and control groups	75
3.4-Clinical manifestations of patients with CD in respect to the	76
gender	
3.5-Serum level measurement of anti-tTG IgA in the patients and	78
control groups	
3.6-Serum level measurement of anti-DGP IgG in the patients and	79
control groups	
3.7-Serum results of soluble IL-2 Receptor(sIL-2R)in the	80
participants	
3.8-Detection of IL-18 serum level in the patients and control	80
groups	
3.9 -Distribution of the four serological markers in the patients'	81
group	
3.10-The correlation of the serum markers among them and with	82
the anemia parameters	
3.11 The distribution of the four serological markers in relation to	84
gender of patients	

3.12-Patients' serum values of IL-18 and sIL-2R in relation to	
hoth agaiting DCD IsC and tTC IsA an discussion DCD IsC and	0.4
both positive DGP-1gG and tTG-1gA or discrepant DGP-1gG and	84
tTG-IgA	
3.13- Histological outcome and MARSH grading of the patients	85
3.14- MARSH histological grades in relation to patients' gender	87
3.15- Patients' MARSH histological grades in association with the	88
serological markers results	
Chapter Four: Discussion	
4.1-Age distribution of the participants	90
4.2-The Gender of patients and control groups	91
4.3-Anemia in patients of Celiac Disease and control groups	91
4.4-Clinical manifestations of patients with CD in respect to the	92
gender	
4.5-Serum level measurement of anti-tTG IgA in the patients and	93
control groups	
4.6-Serum level measurement of anti-DGP IgG in the patients and	94
control groups	
4.7-IL-18 and sIL-2R as predictive markers for CD	95
immunopathogenesis	
4.8-Distribution of the four serological markers in the patients	95
group	
4.9-The correlation of the serum markers among them and with	96
the anemia parameters	
4.10-The distribution of the four serological markers in	97
relation to the gender of patients	

4.11 Patients' serum values of IL-18 and sIL-2R in relation	
to both positive DGP-IgG and tTG-IgA or discrepant DGP-IgG	
and tTG-IgA	
4.12 MARSH histological grades in relation to patients' gender	99
4.13 Patients' MARSH histological grades in association with	100
serological markers results	
Chapter Five: Conclusions & Recommendations	
5.1- Conclusions	102
5.2- Recommendations	104
References	105
Appendices	133
Appendix (A): Ethical Approval (Karbala health directorate/	
research unit	
Appendix (B): The reagents & solutions of IL-18 ELISA kit	134
(BIOTECH User Manual)	
Appendix (C): The reagents & solutions of sIL-2R ELISA kit	135
(BIOTECH User Manual)	
Appendix (D): The components of anti-DGP IgG antibody	136
ELISA kit (EUROIMMUN)	
Appendix (E): The components of anti-tTG IgA antibody	137
ELISA kit (EUROIMMUN)	

# **List of Tables**

Number	Title of table	Page
1.1	The Different Histological classification of CD	27
2.1	IL-18 ELISA serial dilutions for standard curve	68
2.2	sIL-2R ELISA serial dilutions for standard curve	68
3.1	The Age distribution of both patients and control groups	74
3.2	The anemia parameters for the patients and control groups	76
3.3	The clinical manifestation of patients with CD in relation to gender	77
3.4	Serum measurement of anti-DGP IgG in both patients and control groups	79
3.5	Serum sIL-2R levels in CD patients compared with healthy control group	80
3.6	Serum IL-18 levels in CD patients compared with healthy control group	81
3.7	The association among serum results of Anti-tTG IgA, Anti-DGP IgG, sIL-2R and IL-18 in the patients group	82
3.8	The correlation of the four parameters together with the Hb and serum ferritin	83
3.9	The positive results of Anti-TG IgA, Anti-DGP IgG, sIL-2R and IL-18 in relation to the gender of the patients	84

3.10	Patients' serum values of IL-18 and sIL-2R in	85
	relation to both positive DGP and tTG or	
	discrepant DGP and tTG	
3.11	The patients MARSH Histological grades in	88
	relation to the gender	
3.12	Patients' MARSH histological grades in relation	89
	to the four parameters results	

# **List of Figures**

Number	Title of the figure	Page
1.1	The iceberg model of CD	7
1.2	The composition of wheat	12
1.3	Mapping of α-gliadin polypeptide	13
1.4	Class II HLA association with celiac disease and type I DM	15
1.5	DQ-genes and their molecules expression on the	16
	APC	
1.6	An abnormal immune response to the gluten peptides in	20
	the upper small intestine of patient with CD	
1.7	The main steps in the immune stimulation of CD	21
1.8	production of TG2 autoantibody in relation to gliadin	22
1.9	The three elements of keeping good intestinal health	23
1.10	Intestinal barrier and the influencing factors	24
1.11	MARSH grading of CD	28
1.12	Wheat related disorders	35
1.13	skin blisters and papules in DH	38
1.14	The comparison of serological strategies in CD diagnosis	43
1.15	The schematic plan of the diagnosis of celiac disease	47
1.16	The action of sIL-2 Receptor	55
1.17	The intracellular processes of IL-2 stimulation	56
1.18	The Biological function of IL-18	60

2.1	Schematic presentation showing the details of the materials and methods employed in the study	73
3.1	The gender distribution of both patients and control groups	75
3.2	The distribution of patients and control group in relation to the serum measurements of anti-tTG antibody	78
3.3	An increased Intraepithelial lymphocytes in celiac duodenal tissue representing MARSH Grade I	86
3.4	The Duodenal tissue in Celiac disease (MARSH Grade II)	86
3.5	The MARSH (Grade III) Duodenal tissue in CD	87

# List of abbreviations

Symbols	Descriptions
AGA	Anti gliadin antibody
AID	Autoimmune disease
Anti-DGP	Anti –deamidated gliadin peptide antibody
Anti-tTG	Anti-tissue transglutaminase
Anti-EMA	Anti endomysial antibody
APC	Antigen presenting cell
ATIs	Alpha-amylase/Trypsin inhibitors
ACG	American College of Gastroenterology
BCR	B-cell receptor
BACH2	BTB Domain And CNC Homolog 2 gene
BSG	British Society of Gastroenterology
CD	Celiac disease
CXCR3	Chemokine receptor 3
CFTR	Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance
	regulator
DGP	Deamidated gliadin peptide
DM	Diabetes Mellitus
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor Receptor
EoE	Eosinophilic esophagitis
EoG	Eosinophilic gastritis
ESPGHAN	European Society of Pediatric Gastronterology
	Hepatology &Nutrition
FODMAPS	Fermentable oligo, di, monosaccharides and
	polyols
FasL	Fas ligand
FOXP3	Fork head box transcription factor P3
GA	Gluten ataxia
GAF-3X	Gliadin-analogous fusion peptide; consisting of 3
	repetitive sequences
GFD	Glutamine free diet
GC	Gluten challenge test
GRND	Gluten related neurological disorders
Hb	Hemoglobin
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen

HMW	High molecular weight
HP	haptoglobin
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase enzyme
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
IBS	Irritable bowel syndrome
IL-2R	Interleukin -2 Receptor
IL-18	Interleukin-18
IL-8	Interleukin-8
INF $\gamma$	Interferon gamma
IEL	Intra-epithelial lymphocytes
IGIF	Interferon gamma inducing factor
IIFA	Indirect immunoflourscent assay
IDA	Iron deficiency anemia
ITP	Idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura
JAK	Janus Associated Tyrosine Kinase
kDa	Kilo dalton
LMW	Low molecular weight
МАРК	Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase
MARSH	Mucosal Algorithm Rules for Scoring Histology
MYO9B	Myosin IX B gene
MYD-88	Myeloid differentiation-88 gene
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
μL	Microliter
mL	Milliliter
MICA	MHC class I chain associated molecule
MS	Multiple Sclerosis
NCGS	Non celiac gluten sensitivty
ncRNA	Non coding Ribonucleic acid
NF-KB	Nuclear factor-KB
NK cells	Natural killer cells
NLRP	Node like receptor protein
NSAID	Non steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
OGD	Oesophageogastroduodenoscopy
OD	Optical density
PARS 2	Protease activated receptors
Pi3K	Phosphatidyl inositol-3 Kinase
RCD	Refractory celiac disease
SS	Sjogren syndrome
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus
sIL-2R	Soluble Interleukin –2 Receptor
SHC	Src homologue and collagen protien

STAT	Signal transducer& activator of transcription
SYK	Spleen Tyrosine Kinase
TG2	Tissue transglutaminase 2 enzyme
TJ	Tight junction
TCR	T-cell recptor
TH1	T-helper cell type-1
TH-2	T-helper cell type 2
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TNF α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
UNL	Upper normal limit
WGO	World gastroenterology organization
WDEIA	Wheat dependent exercise induced anaphylaxis
ZOT	Zonula occludens toxin
ZO-1	Zonula occludens -1 protien

C

# CHAPTER ONE INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURES REVIEW

# **Chapter One**

# **1.1 Introduction**

Celiac disease (CD) is an autoimmune gastrointestinal disease. It results from exposure to gluten, which is of high content of gliadin peptide. In the genetically susceptible persons, the intestinal enzymes are unable to digest the gliadin in the food. This may evoke an intestinal inflammatory reaction(Aronsson et al., 2019, Caio et al., 2019a).

Gluten is an ethanol soluble protein with resistance to digestion and constituted from several immunogenic peptides. Gliadins, the main component of gluten are complex proteins, rich in glutamines and prolines. Both of these two components are resistant to the intestinal digestive enzymes and consequently can trigger an intestinal inflammatory process that can be very harmful with a long standing complications. Gluten is found in several types of grains, including wheat, barley, rye and kamut (Caio et al., 2020).

The incidence of celiac disease raised over the last few decades with a world prevalence of about 1-1.5 %, partially due to the increased sensitivity of the diagnosing tools and the change in the environmental response to the dietary gluten (King et al., 2020b, King et al., 2020a). The incidence of CD in the Arabian countries is about equal with the highest ratio in Saudi Arabia up to 3.2% (El-Metwally et al., 2020).

Coordination of both genetic and environmental factors are important in the pathogenesis of CD. The well-studied inherited predisposition in gluten enteropathy disease is HLA-DQ2 and/or HLA-DQ8(Poddighe et al., 2020). This genetic specification is essential in the differentiation between the sporadic and familial celiac disease(Airaksinen et al., 2020). The identification of CD at early stage of the disease may prevent its complications which may be

serious like iron deficiency anemia and bone growth disturbances and infertility(Al-Toma et al., 2019).Gluten free diet may prevent the development of small bowel adenocarcinoma as a late sequel (Caio et al., 2019b).

The diagnosis of CD depends on clinical, serological and small bowel biopsy interpretation, while in suspected cases of CD the diagnosis needs HLA typing(Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013). Serological identification of autoantibodies against tissue transglutaminases (anti-tTG), gliadin (AGA) and other targets are considered as non-invasive effective methods of detection (Ylönen et al., 2020, Rossin and Piacentini, 2020). However, these antibodies have also been associated with other disease conditions such as liver dysfunction (Lauret and Rodrigo, 2013), inflammatory bowel disease, in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis(Alper et al., 2018), peripheral and motor neuropathies (Hadjivassiliou and Croall, 2021), type 1 diabetes(Liu et al., 2014), arthritis(Abbasi et al., 2017), exercise induced anaphylaxis(Geller, 2020), and alcohol abuse(Gili et al., 2013). For these reasons, histopathological analysis of biopsy specimen (Duodenal /or jejunal biopsy) from the small intestine remains the gold standard for detection of CD enteropathy inspite of the progress of the serological tests. Villous atrophy, increased intraepithelial lymphocytes and crypt hyperplasia are the main histological changes of small bowel in CD(Al-Toma et al., 2019, Alina et al., 2020, Husby et al., 2020). Recently, the antigliadin antibody (AGA) has poor sensitivity and specificity for celiac disease and is no longer used. However, the sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy of anti-deamidated gliadin peptide (anti-DGP) antibodies has been reported as a better diagnostic test for celiac disease than the conventional gliadin antibody testing(Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013). Native peptides or peptides deamidated by tissue transglutaminase (tTG) bind to the positively charged human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-DQ2 or DQ8 molecules expressed on the outer membrane of antigen-presenting cells (APC) and are recognized by CD4+

T cells. T-cell activation results in release of interferon gamma (INF-  $\gamma$  )and destruction of the epithelium.

Cytokines play a significant role in the pathogenesis of CD as the activation of T-cells leads to the production of interleukin (IL)-2, its receptor IL-2R and IL-18 amongst many other soluble factors, which drives the proliferation of Th2 cells as well as activation of B cells, natural killer (NK) cells and macrophages(Wosen et al., 2018) . Moreover, the predictive usefulness of serum cytokines in distinguishing between CD and non- celiac gluten sensitivity have been highlighted in a recent study(Masaebi et al., 2020), thus implying that these cytokines could be potent markers of CD with diagnostic significance and can be used for monitoring the activity of the disease and the status of gluten free diet of patients. IL-2 and its receptor (IL-2R) together with other inflammatory markers were elevated in the CD, especially in the non GFD cases (Tye-Din et al., 2020, Scherf et al., 2020).

Interleukin-18 is a pro inflammatory mediator and was studied thoroughly in cases of infection, autoimmune diseases (AID) and tumor immunity. It's expressed in several cell types (Rex et al., 2019, Dixon and Kuchroo, 2020). Recently,IL-18 was seen to promote T-helper cell(Th1) interferon-gamma and affects the Th1 cell polarization (Delbue et al., 2019) (Domsa et al., 2020).

The inclusion of serological detection of sIL-2R and IL-18 would be advantageous in strengthening the diagnostic and follow-up evaluation of patients with CD in clinical settings and minimize the need for intestinal biopsy.

# 1.1.1 Hypothesis

i. Do the serum levels of sIL-2R and IL-18 correlate with levels antitTG and anti-DGP antibodies with respect to biodemographical factors in patients with CD? ii. Can serological assessment of sIL-2R and IL-18 augment the measurement of anti-tTG and anti-DGP antibodies in the diagnosis and monitoring the severity of CD in those patients?

# **1.2** The aim of this study

To comparatively assess serum sIL-2R and IL-18 with anti-tissue transglutaminase (anti- tTG) and anti-deamidated gliadin peptide(anti-DGP) antibodies across biodemographic factors in patients with celiac disease.

# 1.2.1 Study objectives

This study is carried out to achieve the following objectives:

- i. To measure levels of sIL-2R and IL-18 in serum from patients with CD and control participants using ELISA techniques.
- ii. To measure levels of anti-tTG and anti-DGP antibodies in serum from patients with CD and control participants using ELISA techniques.
- iii. To correlate the levels of sIL-2R and IL-18 obtained with those of antitTG and anti-DGP antibodies across different collated biodemographical data using statistical analytic tools.

# **1.3** Literature Review

# **1.3.1** General view of Celiac disease

Celiac disease(CD) is a chronic immune mediated gastroenteropathy affecting genetically susceptible individuals (Tye-Din et al., 2018, Valitutti et al., 2019). It happens when the susceptible person ingest foods or drinks containing gluten material (Elli et al., 2019, Sollid et al., 2020) .Such relationship was discovered too early since 1950s(Ludvigsson et al., 2014).

The rapid development of the modern life and the economic improvement was noticed, especially in the last half of the last century. This was associated with a shift in the human life style, including the type of food. Such change in the diet habits of the humanity was observed to be cooperated with the a rise of many health problems, including obesity, hypertension, autoimmune disorders (AID), cardiac diseases and cancers (Goyal et al., 2015, d'Angelo et al., 2019).

Nutritional therapy is one of the strategies to manage several diseases, including celiac disease, so prohibiting the ingestion of such foods play a central role in treating the disease and preventing the rise of complications. This needs a good planning to produce healthy foods for patients having CD with a focus on the age of such individuals whether they were elderly, young or infants(Jnawali et al., 2016, Wei et al., 2020).

The ingestion of gluten present in the wheat, rye, barley kamut and other products induces an autoimmune reaction in the genetically predisposed person especially with HLA-DQ2 and HLA-DQ8. This response exaggerates both intestinal and extraintestinal changes (Werkstetter et al., 2017, Wei et al., 2020). Serological tests, like Anti-tissue transglutaminase (tTG) and Anti-deamidated gliadin peptide (DGP) antibodies were discovered to diagnose CD(Ylönen et al., 2020).

# 1.3.2 Epidemiology

Celiac disease is a global health disaster with a prevalence of small bowel biopsy proved cases reaches up to 1% (Stefanelli et al., 2020). The prevalence is variable among different countries ,partly due to the controversy in the health system of these countries and the number of the diagnosing investigations done(Fasano and Catassi, 2012, Du et al., 2018).

There is wide variation in the geographical distribution. The general idea is that CD is more common in western countries with a prevalence1% of general population, with a noticeable increase in the annually recorded cases especially in pediatric age group, partly due to, the increasing tests sensitivity, change in the type of feeding and the increased rate of associated gastrointestinal manifestation(Namatovu et al., 2014).

Western countries are considered as the historical sites of celiac disease cases due to the ingestion of the gluten staple food. Among European countries, there is unexplained variation in the prevalence of the disease in spite of the similarities in the rate of gluten ingestion and genetic susceptibility.(Catassi et al., 2014).

In the United States of America ,the observed incidence still ranges 0.4-1% of the general population, with some differences from the European qualifications of diagnosing CD (Badizadegan et al., 2020).

In Asia, which represents 60% of earth population ,there is an increasing incidence of CD (with differences among the Asian countries) and it's believed to be a large reservoir of undiagnosed cases(Singh et al., 2016, Agarwal et al., 2020) .

At first ,the countries of the middle East were considered as low prevalent for the celiac disease, but with the introduction of the s serological test( anti tissue transglutaminase (tTG) and the anti-endomyseal antibodies),the incidence raised to a level similar to that observed in the western countries(Parzanese et al., 2017).

In Saudi Arabia, the prevalence is about 1% in biopsy proved cases and as in other areas of world, the real fact can be higher because of the underestimated cases(Al Hatlani, 2015, Al-Ajlan, 2016).

In Iraq limited Researches were done and showed that celiac disease ranges between 10% to 11.2% in type 1 diabetic children(Mansour and Najeeb, 2011). Another study illustrated that CD records 12.1% in Iraqi patients with irritable bowel syndrome (Ibrahim, 2020).

The general speaking is that CD cases are represented by an iceberg where the symptomatic discovered patients are above the sea level and the hidden undiscovered, which are the majority, locate below the water line, as illustrated in Figure 1.1(Nenna et al., 2013).



**Figure 1.1:** Celiac disease is represented as an iceberg with the most cases are underdiagnosed (Admou et al., 2012).

Regarding age incidence, CD can be seen at any age but most cases are diagnosed during the childhood after the 2<sup>nd</sup> year of age (King et al., 2020a)or

### **Chapter One**

in the third decade of life (adulthood)(Śmigielski and Gmitrowicz, 2014, Pastore et al., 2019) .The progress in the diagnosing serological and biopsy tools increased the number of the cases, especially those with subtle manifestations. This fact also changed the percentage of cases diagnosed in the adult and elderly persons. The cases detected in the elderly group rises a contemplating question whether these cases are because of late diagnosis or truly developed in this late age group and the discovery of such cases may be attributed to the late diagnosis or being the person of little or no frank gastrointestinal features(Ludvigsson et al., 2014, Dumic et al., 2019) .Studies have shown that genetically-susceptible infants ingesting foods with even small amounts of gluten rises the chance of developing of symptomatic celiac disease at later life(Vriezinga et al., 2014b).In Iraq the incidence of celiac disease is higher in children(Hameed et al., 2016).

Concerning the gender differences in celiac cases, the celiac disease is registered more in women with a female to male ratio reaches up to 3:1(Pulido et al., 2013).Hameed and his team also documented that CD is more commen in women than men (Hameed et al., 2016).Other articles reported female to male ratio 2.7:1(Abadie et al., 2011).

### **1.3.3** Etiology of celiac disease

The association between the malabsorption and the ingestion of dietary gluten was noticed since the 19<sup>th</sup> century. At first, the disease was named as Gee-Herter disease in relation to the two scientists who displayed some features of the disease in the middle of the 20<sup>th</sup> century(Makharia et al., 2012).It's well known that oral gluten intake is not the only blamed factor but association with immune disorders and genetic susceptibility(Ontiveros et al., 2015).

# **1.3.3.1** Environmental factors

The ingestion of gluten is the principal environmental pathogenic operator the development of celiac disease. Some facts were noticed regarding the possible effect of the environmental agents:

**1-**The increase of the western countries prevalence of CD during the last two decades of the last century can't be explained alone by the progress of the diagnosis methods (Singh et al., 2018) .

**2-**The better care methods of the infants has reduced the incidence of the gastrointestinal infection which reflected on the better control of CD (Gujral et al., 2012).

**3-**About the time of having gluten in infants, Observational studies concluded that timing and dosing of gluten ingestion for the first time of life may affect the onset of symptoms and the rise of complications the celiac disease, mainly in the period of the first 16-24 weeks of life, especially in those with positive family history (Vriezinga et al., 2014a).

**4-** Although the great beneficial role of the breast feeding to the newborn baby, including the passive introduction of probiotic but there is still controversy about whether the breast feeding have a reducing influence on the development of celiac disease especially those who faced low gluten diet in the first 6 months of life (Størdal et al., 2013, Lionetti and Catassi, 2015) .

**5-**Infections: in the early infancy, mostly gastrointestinal or respiratory type may have a pertinent relationship with the triggering or accelerating the development of celiac disease. This can be explained by the increased level of interferon-1 level, destruction of intestinal epithelial barrier and the similarity between the microbial and the gluten peptide with an alteration in the gene expression of intestinal mucosa (Canova et al., 2014, Beyerlein et al., 2017) .

**6**-Intestinal Microbiota status: The normal gut microbiota has specific job in human food metabolism, drug metabolism, keeping of structural safety of the gut mucosal barrier, immunomodulation, and protection against ingested microbial infection(Jandhyala et al., 2015).The change in the intestinal commensal microbiota had been reported both in the children and adult CD cases (Nistal et al., 2012, Wacklin et al., 2013) .

**7-**Bottle feeding: The colonization of the human intestine has a variable physiological effects and has modulation role of the intestinal immunity. In the infants with breast feeding, the microbiota is less diverse than the bottle-fed babies and is more predominant with *Bacteroides uniformis*( which shows a greatest degree of intestinal protection) at 1 and 4 months of age, while formula-fed infants had a higher prevalence of *B. intestinalis* (Sánchez et al., 2011).

# 1.3.3.2 Certain cereal ingestion

Different wheat (and other seeds) components can induce immune-mediated disorders in certain population.

### 1.3.3.2.1 Gluten

Starch comprises about 60-75% of grains while the protein accounts for only 8-15%, in spite of that the wheat protein plays an important role in getting the dough properties. Gluten a mixture of gliadins and glutenins, is considered major storage protein in the cereals like wheat, rye and barely. The general composition of wheat is demonstrated in Figure 1.2 (Biesiekierski, 2017). Gliadins are alcohol-soluble single polypeptides consisting from 250-650 amino acids with a molecular weight ranges from 30000 to 75000.There are four electrophoretic subtypes of gliadin; $\alpha,\beta,\gamma$  and  $\omega$ . These subtypes are with similar epitopic characters leading to form undifferentiated antibodies (Ozuna et al., 2015).

Gluten is responsible for the viscoelasticity of the dough made from the wheat(Barker and Pilbeam, 2015).

The protein portion of the seed constitutes of about 8-15% of flour weight and it comprises different types like albumins, globulins, gliadins and glutenins, according to their solubility basis (Sharma et al., 2020). Glutenin provides dough extensibility and presents a polymer bound by disulphide bonds and has two subtypes HMW and LMW glutenin. Wheat proteins are also names as prolamins because a of the high content of prolamin and glutamic acid types of amino acids(García-Molina and Barro, 2017). Generally speaking, gluten can comprise all grain proteins (prolamins) and can refer to the material that triggers the immunotoxicity in certain persons with gluten-sensitive disorders that include: allergic(wheat allergy),autoimmune( celiac disease, dermatitis herpitiformis and gluten ataxia) and immune-mediated(non-celiac gluten sensitivity)(Sollid et al., 2012).

Different strategies have been postulated to reduce the antigenicity of the gluten including reducing the CD epitope of bread (ZHANG et al., 2018) or other mechanisms like manipulating the molecular biology, probiotic ingestion or nano technology (Scherf et al., 2018, Yoosuf and Makharia, 2019).



Figure 1.2: The composition of wheat (Biesiekierski, 2017).

The widely- studied wheat proteins; gliadin and glutenin have specific portions that are blamed to induce the process of celiac autoimmunity. These specific amino acid sequences are the epitopics for CD, they are called immunogenic(toxic) peptides and are resistable to digestion by the gastrointestinal tract enzymes (Singh et al., 2018), mapping of  $\alpha$ -gliadin polypeptide is shown in the below Figure 1.3 (Fasano, 2011). Wheat, barley and rye are the most well-konown crops that contain the gluten proteins and thus can induce the process of CD(Scherf et al., 2016).



**Figure 1.3:** Mapping of  $\alpha$ -gliadin polypeptide: red part=cytotoxic activity ,light green part = immunomodulatory portion, blue chain= zonulin release and gut-permeating activity , and dark green chain=CXCR3-IL-8 release in CD patients (Fasano, 2011).

There is gluten in the oats, instead have other prolamins called avenins. Oats have few CD toxic peptides that may induce intolerance in some persons when having little oats amount(Gilissen et al., 2016). 2

### 1.3.3.2.2 Alpha-amylase/Trypsin Inhibitors(ATIs) and Lectins

ATIs and Lectins are compact albumin proteins and constitutes about 2-4% of total wheat protein(Zevallos et al., 2017).Recently ATIs have been discovered to be involved in the wheat allergy,since they can activate the antigen presenting cell (APC) in the intestinal mucosa with a subsequent release of inflammatory mediators like interlukine IL-8 and tumor necrosis
factor(TNF).ATIs are implicated mainly in the development of extra-intestinal symptoms of non celiac gluten sensititivty(NCGS) and in Baker's asthma(Fasano et al., 2015, Leccioli et al., 2017).

Lectins induce intestinal enterocytes damage with a subsequent decrease of nutrient absorption(Biesiekierski et al., 2013).

#### 1.3.3.2.3 FODMAPS

Fermentable olig, di,monosaccharides and polyols (FODMAPS) are short chain carbohydate and there are no human gut enzymes to digest the FODMAPS so they pass to the large intestine where they are fermentated by the colonic bacteria,producing gases.Removal of these materials from food was shown to improve patients with NCGS and irritable bowel syndrome(Altobelli et al., 2017).

#### **1.3.3.3** Genetic Susceptibility

It's well known that CD is an autoimmune disease with an environmental participation that occurs only in the genetically susceptible persons.CD runs in families, the first-degree relatives have a chance to get CD about 7.5% (Singh et al., 2015), with elevated compact constructed in monozygotic twins of 83.3% for CD emergeance, a percentage greater than that of other AID (Bogdanos et al., 2012) .While for the second-degree relatives a lower incidence might be present (Ludvigsson et al., 2014).

Celiac disease is an immunological disorder that has a complicated way of heredity represented by MHC and non-MHC loci. The MHC region presents on chromosome 6. Heterodimeric class II human leukocyte antigen(HLA) genes, especially HLA-DR and DQ are more linked with CD (Farina et al., 2019).

About 90% - 95% of patient with celiac disease have one or two copies of HLA-DQ2 (variant HLA-DQ2.5).The remaining affected patients about 5-10%

possess DR4-DQ8 and express DQ8 molecules(Aggarwal et al., 2012, Kurppa et al., 2012, Sollid et al., 2012).Celiac disease has increased association with other autoimmune diseases like type I diabetes Mellitus(DM),such genetic association was demonstrated in figure 1.4.



**Figure 1.4:** Class II HLA association with celiac disease and type I DM (Aggarwal et al., 2012).

The encoded proteins,  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -heterodimers are present as surface receptors on antigen presenting cells(APC) ,forming clefts that bind gliadin particles found in the food as shown in Figure 1.5 (Al-Hussaini et al., 2018).

The presence of HLA-DQ2 and /or –DQ8 favorite the diagnosis of celiac disease in the suspected cases(Catassi and Catassi, 2018). It's believed that the frequency risky celiac –related HLA genotyping is about 30% but only 1-3% will develop the celiac disease (Parzanese et al., 2017).



**Figure 1.5:** DQ-genes and their molecules expression on the APC (Al-Hussaini et al., 2018).

In Iraqi CD cases, HLA- DQ2 genotype is the most prevalent genes. On the other hand, DRB1\*04 alleles were shown to have a turn in celiac disease evolvement, therefore negative results of DQ2 and /or DQ8 don't eliminate celiac disease(Hameed et al., 2016).

Concerning MHC class I , HLA-A25 was declared only in Turkish children(Barada et al., 2012, Gujral et al., 2012). While HLA B8 had been connected to CD in Iraq , Turkey and Algeria.Other MICA allele was recorded to be over-expressed in atypical CD Saharawi people (Gujral et al., 2012, Singh et al., 2016).

Recently, it was demonstrated that 39 non-HLA loci can also predispose to celiac disease (Trynka et al., 2011).One of these non-HLA effective genes locates on chromosome 19, is the myosin IXB gene (*i.e.*, MYO9B).This can predict the responsiveness to a gluten-free diet (GFD)(Gagliardi et al., 2021).

More recent, a novel emerging scope is developed, which explains that the alterations in gene expression or cellular phenotype can be evoked by epigenetic modifications, such as methylation or ncRNAs (transcribed non-translated RNA molecules). The two share in the regulation of gene expression next to transcription (Remely et al., 2014, Perry et al., 2015). Other article has clarified an influence of microbiota on the level of methylation of the free fatty acid receptor 3 gene participated in metabolic process in addition to inflammatory response (Remely et al., 2014).

# **1.3.4** Pathophysiology of Celiac Disease

There is a complex interplay between the patient polygenic status and the ingestion of gluten which leads to a disturbance in the intestinal epithelial barrier with a subsequent induction of gut inflammatory process (Gujral et al., 2012).

The pathogenesis of CD starts when there is an intestinal immune response evoked by the permeation of the ingested toxic gluten particles through the barrier of the small intestine, either by the paracellular pathway controlled by the tight junctions, or trancellularly by the action of endocytosis (Zimmermann et al., 2014).

The digestion of dietary protein is accomplished by a cascade of digestive processes, begins by the gastric and pancreatic proteases.Consequently the peptides are hydrolized by the intestinal peptidase located on the enterocytes brush border.Since proline are resistant for digestion by proteases,proline-rich glutens are inaccessible to proteolytic beakdown (Fasano, 2011) .Subsequently, after metabolism by the enzymes,the peptides (antigens) can cross the intestinal epithelial layer either paracellularly or trancellularly.The inter-epithelial tight junction regulates the paracellular pathway and allows only the escape of the

17

small molecular weight peptides( not more than 5.5K Da)(Semova et al., 2012) . Alternatively,larger molecules can pass transcellulary by the transcytosis method (Perrier and Corthesy, 2011) .

All the types of gliadin ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\omega$  and  $\gamma$ ) are considered to be immunogenic for CD but the 33-mer peptide of  $\alpha$  2-gliadin is known to be the most powerful stimulator of mucosal T-lymphocytes after deamidation by the enzyme of tissue transglutaminase2(TG2)(Ludvigsson et al., 2014). Alpha-gliadin copy number is about 25-150 genomic copies( $\alpha$ -gliadins from the D-genome are the most potent immunogenic(Scherf et al., 2016).  $\gamma$ -gliadins is in the 2<sup>nd</sup> rank of immunogenicity with a lower number of copies,15-40(Gil-Humanes et al., 2012).

An absolute fact is that stimulation of CD occurs with having gluten in individuals who carry specific MHC haplotype DQ2&DQ8 in the HLA.The HLA-DQ2 &DQ8 are cell surface molecules present on the APC (antigenpresenting cells) that found in the intestinal mucosa. These cells have positively charged pockets with preferable joining to negatively charged molecules; and to the gluten particles which carry negative charges (Kupfer and Jabri, 2012). The negativity of the gluten particles is achieved when these undigested gluten fragments pass through the mucosal barrier into the lamina propria where they are deaminated by the enzyme TG2 which changes the glutamine into glutamate and so acquiring the negative charge of the gluten particles(De Re et al., 2017), the highly ubiquitous enzyme TG2 catalyses the irreversible crosslinking of glutamine residue with a lysine residue as well as hydrolysis of peptide bound glutamic acid or glutamine on the fragment coverting it into glutamate, both being processes that enhances the immunogenicity of the gliadin peptides (Martucciello et al., 2020).

The binding of the negatively charged gluten peptides created by the action of TG2 bind it to the positively charged amino acid on HLA-DQ2 and DQ8

,thereby stimulating both adaptive and innate immune response in the CD patients (Sollid et al., 2012).

After binding the native peptides or peptides deamidated by TG2 to the positively charged HLA-DQ2 or DQ8 molecules expressed on the outer membrane of the APC (macrophages ,dendritic or B-cells) and are recognized by CD4+ T cells causing T-cell activation that results in release or production of different types of cytokines mainly interferon- $\gamma$ . These cytokines can affect the scenario of events in CD in two pathways:

First, they activate T-helper 1(TH-1) cells to produce IL-15 and IL-21 which subsequently induce the intra-epithelial(IEL) cytotoxic CD8+ lymphocytes leading to intestinal inflammation and damage. The increased activity and number of these IEL is one of the important histological features accompanying the CD(Pozo-Rubio et al., 2012, Quinn et al., 2015) ,also activation of TH-1 results in production of IL-2, its receptor IL-2R and IL-18 amongst many other soluble factors, which drives the proliferation of Th2 cells as well as activation of B cells, natural killer (NK) cells and macrophages (Wosen et al., 2018).The second lane is the activation of the T-helper 2(TH-2) cells causing B-cell differentiation with a following production of the antigliadin or anti-DGP, anti-endomysium and anti-tTG autoantibodies that are useful in the serological diagnosis of CD(Hardy and Tye-Din, 2016, Torsten and Aaron, 2018).

Studies on the pathophysiology of CD have provided increasing evidence of CD4+T cell mediated hyperactivity in tissue injury. Activation of CD4+ T cells from the lamina propria induces the synthesis of IL-2 as well as the expression of its specific receptor, the IL-2R. The binding of IL-2 to IL-2R leads to stimulation of T cell proliferation, and cascades of immunological responses including activation of B lymphocytes and macrophages (Jabri and Sollid, 2017). Apparently, sIL-2R has been identified as the marker of immune

#### **Chapter One**

activation as studies have provided evidences of heightened mucosal lymphocyte activity in patients with untreated CD with high serum levels of sIL-2R pointed as the major culprit (Abbas et al., 2018).

Another cytokine highly associated with CD pathophysiology is the IL-18, a proinflammatory cytokine produced by antigen presenting cells. Recent studies have shown that IL-18 specifically binds to receptors preferentially expressed on T and NK cells where it acts as a co-stimulant for Th1 cells to augment IL-2, granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and soluble IL-2R production, induce cell proliferation and enhance T and natural killer (NK) cell maturation and cytotoxicity (Wosen et al., 2018). Also, the mucosa of patients with CD have been shown to contain high levels of IL-18 and its associated Th1 factors, which are reduced after a period of gluten-free diet(Mormile and Vittori, 2013, Mormile, 2016b).

The pathogenesis of CD is simply summarized by the Figures(1.6,1.7and1.8).



**Figure 1.6** : Celiac disease is caused by an abnormal immune response to the gluten peptides in the upper small intestine (Schuppan et al., 2009).

The new advance is the discovery of the pivotal role of BACH 2 gene in the manipulation of the inflammatory process of celiac disease as shown in the Figure 1.7. BTB Domain And CNC Homolog 2 gene (BACH2) is a transcription factor that is important in the germinal center formation and control of both B- and T-cells immune balance in the intestinal wall to counterstain the excessive immune stimulation and inflammation. Recently, it was illustrated that  $\gamma$ -INF can reduce the activity of BACH2(Roychoudhuri et al., 2013).



Figure 1.7: The main steps in the immune stimulation of CD (De Re et al., 2017).

It is important to mention some facts about the tissue transglutaminase 2 enzyme.TG2 is abundant both intracellulary and extracellulary. Intra- cellularly ,it's enzymatically inactive ,but it becomes active when moves to the extracellular compartment. It's a Ca<sup>+2</sup> dependent enzyme and has a role in the deamidation of the gliadin particles in the small intestine.Tissue transglutaminase 2 enzyme(TG2) is regulated by several factors, and  $\gamma$ -INF is a

well-known stimulator, hence contributing to the exacerbation of CD. High level of autoantibody against TG2 is not specific to CD and can be detected in other disease like inflammatory bowel diseases(Alper et al., 2018), liver dysfunction (Lauret and Rodrigo, 2013) ,type 1 diabetes (Liu et al., 2014) and others. TheTG2-gliadin complex will bind to B-cell receptor(BCR) and then present this combination to the T-cell.T-cell activates the B-cell to transform into plasma cell with production of anti-TG2 IgA and anti-TG-2 IgG immunoglobulin (Chaudhary and Wesemann, 2018) as illustrated in the Figure 1.8.



Figure 1.8 : Production of TG2 autoantibody in relation to gliadin (De Re et al., 2017).

It was observed that the B-cells will be reduced in number if the CD patients were on gluten free diet and B-cell depletion is one of the expected novel therapy in this disease(Nikiphorou and Hall, 2014).

It's obligatory to mention few words about the intestinal physical barrier and permeability since these two terms play a pivotal role in the pathogenesis of CD and other inflammatory bowel disease.The intestinal barriers extends over a surface area about 400 m<sup>2</sup> and this costs the body about 40% of facts to it's energy. All these facts are to prevent the loss of water and electrolyes and the entrance of food and germs antigens into the body(Brandtzaeg, 2011). There is a robust correlation between the intestinal barrier and the intestinal permeability, so to reach a peacefully state with the gut symbionts without creating chronic inflammation and to create a defensive mechanisms against the entrance of microorganism and their toxins (Hooper et al., 2012). Figure 1.9 summerize the relationship between the heads of the triangle (intestinal permeability, intestinal microbiota and the mucosal immunology).



Figure 1.9: The three elements of keeping good intestinal health(Bischoff et al., 2014).

Intestinal barrier is composed of different types of protecting systems (Baxter et al., 2019)including: **1**-The mucosal barrier(including its intercellular tight junction(TJ). **2**-Physical barrier; including the cellular and stromal components of mucosa. **3**-The chemical barrier( consisting from the digestive enzymes, antimicrobial peptides and other inflammatory cytokines). **4**- gut microbiota . **5**-The Intestinal immune system.

The intercellular tight junction(TJ) acts as barrier that regulates the passage of small water-soluble molecules and ions and it's considered as a marker of

absorptive and secretory epithelia. The components are in dynamic status and may show changes according to physiological or immunological conditions (Liu et al., 2013) and as shown in Figure 1.10.



Figure 1.10: Intestinal barrier and the influencing factors (König et al., 2016).

The discovery of the Zot, an enteroxin released by *Vibrio Cholera* which reversibly loosens the TJ, led to more focusing on the effect of the TJ in the immunological and infectious conditions of the GIT(Bruno et al., 2013).

It's well known that intestinal TJ structure are abnormal in CD patients with a consequent increased permeability(Heyman et al., 2012).In CD gliadin passes through the intestinal enterocytes into the lamina propria where it evokes an immune and inflammatory reaction while the intact intestinal lining is impermeable to gliadin(König et al., 2016). Gliadin itself upgrades the gut permeability by stimulation the release of zonulin by binding to CXCR3 receptors on the apical surface of the enterocytes with a subsequent MYD-88 dependent release of zonulin (Junker et al., 2012).Zonulin is a protein that

disorders the intestinal barrier function by modifying TJ proteins( like zo-1) and it's increased in the submucosa of CD patients six times more than that of healthy individuals(Samsel and Seneff, 2013). Accordingly, it was seen that zo-1 is reduced in the duodenal biopsies of these patients and this action can be reversed with the gluten free diet(Pérez et al., 2017).

**Zonulin**, 47 kDa particle is an endogenous analogue to zonula occludens toxins(zot) which is enterotoxin liberated from *Vibrio Cholera*(Hollon et al., 2015).Zonulin is able to increase the intestinal permeability in the small intestine(Moreno-Navarrete et al., 2012).In CD patients there is increased serum level of zonulin antibodies as measured by ELISA as an indicator of increased intestinal permeability in this disease (Ulluwishewa et al., 2011, Józefczuk et al., 2018) .

Zonulin is a pre-Haptoglobin(HP)-2. After cleavage, zonulin converts into the inactivated form, $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  form of haptoglobin(HP),hence at this point the zonulin loses it's ability to increase the paracellular permeability (Camilleri et al., 2012).

It was shown that zonulin exerts it's action by EGF stimulation( dependent on PAR2 stimulation) since it was illustrated that EGF can modulate the cytoskeleton actin(Liu et al., 2010, Heisenberg and Bellaïche, 2013).Laboratory studies showed that EGFR phosphorylation by zonulin promotes intestinal permeability and this action can be inhibited by EGFR blockers(Sellitto et al., 2012).

## 1.3.5 Histological changes of celiac disease

The study of histological changes of a biopsy from the small intestine is considered as cornerstone in the diagnosis of CD 50 years ago in spite of the progress in the serological tests (Robert et al., 2018). The development of the duodenal tissue changes occurs gradually . The changes detected by

microscopical evaluation of the duodenal tissue focuses on two important spectra first the inflammation reflected by the observation and counting of the intraepithelial lymphocytes and second the damage of the mucosa interpreted by the villous atrophy and the crypt hyperplasia . Different classifications were established to evaluate the histological changes of the small bowel ,the most famous was Mucosal Algorithmic Rules for Scoring Histology (MARSH) (Taavela et al., 2013).

The biopsy evaluation and not the disappearance of the symptoms is considered as a prerequisite for well-being of patient with CD. Massive clinical response is seen after applying the gluten free Diet(GFD) in patients with CD only within several weeks. However intestinal repair does not occur in all patients in whom complete clinical recovery was achieved. In some cases there are sever mucosal damage in asymptomatic patients (Rubio-Tapia et al., 2010, Ludvigsson et al., 2014).

The variability and the discrepancy of the biopsy evaluators can be partially due to the incorrect orientation of the biopsy leading to tangential cutting which affects the reproducibility of the results and of course this influences the diagnosis especially in the borderline cases(Ludvigsson et al., 2014). The biopsy is recommended to confirm the diagnosis in patients with positive serological tests or in cases with seronegative but with high suspicious clinincal findings(Lebwohl et al., 2014).

By using the endoscopy, the clinician will observe fissuring, scalloping and reducing villi folding of the duodenal mucosa while the characteristic histological features include increased intra-epithelial lymphocytosis (IEL>25/100enterocytes), shortening of the villi height, and the crypt hyperplasia. To analyze the changes histologically, (MARSH) is preferred but other systems are used like Marsh-Oberhuber and Corazza (Ludvigsson et al.,

26

2013) and the main differences among these three systems are explained in the Table 1.1.

**Table 1.1:** The Different Histological classification of CD (Ludvigsson et al., 2013).

Morphology of duodenal	Classification		
mucosal	Marsh	Marsh-Oberhuber	Corazza
biopsy			
Normal	Туре 0	Type 0	Normal
Normal architecture and increased intraepithelial lymphocytes ≥25/100 enterocytes	Туре 0	Type 0	Grade A
Normal architecture and increased intraepithelial lymphocytes ≥30/100 enterocytes	Type 1	Type 1	Grade A
Normal architecture and increased intraepithelial lymphocytes ≥30/100 enterocytes with crypt hyperplasia	Type 2	Type 2	Grade A
Partial villous atrophy and increased intraepithelial lymphocytes ≥30/≥25/100enterocytes	Type 2 hyperplastic lesion Crypt hyperplasia, increased crypt height and influx of intraepithelial lymphocytes	Type 3 destructive	Grade B1 atrophic, villous to crypt ratio <3:1
		Type 3a partial villous atrophy; villi blunt and shortened with a villous:crypt ratio,1:1	
		Type 3b subtotal villous atrophy; villi atrophic but still separate and recognisable	
Villous atrophy intraepithelial lymphocytes $\geq 30/\geq 25/100$ enterocytes	Type 3 destructive severe inflammation, flat villi; hyperplastic crypts	Type 3c total villous atrophy; villi rudimentary or absent; mucosa resembles colonic mucosa	Grade B2 atrophic, villi are no longer detectable
Atrophic hypoplastic lesion: flat mucosa, normal crypt height, no inflammation with normal intraepithelial lymphocyte counts	No equivalent	Type 4	No equival

The histological changes with the CD are variable according to the time of diagnosis and the degree of gluten free diet. This gives different grades of MARSH histological system which were illustrated as photos in the below Figure 1.11 (Bao et al., 2012).



Figure 1.11: Celiac disease MARSH grading of A-grade 1, B-grade 3b, C-grade 3c.

It's well known that the traditional diagnosis of CD depends on the combination of serological tests and the histopathological examination, but some pitfalls may affect the diagnosis of the disease depending on the biopsy taking and interpretation (Ravelli and Villanacci, 2012), as follows:

1-Endoscopic procedure: attention should be paid to the next points:

**A-**The common macroscopic appearance of upper small intestine in CD is tubular surface with scalloped and ridged folds, but these are not specific to celiac disease because they can be showed in other disorders like Crohn's disease. In addition the lesion in the duodenum/jejunum may be patchy(Bai et al., 2013), It's better to repeat the endoscopy in negative histology but with positive serological auto-antibodies(Husby et al., 2012). **B-**Type of endoscopy instrument can affect the results since the combination of both conventional endoscopy and the capsule is more useful and the usage of double-ballooned is more informative (Pennazio et al., 2015). **C-**The site of biopsy is essential since duodenal bulb may normally show shortened villi (pseudoflattened mucosa) and It's better to get multiple(4-6) biopsies from different sites since the changes can be focal(Lebwohl et al., 2011, Rostami-Nejad et al., 2013). **D-** Duodenal and jejunal biopsy gives tissue interpretation better than ileum. **E-**The bigger biopsy specimens give more details than the small ones(Kelly et al., 2015).

**2-Histological processing and examination:** The endoscopic duodenal biopsies should be examined meticulously because of their small sizes. The biopsy of CD from duodenal bulb may not show the crypt hyperplasia. The associated chronic inflammation may be seen in other conditions like Crohn's disease or the chronic usage of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs(NSAIDs).During processing the multiple biopsies should be kept in separated cassettes .Tangential sectioning of the paraffin embedded blocks

29

may give a false interpretation of short or atrophied villi. It's better to use CD 3 immunohistochemical staining for better evaluation of the IELs (Lonardi et al., 2013, Robert et al., 2018) .

# **1.3.6** Clinical Presentation of Celiac disease

There is more predilection for female with a female:male ratio about 2.8:1(Abadie et al., 2011, Hameed et al., 2016) with two peaks(Igbinedion et al., 2017), first after the infant weaning and second wave during the second to third decade of age(Kabbani et al., 2012).

Celiac disease is an autoimmune disease stimulated by ingestion of gluten in the genetically susceptible persons. It's prevalence about 1% worldwide. The diagnosis of CD was improved over the last few years yielding increase in the diagnosis of cases especially in the subclinical type of the disease. The clinical presentation can be very variable and different presentation modes were proposed .Intestinal, extra-intestinal, potential and refractory(Caio et al., 2019a).

**The intestinal type** is more detected in the pediatric age group starting with age below 3 years ,as diarrhea, loss of appetite ,failure to thrive, and abdominal bloating(Meijer et al., 2021).

In adult CD, the intestinal manifestations are presented as abdominal distension, diarrhea, abdominal colic or constipation (Reilly et al., 2011).

The extra-intestinal manifestations are variable and occur both in children and adult cases of celiac disease as follows:

A-<u>Hematological manifestations</u>: Iron deficiency anemia(IDA) is the most important hematological manifestation both in the fully established cases and in the subclinical asymptomatic cases. The causes of IDA in CD are multifactorial, loss duodenal absorptive surface is the most important etiology

#### **Chapter One**

but other factors are also blamed like the gastric and duodenal bleeding, intestinal inflammation and neoplastic lesions such as lymphoma. Reduced expression of the regulatory proteins involved in the iron metabolism is an additional factor in the IDA in celiac disease.(Freeman, 2015, Stefanelli et al., 2020). Other types of anemia can also present like hemolytic anemia and macrocytic anemia due to folic acid deficiency .The anemia can persist for a variable period after the initiation of the GFD(Martín-Masot et al., 2019).

**B**-<u>Bone density changes</u>: including osteopenia and osteoporosis (detected in about 70% of patients at the time of diagnosis. This can occur partly due to vitamin D and minerals malabsorption (Kamycheva et al., 2017).

C-<u>Growth retardation and short stature</u> in children and can be corrected on the GFD.(Soliman et al., 2019).

**D**-<u>Oral Manifestations</u>: recurrent aphthus stomatitis is a painful well demarcated ulceration inside the mouth. It's not clear whether this can happen due to immune disorder or a nutritional deficiency. Second oral problem is the dental enamel defects that are manifested as teeth color defects, pitting, grooving and even total losing of enamel.(Therrien et al., 2020).

**E**-<u>Neurological manifestations</u>: the prevalence is up to 10% and may be detected in 42% of untreated individuals. The pathogenesis of neurological disorders in CD is multifactorial, can be related to immunoglobulin cross-reactivity, immune complex deposition or minerals deficiencies (Hadjivassiliou et al., 2019).Recurrent headache (including tension, idiopathic or migraine types) can be a marker of CD(Zis et al., 2018).

There is an increased rate (1.5-2 folds) of different variants of neuropathy in CD patients with an elevated detection of Anti -ganglioside antibodies in the serum of these patients. The symptoms of this neuronal disorders may be manifested even before the diagnosis of the CD (Yu et al., 2018).

Gluten ataxia is a neurological disorder that can be triggered by gliadin ingestion with or without associated CD. Anti-gliadin antibodies are usually detected serologically but rarely anti t TG autoantibodies (Rashtak et al., 2011).

Gluten-induced cognitive disorder is expressed by patients as lack of concentration, diminished attentiveness, short-term memory defects and confusions, all these occur after gluten ingestion(Lichtwark et al., 2014).

Celiac-induced epilepsy cases are increasingly discovered among CD patients. The etiology is hypothesized to be due to folic acid deficiency or autoimmune mechanism. Focal seizures are the predominant type with or without brain calcification(Ludvigsson et al., 2012b).

**F**-<u>Psychological disorders</u>: different psychological disorders were prescribed with the diagnosis of CD. They include anxiety, depression, attention –defects and abnormal eating habits. Most of these will decrease with the GFD(Smith et al., 2017).

**G**-<u>Ocular manifestation</u>: vitamin deficiencies and hypocalcemia could be the main etiology of the Celiac ocular disorders. These include uveitis, cataracts and vitamin-A deficiency retinopathy which can be reduced by the patient compliance with GFD (Mollazadegan et al., 2011, Therrien et al., 2020).

**H**-<u>Dermatological manifestations</u>: several dermatological pathologies can be seen in patient with CD. These include eczema, psoriasis , atopic dermatitis and urticaria with variable hazardous ratio(Jelsness-Jørgensen et al., 2018, Therrien et al., 2020).

**I**-<u>Fatigue</u>: up to 37% of CD may complain from chronic fatigability and chronic fatigue can be an indicator of screening for CD(Jelsness-Jørgensen et al., 2018).

J-<u>Musculoskeletal manifestations</u>:

Osteoporosis, defined as reduced bone density(decreased bone mass & microarchitecture) (Rachner et al., 2011), occurs with variable ratio(26-72%) of CD patients with risk of bone fractures. Different hypothesis of etiology of osteoporosis were assumed. Secondary hyperparathyorodism ,gonadal atrophy, increased cytokines and autoantibodies against osteoprotegerin were the main possible causes(Larussa et al., 2012).

Osteomalacia is reduced bone mineralization and bone mass, with low bone mineral to bone matrix ratio, due to decreased vitamin D mainly. It accounts for about 18% of celiac patients, it cause symptomatic hypocalcaemia, muscle weakness, bone pain ,tenderness(musculoskeletal pain), skeletal deformity or even bone fracture(Frikha et al., 2012).

Arthralgia and osteoarthritis are also common Extraintestinal manifestations with an incidences reaches up to 30% at time of CD diagnosis(Popp and Mäki, 2019).

**K**-<u>Cardiopulmonary manifestations</u>: pericarditits, pericardial effusion and autoimmune myocarditits are recorded at the time of CD detection (Ciaccio et al., 2017).

L-<u>Reproductive system</u>: Amenorrhea ,delayed menarche, early menopause and infertility, and abortion all were recorded patients in with CD (Beksaç et al., 2017, Glimberg et al., 2021).

## 1.3.7 Clinical types of Celiac Disease

Different terminology systems have been developed to summarize the variable clinical conditions that are related to the ingestion of gluten. The Oslo Classification of CD in 2011 (Ludvigsson et al., 2013) identified the variants of the disease as classical, non-classical, subclinical, potential and refractory

#### **Chapter One**

CD. The terms symptomatic and overt CD were omitted. In the **classical type**; the patients are present with the intestinal manifestations like diarrhea, malabsorption and weight loss. The **non-classical** group show no malabsorption signs or symptoms but have non-gastrointestinal manifistations. In the **subclinical variant**, the patients have clinical or laboratory changes( like IDA and reduced ferritin level) but with no symptoms. G.Caio and his colleagues published an article in 2019 and they preferred to change the term classical into intestinal and the non-classical term to extra-intestinal(Caio et al., 2019a). The refractory type is present when the patients have persistent or recurrent malabsorptive symptoms with histologically-illustrated villous atrophy and increased IELs even with rigorous GFD (Rubio-Tapia and Murray, 2010, Ludvigsson et al., 2014). While the potential variant of CD denotes that the patient have normal intestinal mucosa but with increased risk for developing CD as shown by positive serology markers and positive HLA-DQ2&DQ8 (Ludvigsson et al., 2013). The term potential is sometimes used interchangeably with the word latent. In spite of minor gastrointestinal symptoms, the patients with potential CD are advised to be kept on GFD since some researches approved that gluten-containing food will induce future villous atrophy in some of these patients (Sperandeo et al., 2011).

**Seronegative** variant represents only 2-3% of cases of CD and it's diagnosis represents a diagnosing challenge since there are negativity for the serological markers but with positive Genetic mapping and villous atrophy specific for CD. Considering the other causes of villous atrophy like infections, tumors, Crohn's disease and reassessment of the patient on GFD after 1 year will be fundamental in specifying this condition (Greenson, 2015).

# **1.3.8** Non celiac Gluten-Related Disorders

Wheat is a major cereal food for billions of human and considered as an important source for carbohydrates(Lafiandra et al., 2014).Gluten is a seed storage protein and it was the most famous wheat particles in inducing the celiac disease and non-celiac gluten sensitivity(NCGS) causing a lot of global impaired life quality with morbidity and mortality in the susceptible patients(Truzzi et al., 2021).Wheat allergy(WA) (including Baker's asthma, atopic dermatitis , urticarial and anaphylaxis) is another wheat-related condition. Wheat Allergy occurs due to ingestion, inhalation or contact with wheat gliadin, glutenin , amylase trypsin inhibitors(ATIs) and lipid transfer protein (albumin/globulin) fraction(Kucek et al., 2015). Figure 1.12 is a schematic presentation of wheat related disorders.



**Figure 1.12:** Wheat related disorders .EoE=eosinophilic esophagitis ,EG=eosinophilic gastritis, WDEIA=wheat dependent exercise-induced anaphylaxis(Cianferoni, 2016).

#### 1.3.8.1 Non Celiac Gluten Sensitivity (NCGS)

Non Celiac Gluten Sensitivity is caused by ingestion of gluten, wheat carbohydrates (FODMAPs ), ATIs and wheat agglutinin. Since that time the term NCGS was applied .The patients suffer from abdominal distension and pain, diarrhea aphthus stomatitis. The extra-intestinal symptoms include fatigue, foggy mind, headache, depression ,anxiety , joint/ muscle pain and skin rash(Sapone et al., 2012) ,so symptomatically NCGS may resemble CD but differs according the immunological basis, serological investigation, HLA typing and of course, the intestinal histology(Czaja-Bulsa, 2015).

The pathogenesis of NCGS is different from the CD in that it's not autoimmune disease. It's related to innate immune response( instead of adaptive type in CD) as evident by the increase in TLR2,INF- $\alpha$ ,IL-8 and IL-12 with normal intestinal permeability(Caio et al., 2020) .It was observed that there is increased serum level of intestinal fatty acids and lipopolysaccharide-binding protein(Catassi et al., 2017).It was reported that in 66% of NCGS patients there is activation of mucosal basophils associated with increased duodenal IELs and eosinophilic infiltration in duodenum and colon(Carroccio et al., 2012).

#### 1.3.8.2 Wheat Allergy

Wheat allergy (WA) is a disordered immune reaction in response to wheat proteins. WA symptoms depends on the route of allergen entry (ingestion or inhalation) and the mechanism of the immune response (IgE dependent or independent mechanism). Other cereals like oat or barley which induce CD may not be harmful for WA persons. The IgE-dependent WA occurring with having the Wheat proteins include GIT symptoms like abdominal colic and vomiting, angioedema /urticaria , atopic dermatitis, wheat-dependent exercise-induced anaphylaxis (WDEIA)(Cianferoni et al., 2013). Respiratory WA includes Baker's asthma and rhinitis. The allergy comes from different components of

wheat, like ATIs, lipid transfer proteins, gliadin and LMWGS. The skin-prick test(SPT) and in vitro specific IgE immune assay(sIgE) is the first step of diagnosis (Pahr et al., 2014).

The well-known non-IgE dependent WA disorders are the eosinophilic esophagitis and eosinophilic gastritis. The mechanism of the two condition is still unknown and can occur both in children and adults. The detection can be done by clinical ,histopathological and the history on non response to 8-weeks course of proton pump inhibitor drugs.SPT and sIgE have limited role in the diagnosis (Cianferoni and Spergel, 2015).

Wheat dependent exercise-induced anaphylaxis( **WDEIA**) is allergic condition exacerbated by ingestion of wheat-rich food followed by a physical exercise. This condition can be caused by other etiology like infection, alcohol and NSAIDs. The symptoms include uticaria, angioedema , hypotension and shock.(Jiang et al., 2018).The mechanism is still unclear in spite of this it was thought that exercise causing reduction of gastric acid secretion (GAS) somewhat due to stimulation of sympathetic innervation resulting in more catecholamine secretion, diminished GAS lead to reduction of allergen digestion, physical activity stimulates the intestinal osmolarity and permeability of the intestine and increases the phosphorylation of tight junctions leading to the passage of more intact allergen causing degranulation of the IgE-induced mast cells (Jiang et al., 2018).

**Baker's asthma** is considered as the most common occupational-cereals (wheat comprises about 70% of cases) induced asthma. It's an IgE-dependent process in addition to genetic predisposition like TLR4 and beta-2 adrenergic genes mutations. The condition is usually associated with allergic rhinitis(Elli et al., 2015).

## **1.3.9 Dermatitis Herpitiformis**

Dermatitis herpitiformis(DH) is an extra-intestinal variant of celiac disease, associated with itchy and blistering skin lesions ,mostly seen in elbows, knees and buttocks. DH is a reversible on GFD which should be strict and life long(Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013).Gut symptoms and family history of celiac may not be present at the time of detection of DH. The corner stone in the diagnosis of DH is the perilesional skin immunofluorescent IgA granular deposit in the dermal papillae, Figure 1.13 shows clinical and immunofluorescent findings.



**Figure 1.13:** Skin blisters and papules in DH (A-C).IgA immunofluorescent deposit in the dermal papillae(D)(Reunala et al., 2018).

The pitfalls in the diagnosis include the negative immunoflourscence test (5%) especially if the biopsy from the blisters themselves , the negative serological tTG test and normal looking duodenal biopsy which occurs in

about 30% of cases. HLA typing is applied in the ambiguous cases when the clinical diagnosis is highly suspected but other tools are negative(Al-Toma et al., 2019).

# **1.3.10** Gluten Related Neurological Disorders

Gluten related Neurological Disorders (GRNDs) are neurological manifestation related to ingestion of gluten. Gluten Ataxia (Cerebellar Ataxia) GA and peripheral neuropathies are the most common. The pathogenesis is obscured and these disorders can occur with an associated gastrointestinal manifestations of CD(Hadjivassiliou et al., 2016). It was observed that 50% of GA(proved by MRI) cases are not associated with enteropathy but are correlated with increased serum anti gliadin antibodies (AGA) and they are improved on strict GFD (Hadjivassiliou et al., 2018).

## **1.3.11** Diagnosis of Celiac Disease

The diagnosis of CD has changed dramatically since 1950s when the detection based on the observation for the malabsorptive disorder. After the creation of the endoscopy, the histological assessment became the cornerstone of diagnosis, while the serological tests of CD showed more sensitive results in 1980s. The first step is the serological markers tests in patients with clinical presentations (signs &symptoms) and can be confirmed by application of oesophageogastrodudenoscopy(OGD)(Ludvigsson et al., 2013, Husby et al., 2020).

Synchronized employment of serologic tools and biopsy for CD diagnosis is preferred by the four guidelines promulgated by gastrointestinal organizations. European Society of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition (ESPGHAN) agreement guideline \2012 American College of Gastroenterology (ACG) guideline  $\setminus 2013$ , the British Society of

39

#### **Chapter One**

Gastroenterology (BSG), and recently the World Gastroenterological Organization(WGO) guideline for adult CD patients(Kaswala et al., 2015). A fundamental overlapping among these guidelines with the central difference is that ACG and BSG necessitate biopsy and histological examination for definite diagnosis, on the other hand ESPGHAN and WGO allow CD diagnosis without histological resluts in documented cases (Kaswala et al., 2015, Castillo et al., 2015). The WGO for CD diagnosis of adult patients advocate serological tests inclusive "anti-tTG and/or anti-EMA, or anti-DGP" antibodies and propose histology which is regarded not mandatory. This is appropriate in regions where healthcare facilities are limited (Ludvigsson et al., 2014). While the ESPGHAN guideline delegate for CD diagnosis without biopsies in children existing characteristic clinical manifestations and levels of TG2-IgA antibodies 10-fold or more the upper normal limit (UNL), recognition of antiendomysial antibody in another test plus genetic study (HLA-DQ2/DQ8 typing) for verification the diagnosis [ triple test " ESPGHAN criteria ] (Husby et al., 2012). Anyway the diagnostic Approaches of celiac disease as follows (Husby et al., 2012, Husby et al., 2020):

- **a-** Clinical findings(signs & symptoms).
- b- Serological Tests.
- c- Genetic study (HLA-DQ2/DQ8 genotyping).
- d- Biopsy of small intestinal and histological examination.

#### **1.3.11.1** Serologic tests for CD diagnosis

No anyone of serological tests is definitely specified for CD and detection of antibodies often support the diagnosis in spite of the dramatic difference in the diagnostic accuracy between laboratories (Kelly et al., 2015).

Serological tests include: AGA, anti-tTG, anti-EMA, and anti-DGP antibodies are celiac-specific and often the first step while screening for CD (Bai et al.,

2013). All serologic tests are automated except for the EMA test, since it is observer-dependent and requires longer time in comparison to other tests. Generally, CD diagnosis should be accomplished before gluten being restricted from diet since both circulating antibody levels\ small intestine pathology can be improved and even resolved when restrict gluten (Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013).

Regarding Anti-gliadin antibody (AGA), the native gliadin is the target for antibodies (IgA and IgG) and hence AGA test was the primary serologic tool that signs the requirement of small intestinal biopsy in celiac patients. AGA test is of restricted accuracy (Karnsakul et al., 2012), in general it fell out of priority in the 1990s after a wide availability of more precise tests (Di Simone et al., 2013, Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013) comparing to the lesser accuracy and low sensitivity / specificity of this test , except in younger children (Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013).

While anti-tissue transglutaminase antibody (tTG-IgA) measurement is the former testing recommended for individuals in whom associated IgA deficiency is not expected due to its superior standardization and being a high sensitive and specific test (Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013),for IgA-deficient CD patients tTG (IgG) antibodies are used previously (Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013, Absah et al., 2017). The greater the antibody titer, the higher the probability of a valid positive value(Van der Windt et al., 2010, Husby et al., 2020). Anti-tTG antibody test is mainly done by an ELISA technique and less commonly by radioimmunoassay(Tonutti and Bizzaro, 2014).

Concerning anti-endomysial antibodies (EMA), recognition of EMA by indirect immunofluorescent assay (IIFA) using either human umbilical cord or monkey esophageal tissue, with results being recorded as semiquantitative titers (Picarelli et al., 2013), EMA is regarded an important indicator for CD with high specificity and sensitivity (Kneepkens and von Blomberg, 2012). However a less sensitive EMA has been suggested, in particular young children < 2 years (Wolf et al., 2014) and in elderly patients (Fasano and Catassi, 2012, Cappello et al., 2016) and false negative results in children aged < 2 years and in patients of IgA deficiency are foreseeable (Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013).

Whilst EMA still is the most sensitive CD test in a reference lab, the test technical disadvantages giving a significant inter-observer and inter-site differences have directed the effort toward the replacement of EMA by a recent ELISA based assays (Husby et al., 2012, Fasano and Catassi, 2012).

Recently anti-deamidated gliadin derived peptides (DGP) antibody test which is against DGP has become clinically attainable. The ability of intestinal tTG to transform gliadin into deamidated one provides the bases for DGP test , and these antibodies offers a highly specific and sensitive test for CD than previous AGAs (Di Simone et al., 2013, Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013) . Anti- DGP antibody test is highly beneficial in young children < 2years of age (Wolf et al., 2014).

Furthermore, it has been announced that measurement of DGP (IgG) class is superior to tTG (IgG) antibodies on screening of CD cases with IgA-deficiency (Fasano and Catassi, 2012, Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013).Inaddition, a retrospective study demonstrated that IgG class of anti-DGP antibodies is specifically preceding the tTG (IgA) antibodies mostly in young children. This finding refers to a possibility of early CD detection by regular follow-up using DGP test in some children with a genetic risk for CD(Lammi et al., 2015).

Moreover, anti-DGP assays proved to be of value in monitoring dietary adherence to GFD in children (Monzani et al., 2011, Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013) and more substantial test in monitoring celiac autoimmunity (Lammi et al., 2015).

#### **1.3.11.1.1** The role of combined serological tests:

The combined testing of CD will increase the diagnostic accuracy (Parzanese et al., 2017). Since no single test is absolutely sensitive \ specific for CD, collection of individual tests in a commercial panel is more beneficial as they have additive role in exploring celiac patients with IgA deficiency(Cappello et al., 2016). However DGP (IgG) can detect some of CD patients with adequate IgA who are sero-negative for tTG IgA antibodies (Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013). The simultaneous testing of tTG (IgA) and DGP (IgG) as screening tests having a better specificity in different age groups (adults and children)(Villalta et al., 2010, Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013).



**Figure 1.14:** The comparison of first serological strategies, with and without DGP antibodies in the diagnosis of celiac disease(Hoerter et al., 2017).

Figure 1.14 above shows the comparison of the serological strategies, with and without DGP antibodies in the diagnosis of celiac disease; as shown in the study by Hoerter and his team (Hoerter et al., 2017), the serum concentration of DGP antibodies can not discriminate between DGP-positive CD patients and

cases regarded as false positives .Therefore, patients with discrepant results (tTG negative and DGP positive, or vice versa) should undergo duodenal biopsy (Bai and Verdú, 2017). Moreover, antibodies to DGP may be the only serological marker in newborn, as anti-tTg and EMA autoantibodies are not present at this age (Wolf et al., 2014, Assandri and Montanelli, 2019).

#### **1.3.11.1.2** The role of total IgA level in serological tests:

False negative values may occur in IgA-deficient cases; such results could be seen at time in which measuring IgA of (anti-tTG, EMA and DGP) antibodies which are the standard for the CD immunoassays (Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013, Cappello et al., 2016).

When CD is predominantly suggestive even before screening, so measuring of total IgA level is suggested in such category, specially when serological tests of IgA-class are negative. A clinical approach is to start with total IgA measurement to detecte IgA level sufficiency and, in case of deficiency, so to incorporate testing of IgG-class into the serology testing , where the preferred tests would be DGPs (IgG) and / or tTG (IgG)(Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013, Hoerter et al., 2017).

## 1.3.11.2 Intestinal endoscopy and biopsy

The histolopathlogical presentations are also significant in determining the reasones of malabsorption (differential diagnosis)(Yantiss and Odze, 2009, Cappello et al., 2016, Husby et al., 2020).

According to CD guidelines, histologic picture of small bowel is required to confirm diagnosis. Endoscopy and sampling of small intestinal biopsies is the corner stone to diagnose adulthood CD(Villanacci et al., 2011, Mills and Murray, 2016).

Various constructions to be perfectly examined in the histology of small intestine, including: infiltration of inflammatory cells, low-height enterocytes, crypt hyperplasia, and blunt\ atrophied villi. The intestinal histological lesions can be classified into four distinct diagnostic grades (scoring system) according to the Marsh classification (Villanacci et al., 2011), later Oberhuber offered modifications of Marsh grading where M III grade subdivided into a, b, and c scores (modified Marsh-Oberhuber)(Mills and Murray, 2016), other is the Corazza classification; these classifications illustrated in (Table 2.1) (Ludvigsson et al., 2013).

# 1.3.11.3 Genetic testing

The remarkable role of HLA(DQ) alleles genotyping is for excluding the presence of /or susceptibility to CD (Hadithi et al., 2007, Husby et al., 2012), and HLA recording has important role in CD diagnosis (Hadithi et al., 2007, Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013). According to the 2012 ESPGHAN guidelines, the value of genetic testing in CD is due to the fact that the disease is improbable when HLA-DQ2 and HLA-DQ8 haplotypes are disproved, so HLA –typing was regarded the first tool in screening individuals at risk of CD(Husby et al., 2020).

Recently, about 39 non-HLA loci can also make liable to celiac disease as mention previously, One of these non-HLA effective genes locates on chromosome 19, is the myosin IXB gene (*i.e.*, MYO9B)(Dubois et al., 2010, Gagliardi et al., 2021).

HLA genetic testing at birth have been argued as an approach of mass population screening to detect those with a genetic predisposition for CD before the clinical manifestations occurrence and consequent health issues (Rubio-Tapia et al., 2013).

45

## **1.3.11.4** Gluten challenge test (GC)

Administration of a gluten-containing diet, along with medical observation for the clinically suspected patient, whom were formerly managed by gluten restriction and returned to usual; known as Gluten challenge test. This challenge enabled the diagnosis of celiac disease (Leffler et al., 2013). It was routinely applied in the past, however uncommonly used nowadays because of the availability of highly precise serological tests (Mendo-Lopez et al., 2021).

GC is still the preferable test for the CD diagnosis in those patients with positive HLA-genotyping, but normal findings for both serology and biopsy as they are done on gluten restriction. However only a few data was available about the diagnostic adequacy of the test, the optimum duration, and the dose of gluten (Rujner et al., 2002, Leffler et al., 2013). A recent study notified that the diagnostic alterations are presented in the majority of the patients within 2 weeks of gluten ingestion even if a patient could not tolerate > 3 g of gluten per day (Leffler et al., 2013). Other studies documented that normal histology preserved when <10 mg gluten intake per day, whereas 50 mg daily gluten intake show a raised ratio of villous height-to-crypt depth and significant abnormalities (increased IEL and villous atrophy) with 100 to 500 mg daily ingestions of gluten (Akobeng and Thomas, 2008, Lebwohl et al., 2018). In addition, the gluten challenge has enabled experts in designing a diagnostic algorithms and monitoring clinical responses in clinical trials. Also the test presents a beneficial role in improving the incoming therapies as an adjuvant therapy to GFD (Castillo et al., 2015).

For the time being, plentiful data proposed that for celiac disease, the immune reaction against gluten could be evoked *in vitro* by utilizing culture (mucosal) cells obtained from intestinal biopsies (Khalesi et al., 2016).



**Figure 1.15:** (Kelly et al., 2015). The schematic plan of the diagnosis of celiac disease. Serology is the first step in the diagnosis most reliable serological tests are anti-DGP, anti- tTG(IgG&IgA) and anti-endomysial antibody. negative serological patients are confirmed by biopsy. negative HLA-DQ2&DQ8 in the high risk population are permanently excluded from the diagnosis. biopsy can be delayed in symptomless cases with only mild increased serological tests. Potential CD is associated with normal duodenal biopsy but with increased serology.

Serological tests have been developed over the last three decades with progress in their sensitivity and specificity. The classical anti-gliadin antibody test was replaced by the more accurate test anti-deamidated gliadin together with the classical anti tTG IgA(Husby et al., 2012).According to the last European guidelines,the diagnosis of CD can be achieved by the application of antitissue transglutaminase( more than ten folds the upper normal limit) in symptomatic and genetically susceptible person together with positive EMA and response to gluten free diet. This can be done without the need to apply the endoscopic procedure(Husby et al., 2012).The high limit of the serological tests enable the clinician to predict the grade of the villous atrophy(Tortora et al., 2014).

In 1970s, three duodenal tissue biopsy with subsequent histopathological assessment, one from the flat mucosa, second after GFD and the third is from the upper small intestine after gluten food challenge. With the progress in the development of highly specific and sensitive serological tests, one small biopsy from duodenum ,followed by convenient clinical and serological follow up for the GFD is nowadays considered as perfect for the diagnosis of CD(Gujral et al., 2012). The histopathology assessment of the duodenal tissue remains a cornerstone in the diagnosis of CD(Popp et al., 2019).

It's well known that CD is a multigenic disease with the interplay of environmental factors, autoimmunity and Genetic predisposition. CD is associated(as mentioned above in the text) with HLA-DQ2 and DQ8 especially if the person had 2 copies of HLA-DQ 2.5 genes) .In addition other non-HL A genes are also involved in the pathogenesis of CD like IL-18R ,CCR9 and TAGAP genes(Sharma et al., 2016).

As illustrated in Figure 1.15, Genetic study is indicated in the suspected cases when the clinical or the endoscopic findings are not clear. The HLA-study can be applied in relatives of patient with celiac disease(Liu et al., 2014).

# **1.3.12** Differential Diagnosis of Celiac Disease

The conditions that may simulate CD are related to the age of patient. For instance ,the children CD should be differentiated from lactose intolerance& fructose intolerance (Schuppan and Zimmer, 2013),so variable disorders cause villous atrophy with subsequent malabsorption syndrome that can be summarized as following (Rubio-Tapia and Murray, 2010, Leonard et al., 2017) :

**1**-autoimmune enteritis, where there is production of anti-enterocytes autoantibodies leading to mucosal and villous atrophy, giving a picture similar to CD but the difference is of little IELs. Serology and genetic tests will resolve the problem(Lucia et al., 2018).

**2-**Infectious gastroenteritis with similar clinical presentation to CD. Giardiasis, a parasitic infection caused by *G.Lambliae* causes villous atrophy with signs of malabsorption and iron deficiency(Hashim, 2018).Other parasites is called cryptosporidiosis ,waterborne infection invades the duodenal wall(Hashim et al.). Bacterial (including Intestinal tuberculosis) and viral gut infections can be a source of confusion with the CD(Diaconescu et al., 2016).

**3-**cystic fibrosis: a congenital infection due to a mutation in CFTR gene with occasional gastrointestinal manifestations(Sanderson, 2020).

**4-**Inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD): including crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis; are chronic inflammation that can involve any part of GIT, with clinical feature similar to that of CD, like diarrhea and weight loss. Endoscopy with

49
subsequent histopathological application and serology will be helpful in the differentiation between the two conditions(Kotze et al., 2010, Bai et al., 2013).

**5**-Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS): a dysfunctional disorder with intermittent symptoms of diarrhea or constipation and abdominal bloating (Girbovan et al., 2017).

**6**-Eosinophilic gastroenteritis: where there is infiltration of intestinal wall by eosinophils ,giving features of diarrhea and abdominal cramps(Ingle and Hinge, 2013).

7- Food protein hypersensitivity (Muraro et al., 2017, Rael et al., 2020).

8- Whipple disease (Günther et al., 2015).

9-Intestinal lymphoma (Zhang et al., 2016).

**10-**Collagenous sprue (Nielsen et al., 2013).

All the above conditions are differentiated from celiac disease using serology, endoscopy and biopsy interpretation and genetic counseling in addition to specific tests applied for each disease.

### **1.3.13** Complications of Celiac Disease

The complications of celiac disease are more in cases where the diagnosis is late ,detection in elderly, or those with homozygote DQ2 who are not on strict GFD (Caio et al., 2019a).

- A- Refractory CD (RCD): represents only 1.5% of total CD cases. It presents as persistent villous atrophy and malabsorption in spite of strict GFD and with negative serology(Dewar et al., 2012).
- **B- Intestinal lymphoma:** The relation between celiac disease and cancers were noticed since about five decades. The development of the intestinal non –Hodgkin T-cell lymphoma (and to less extent B-cell lymphoma) in

CD patients could be 6-9 times more than the general population, especially in the late diagnosed cases. It was seen that the refractory CD may progress into lymphoma in 33-50% of cases within 5 years (Caio et al., 2019a).

- C- Adenocarcinoma : Small intestinal adenocarcinoma is less common than intestinal lymphoma in it's association with CD but still more incidence than in general population. Sudden intestinal occlusion or malena in CD patient can a warning sign of tumor development(Biagi et al., 2014, Caio et al., 2019a).
- **D- hyposlenism:** includes both functional and anatomical, presents in about 30% of adult CD and rises up to 80% in the complicated cases. Small sized spleen discovered by the abdominal ultrasound and Howell-Jolly bodies detection in peripheral blood should guide the doctor for such CD complication. This status will make the patient more susceptible for bacterial infection ,autoimmunity problems and thromboembolism risk(Di Sabatino et al., 2013).

### **1.3.14** Associated Disorders with Celiac Disease

Celiac disease is an autoimmune disease and there is a risk (together with their first degree relatives) of association with other disorders especially the other AID in up to 15% of CD patients(Spijkerman et al., 2016), these are:

### 1.3.14.1 Diabetes Mellitus (DM):

The association between DM and CD is one of the most extensively illustrated simultaneous AID. The detection of both disorders can be at the same time or CD may be discovered subsequent to DM. The prevalence of CD among diabetic patients type I averages 2-11% (so tests for CD should be carried out in the DM type 1)(Aggarwal et al., 2012).It was also illustrated that DM type 1 can be subsequent to CD before age 20 years(Hazard ratio=2.4%)(Elfström et al., 2014).

There is a second peak incidence of CD among diabetic patients type 1 around age 45 years. Both CD and DM share the same risk HLA-type ,hence DM type 1 patients have either HLA-DQ2 or DQ8 in 90% of cases(Bakker et al., 2013).

Gluten free diet will improve both the diabetic metabolic control and growth status in CD and can delay or prevent the osteopenic and vascular complications (Camarca et al., 2012).

The incidence of type 2 DM in CD was comparable to general population but the bad glycemic control predisposes the celiac patients to comorbidity(Kylökäs et al., 2016).

### 1.3.14.2 Autoimmune Thyroiditis:

It has been illustrated that 2-7% of autoimmune thyroid diseased patients (Hashimotos thyroiditis and Graves disease) have CD and in the reverse manner, 26% of individuals with CD show serological markers of autoimmune thyroid diseases gland with impaired function(Mehrdad et al., 2012).

Food Gluten withdrawal will not stop the impairment of thyroid function; Other studies documented that after 1 year of GFD regimen there was decrease in the serological thyroid autoantibodies (Metso et al., 2012).

The pathogenesis of the association between the 2 conditions is not so clear but it can be explained by the fact that both disorders have similar genetic predisposition including gene of cytotoxic-T-lymphocytes associated antigen-4 (CLTA-4) which confers susceptibility to thyroid autoimmunity. It has been found that tTG antibody can bind to thyroid tissue which may deregulate it's biological processes(Caja et al., 2011).

### 1.3.14.3 Addison's Disease:

It has been found that CD could be a risk group in Addison's disease with an incidence up to 12% of CD in Addison disease patients(Dalin et al., 2017) and in a reverse manner, Addison's disease is found in about 11.4% of CD individuals. Unfortunately, GFD doesn't improve Addison's disease patients(Freeman, 2016).

### **1.3.14.4 Dermatological Disorders:**

Skin manifestations like Dermatitis herpetiformis( already mentioned previously), alopecia areata, vitiligo, psoriasis and dermatomyositis have been demarcated as the most important associated skin diseases in the CD patients (Abenavoli et al., 2019).

### 1.3.14.5 Rheumatoid Diseases:

Sjogren syndrome(SS),an autoimmune disease with lymphocyte infiltration and dysfunction of the exocrine glands and female :male ratio about 9:1 ,has been found to be associated with CD with a rate of association about 4.5% to 15% (Parisis et al., 2020).

Systemic lupus erythematosus( SLE) is an autoimmen and multisystemic disease. It has been found that there is 3-folded increased risk of developing SLE in CD patients more than the general population. There are elevated anti-gliadin antibodies but with no histological changes (Ludvigsson et al., 2012a).

### 1.3.14.6 Hematological Manifestations:

The association of Idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura(ITP) with CD was discovered about 40 years ago with a possible similar genetic predisposition. Other hematological manifestations including hypercoagulability state, with secondary abortion, thromboembolism and variable cardiovascular disorders(Balaban et al., 2019).

### 1.3.14.7 Hepatic Disorders:

Variable hepatobiliary disorders were discovered to be associated with CD. Some of these can be mild with just increased of liver enzymes that can be modified with GFD and others are serious with no response to the gluten modification treatment of CD. The studied diseases can be of autoimmune mechanism ( primary biliary cirrhosis, autoimmune hepatitis and primary sclerosing cholangitis).The non-immune mediated group include non alcoholic fatty liver disease, Wilson disease and Budd-Chiari Syndrome(Balaban et al., 2019).

### **1.3.15** Soluble Interleukin-2 Receptor (sIL-2 R)

### 1.3.15.1 Introduction:

Rubin and his colleagues discovered in 1984 the presence of soluble IL-2 receptor in cultured T-lymphocytes infected with Human T-cell leukemia virus-1(HTLV-1).Since that time serum measurement of (sIL-2R) was considered as marker of T-cell activity and as a tool of assessing the immune system activation (Goldsmith et al., 2016).

### **1.3.15.2 Structure:**

The soluble molecule of the IL-2R represents the extracellular part of the membrane bound receptor, it has the capacity to bind IL-2 molecule & it presents on the surface of different haemopoietic cells including T-cell, Nk, monocytes, eosinophils and in some tumor cells. IL2-R is available in 3 different forms; alpha variant(IL-2Ra, CD25, M=55 KDa) which is considered as the most powerful type. Beta type(IL-2R $\beta$ ,CD122, M=75 KDa) and gamma IL-2R(IL-2Ry,CD132, M=74 KDa). Structurally, IL-2Ra is 256 amino acidunits polypeptide with an extracellular(soluble) part is of 219 residues(Witkowska, 2005, Eurelings et al., 2019).

### 1.3.15.3 Biological action of sIL-2R:

The IL2 -IL-2R pathway was focused in the immune stimulation and it was found to have pivotal role in the tolerance and in immune system activation. The action of the IL-2R depends on it's structure whether mono-'di-or tricompartments and the dose of the available IL-2 as shown in the Figure 1.16 down. The IL-2R $\alpha$  can be cleaved by the protease enzyme producing sIL-2R molecule(Damoiseaux, 2020).



Figure 1.16: The action of sIL-2 Receptor (Damoiseaux, 2020).

Interestingly IL-2R $\beta$  and IL-2R $\gamma$  are not unique for IL-2 and can bind to other cytokine family factor like IL-15. The IL-2R $\alpha$  is considered as the more specific receptor for IL-2 than the other counterparts(Budagian et al., 2006, Yu et al., 2013).

Upon T-cell activation & sIL-2R is produced, the IL-2R will change to a low affinity receptor. Several variants of IL-2R $\alpha$  gene exist and these contribute to some autoimmune diseases like DM and MS (multiple sclerosis) and this is

ascribed to reduced IL-2R signaling in the regulatory type of T-lymphocytes(Treg) (Cerosaletti et al., 2013).

The IL-2R exerts it's action through a cascade of intracellular signaling factors and genes including the Janus tyrosine kinase(JAK),signal transducer and activator of transcription(STAT),Src homologue and collagen(SHC protien) and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase(Pi3K) as demonstrated in Figure 1.17 below (Doersch et al., 2017) .Finally the result of IL-2R activation depends on the target cell, examples in T-cell there will be T cell stimulation, in Treg cells induction results in tolerance (Cerosaletti et al., 2013). While the influence of IL-2 &IL-2R signaling on fibroblasts and skin cells is wound healing (Doersch et al., 2017).



Figure 1.17: Intracellular processes of IL-2 stimulation (Doersch et al., 2017)

On the other hand the defect in the IL-2R signaling was illustrated in some disorders like of defect in the wound healing or some of the AID such as SLE (Doersch et al., 2017), Diabetes Mellitus(DM) and MS(multiple sclerosis) (Cerosaletti et al., 2013).

There are different scenarios of the action of sIL-2R in the pathogenesis of inflammatory diseases. One of the presumed effect is that sIL-2R competes with the T-cell for IL-2 factor and hence inhibiting T-cell proliferation. The second hypothesis is that sIL-2R binds IL-2 and therefore increasing the half life of IL-2 and hence exaggerating it's immune-inducing effect. The third action is that sIL-2R-IL-2 complex presents to T-helper lymphocytes and thus upregulating FOXP3 expression leading to differentiation into T-regulatory cells helping in controlling the immune activity. This effect was noticed in different inflammatory conditions like SLE, rheumatorid arithritis and granulomatous diseases like tuberculosis and sarcoidosis (Eurelings et al., 2019).

### 1.3.15.4 Role of sIL-2R in Celiac Disease:

It's well known that the increased concentration of sIL-2R with a subsequent stimulation of IL-2 occurs within 2 hours in the onset of gluten ingestion, together with other inflammatory mediators(Vorobjova et al., 2019).

Soluble IL-2R is considered as a marker of T-helper lymphocytes activation, which plays the central role in the pathogenesis of CD. The sIL-2R showed an increase it's plasma concentration in comparison to control group and was correlated with the grade of intestinal damage according to the MARSH grading system of the histological assessment of CD(Vorobjova et al., 2019).

### 1.3.16 Interleukin-18 (IL-18)

### 1.3.16.1 History:

The first discovery of IL-18 was in 1989 and originally named interferongamma(INF- $\gamma$ )-inducing factor(IGIF). This cytokine belongs to IL-1 family and has tremendous role in inflammation and immune reaction. It's manufactured by variable cellular types like monocytes, Kupffer cells, T and B-lymphocytes, microglial cells dendritic cells, epithelial cells and induced macrophages(Wang et al., 2018).

### 1.3.16.2 Mechanism of Action of IL-18:

The gene of IL-18 locates on chromosome 11q22.2-q22.3 and at least there are six polymorphism of this gene. Such polymorphism has an inflammatory and tumorigenic effect (Dondeti et al., 2016, Al-Shobaili et al., 2016).

IL-18 exists in an inactive form(24 KDa) and it's converted into the active form, a protein of 18 KDa (193 amino acids) by the action of IL-1 $\beta$  converting enzyme mediated by post-translational regulation (Al-Shobaili et al., 2016, Kaneko et al., 2019).

In addition to promotion of INF- $\gamma$  production, IL-18 also stimulates the release of IL-2 and expression of IL-2 receptor(IL-2R) and Fas ligand (FasL) on TH1 cell in addition to the stimulation of natural killer (NK) cells. The stimulation of INF- $\gamma$  production occurs due to the action of IL-18 on different target cells like TH1, Nk, B-cells, dendritic cells and macrophages. It also stimulates (together with IL-12) TH2 cell cytokines production. Together with IL-3, IL-18 stimulates the mast cells and basophils to produce IL-4 and IL-13.All the above points refer to that IL-18 participates in both innate and acquired immune systems (Nakanishi, 2018, Yasuda et al., 2019). There are two types of IL-18 receptors(IL-18R), IL-18R  $\alpha$  and IL-18R  $\beta$ , the cytoplasmic domain of both contain domain termed the Toll-like receptor(TLR). The stimulation of IL-18R will activate nuclear factor NF-kB and mitogen activated protein kinase(MAPK) via the association of other factors like tumor necrosis factor(TNF)-activated receptor that eventually leading to expression of genes like FasL and TNFa (Yasuda et al., 2019).

### **1.3.16.3** Biological function of IL-18:

Recent data suggest pivotal role of IL-18 both in physiological and pathological conditions, which were illustrated by a recent article (Yasuda et al., 2019) and as shown in Figure 1.18 :

### 1.3.16.3.1 Physiological role of IL-18:

Several physiological functions of IL-18 were illustrated in the following points (Rathinam and Chan, 2018) :

**1-** Protective mechanism against both intra-and extra-cellular bacteria, viruses and helminthes through the induction of both innate and acquired immune systems.

**2-** Metabolic Homeostasis through regulation of food intake and energy expenditure, activation of lipid oxidation in skeletal muscles and the protective role against metabolic syndrome.

**3-** Regulation of gut homeostasis through the protective role of IL-18 in keeping healthy intestinal epithelial barrier in conjunction with NLRP inflammasome and the effect of the intestinal microbiota.



Figure 1.18: The Biological function of IL-18 (Yasuda et al., 2019)

### 1.3.16.3.2 Pathological role of IL-18:

The role of IL-18 was found in several diseases including the sepsis shock, allergy and asthma, arterial atheroma formation, predicting the course of renal diseases and have protecting effect in cancer (Nakanishi, 2018, Yasuda et al., 2019).

### 1.3.16.4 Role of IL-18 in Celiac Disease:

The proinflammatory cytokine ,IL-18 is a potent stimulator of  $\gamma$ -INF production which plays a crucial role in the regulation of TH1 response.The cell TH1 plays central role in the pathogenesis of CD.IL-18 has been detected together with it's mRNA in the duodenal mucosa of celiac patients.In addition Celiac patients expressed high serum level of IL-18 ,the level of which was reduced after application of gluten free diet regimen and kept high level following implementation of gluten challenge test (Attarwala, 2016).

The serum measurement of IL-18 was correlated with the intestinal villous atrophy in association with other Celiac markers like anti-tTG antibodies.IL-18 was found to be higher in the non-treated individuals and can be applied as a marker for detecting the activity of celiac disease or discovering the non compliant patients (Mormile, 2016a).

C

# CHAPTER TWO MATERIALS AND METHODS

# **Chapter Two**

### **Materials and Methods**

### **2.1 Materials**

### 2.1.1 Study design:

The present study is a cross-sectional study designed to analyze the expression levels of selected cytokines and serum auto-antibodies in patients with Celiac disease and compare the same with those of non-Celiac participants recruited from three different hospitals/ clinical centers.

### 2.1.2 Study population:

A total of 45 patients clinically diagnosed as having Celiac disease, aged 17 years and above were recruited from three hospitals/ clinical centers namely; Imam Al-Hussein Medical City, Imam Zain Al Abidine Hospital and Alkafeel Super Specialty Hospital, all located in the city of Karbala, Iraq. The non-Celiac participants consisted of 45 individuals aged 17 years and above, certified as Celiac negative through serological test.

Informed consent was obtained from all patients and participants and ethical approval was sort and obtained from the research ethics committee of the College of Medicine, University of Kerbala as well as the appropriate approval bodies of the hospitals from which the samples were taken (Appendix A).

### **2.1.3 Descriptive variables of the study groups:**

### 2.1.3.1. Inclusion criteria:

**a-For patients:** The rule 'four out of five ' was a quantitative approach and was suggested for the last few years where celiac disease diagnosis in a patient is definite as he fulfills at minimum 4of 5criteria (Catassi and Fasano, 2010) :

- 1. Clinical manifestations typically suggesting for CD.
- 2. Positive titer of serum celiac markers (IgA) class autoantibodies.
- 3. Positive HLA-(DQ2 and/or DQ8) genotyping.
- 4. Celiac histologic picture on duodenal biopsy.
- 5. Improvement on restricting dietary gluten (Catassi and Fasano, 2010).

\* The criteria for the diagnosis of celiac disease in adults still depends on the presence of histological changes including increased mucosal IEL, crypt hyperplasia and duodenal villous atrophy while the patient is on a gluten-containing diet, along with findings from serology analysis (Kaukinen et al., 2001)

So for the test group:

\* Patients 17 years old and above were included.

\*Patients attended GIT (gastrointestinal tract) centers whom diagnosed to have CD by specialists. The diagnosis was established depending on a combination of clinical features, serological markers, and histopathological pictures of CD in duodenal mucosa according to current international guidelines (Husby et al., 2012).

\*Positive serological markers for CD.

\*Confirmation by biopsy in adults.

\*With a few exceptions of some patients who diagnosed depending on serology only when tTG IgA> 10 folds upper limit of normal according to revised criteria of ESPGHAN 2012 and the biopsy was done for them to evaluate the severity of the disease.

**b-The controls** who enrolled in the study were healthy persons of 17 years old and above.

### 2.1.3.2 Exclusion criteria:

Exclusion criteria for recruitment of patients with Celiac disease into the study were;

- i. Suspicion but not confirming presence of Celiac disease through biopsy or serological test.
- ii. Not consenting to submit self for endoscopy with duodenal biopsy, for histological examination.
- iii. Presence of other autoimmune disorders such as diabetes mellitus, autoimmune thyroiditis amongst others, or associated chronic inflammatory bowel disease such as Crohn's disease or ulcerative colitis as well as forms of chronic renal and liver diseases or bowel tumors.
- iv. Individuals aged below 17 years.

Exclusion criteria for recruitment of non-Celiac disease participants (control group) into the study were;

- i. Family history of Celiac disease.
- Presence of other autoimmune disorders such as diabetes mellitus, autoimmune thyroiditis amongst others, or associated chronic inflammatory bowel disease such as Crohn's disease or ulcerative colitis as well as forms of chronic renal and liver diseases or bowel tumors.
- iii. Obesity.
- iv. Presence of cardiovascular disease.
- v. Individuals aged below 17 years.

### **2.1.4 Sample collection:**

Sociodemographical data were extracted from the patients' hospital records while the non-Celiac participant underwent a questionnaire-based interview.

Blood sample was collected by venipuncture using disposable syringes at the Aspiration Unit of the hospitals. Approximately 4 mL of blood were collected in gel tubes, barcoded and sent to the Immunology Unit for onward processing. The samples were centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 20 minutes and 1 mL of supernatant (serum) was aspirated and placed in labeled Eppendorf tubes, and stored at -20°C until use.

Duodenal biopsy from the patients was carried out by the oesophageogastroduodenoscopy (OGD) and the tissue was kept in a container with 10% formalin liquid, labeled and then sent to Histopathological Unit of the hospitals for staining and result interpretation (Zahary et al., Peate, 2017).

### 2.2 Methods:

The laboratory analyses conducted in this study comprised of histological analysis of duodenal biopsy samples from the patients, serological determination of Celiac disease associated cytokines i.e. interleukin 18 (IL-18) and soluble interleukin 2 receptor (sIL-2R) as well as serological determination of Celiac disease associated antibodies i.e. anti-tissue transglutaminase (tTG) IgA antibodies and anti-deamidated gliadin peptide (DGP) IgG antibodies, in the test and control samples.

The cytokine assays were carried out using sandwich enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) technique, while the antibody assays were achieved using the indirect ELISA technique.

### **2.2.1 Histological processing of duodenal biopsy samples:**

The biopsy tissue samples were processed according to standard hematoxylineosin protocol for histological slide preparation. The protocol proceeded from dewaxing using xylene to hydration passage through several sections of alcohol and then rinsed throughly with water, then hematoxylin which is a nuclear stain is added which is succeeded by bluing with a weak alkaline solution – a step that converts hematoxylin stain to blue colour. The section is then rinsed to ensure proper staining of nuclei after which differentiation using a weak alcohol proceeds to remove non-specific background staining and improve contrast. Eosin stain, which stains non-nuclear components is then applied after which the slide passes through several gradients of alcohol to remove water and several baths of xylene to clear the tissue, making it transparent as the slide is covered and mounted for reading(Slaoui and Fiette, 2011). The reading, interpretation and grading of the slides was executed by a qualified histologist.

### 2.2.2 Determination the serum levels of IL-18 and sIL-2R:

The BioTech Human IL-18 & sIL-2R ELISA kits from Bioassay Technology Laboratory (China) were used to quantitatively measure the levels of IL-18 & sIL-2R respectively in serum of the test and control subjects by strict adherence to protocol provided by the manufacturer. The details of the kits components as well as the reagents and solutions used are presented in (Appendix B and C).

### 2.2.2.1 Assay principle of IL-18 test kit:

The BioTech Human IL-18 ELISA kit utilizes the sandwich ELISA technique. The plate comes pre-coated with human IL-18 antibody. Therefore, the IL-18 present in the sample when added, binds to the antibodies coated on the wells. The addition of the biotinylated human IL-18 antibody ensures binding to IL-18 – bound IL-18 antibody complex. Streptavidin-HRP is then added to the wells which then binds to the biotinylated complex. After incubation the unbound Streptavidin-HRP is washed away during a washing step. Substrate solutions (A & B) are then added and color develops in proportion to the amount of human IL-18 in the sample. The reaction is terminated by addition of acidic stop solution and OD is measured at 450 nm.

### 2.2.2.2 Assay principle of sIL-2R test kit :

The BioTech Human IL-2SR ELISA kit also utilize the sandwich ELISA technique. The plate comes pre-coated with human sIL-2R antibody. Therefore, the sIL-2R present in the sample when added, binds to the antibodies coated on the wells. The addition of the biotinylated human sIL-2R antibody ensures binding to sIL-2R – bound sIL-2R antibody complex. Streptavidin-HRP is then added to the well which then binds to the biotinylated complex. After incubation the unbound Streptavidin-HRP is washed away during a washing step. Substrate solutions (A & B) are then added and color develops in proportion to the amount of human sIL-2R in the sample. The reaction is terminated by the addition of acidic stop solution and OD is measured at 450 nm.

### 2.2.2.3 Assay procedure of both IL-18 & sIL-2R kits :

The assay procedures, the components of both IL-18 & sIL-2R kits are the same and all reagents were ready to use with the exception of the wash buffer solutions and standard solutions which were in form of concentrates. However standard solution concentration for IL-18 is 128 ng/L while that for sIL-2R is 1280 ng/L.

The Wash Buffer of each kit was prepared by mixing gently, the 20 mL Wash Buffer (25x) concentrate to dissolve crystals and diluting with 480 mL distilled water, yielding 500 mL of Wash Buffer (1x). The buffer's pH was checked and maintained at pH of 7.2 before storage in the refrigerator.

For preparation of Standard solutions, 120  $\mu$ L of the Standard concentrate (128 ng/L and 1280 ng/L) were reconstituted with 120  $\mu$ L of Standard diluent to generate 240  $\mu$ L of 64 ng/L and 640 ng/L standard stock solutions for IL-18

& sIL-2R respectively. The solutions were allowed to sit for 15 minutes after which they were briefly agitated prior to preparing of serial dilutions for standard curve.

Each standard stock solution was serially diluted at ratio 1: 2 to yield serial concentrations in 7 labeled tubes as presented in Table 2.1 & Table 2.2 for IL-18 & sIL-2R sequentially.

<b>Table 2.1:</b>	IL-18 ELISA seri	al dilutions for	standard curve
	ID TO DEIDITIOUT		

Tube label	<b>S6</b>	<b>S5</b>	<b>S4</b>	<b>S3</b>	<b>S2</b>	<b>S1</b>	<b>S0</b> *	-
Concentration (ng/L)	128	64	32	16	8	4	0	

\*The standard diluent was used for concentration 0 ng/L.

**Table 2.2:** sIL-2R ELISA serial dilutions for standard curve

Tube label	<b>S6</b>	<b>S5</b>	<b>S4</b>	<b>S3</b>	<b>S2</b>	<b>S1</b>	<b>S0</b> *	
Concentration (ng/L)	1280	640	320	160	80	40	0	

\*The standard diluent was used for concentration 0 ng/L.

Since the assay procedure is the same for both kits, so it was mentioned once.

The standards, test and control samples were sequentially arranged in a plastic rack in accordance to their respective labels in separate racks.

The plastic microtiter plate (96 wells) was unsealed from the pouch and placed on the working bench. The standards (50  $\mu$ L) were dispensed into wells labeled S0 to S7 while 40  $\mu$ L of undiluted samples were appropriately dispensed into the other wells. Ten microlitres (10  $\mu$ L) of biotinylated human IL-18 antibody (or biotinylated human sIL-2R antibody regarding sIL-2R assay procedure ) was added to the wells containing the samples but not the standards, after which 50  $\mu$ L of streptavidin HRP was added to sample and standards wells but not the blanks. The plate was shaken gently and incubated at 37°C for 60 minutes. During the incubation period, the Wash Buffer prepared earlier was collected and was used in priming the ELISA automated washer – here, a 5-wash cycle and 30 seconds soak programme was chosen. After incubation, the sealer was removed, its content was aspirated and the washing cycle was initiated. During each cycle, 350  $\mu$ L of Wash Buffer was added to the wells. Complete removal of any remaining buffer was ensured by inverting the plate and blotting against clean paper towels, after which 50  $\mu$ L of the Substrate Solution A and 50  $\mu$ L of Substrate Solution B were added to each well. The plate was then covered and incubated in the dark for 10 minutes at 37°C. After incubation the reaction was stopped by quickly adding 50  $\mu$ L of Stop Solution to each well with gentle tapping to ensure thorough mixing, then the optical density (OD) of each well was read, using a microplate reader set to 450 nm wavelength.

**Calculation of results:** first the OD of standard S0 was deducted from the OD value of all the remaining standard and samples. A standard curve was the constructed by plotting the OD of each standard on the x-axis against the concentration on the y-axis and drawing the curve of best fit through the points on the graph. The concentrations of IL-18 and sIL-2R in the test and control samples were determined by interpolation of the standard curve. Since the samples were not diluted, there was no need to multiply the concentrations from the standard curve by dilution factor.

# 2.2.3 Measurement of the serum levels of anti-deamidated gliadin peptides (DGP) IgG and anti-tissue transglutaminase (tTG) IgA antibodies using indirect ELISA technique:

The EuroImmune Human anti-DGP IgG & anti tTG IgA kits from EuroImmune Medizinische Labordiagnostika (Lubeck, Germany) were used to quantitatively measure the levels of antibodies against deamidated gliadin peptides and tissue transglutaminase enzyme respectively in serum of the test and control subjects by strict adherence to protocol provided by the manufacturer. The details of the kits components as well as the reagents and solutions used are presented in Appendix D and E.

### 2.2.3.1 Assay principle of Anti-DGP IgG test kit :

This kit provides a semi-quantitative or quantitative in vitro assay for human antibodies of the IgG class against deamidated gliadin (GAF-3X) in serum or plasma. The test kit contains microtiter strips, each with 8 break-off reagent wells coated with GAF-3X (antigens). In the first reaction step, diluted patient samples are incubated in the wells, and in case of positive samples, specific IgG antibodies will bind to the antigens. To detect the bound antibodies, a second incubation is carried out using an enzyme-labeled anti-human IgG (enzyme conjugate) catalyzing a color reaction.

**Calculation of results:** the amount of anti-DGP IgG antibodies in the test and control samples can be evaluated by "point-to-point" plotting of the extinction values(OD) measured for the 3 calibrators against the corresponding units (linear/linear) for calculation of the standard curve. For quantitative interpretation of results, the EuroImmun upper limit of normal range which is 25 relative unit (RU)/mL was used. The interpretation range as recommended by Euroimmun is; "Positive for  $\geq$  25 RU/mL and "negative "for < 25 RU/mL.

### 2.2.3.2 Assay principle of Anti-tTG IgA test kit :

This kit provides a semi-quantitative or quantitative in vitro assay for human antibodies of the IgA class against tissue transglutaminase in serum or plasma. The test kit contains microtiter strips, each with 8 break-off reagent wells coated with human tissue transglutaminase(antigens). In the first reaction step, diluted patient samples are incubated in the wells, and in case of positive samples, specific IgA antibodies will bind to the antigens. To detect the bound antibodies, a second incubation is carried out using an enzyme-labeled antihuman IgA (enzyme conjugate) catalyzing a color reaction.

**Calculation of results:** the amount of anti-tTG antibodies in the test and control samples can be evaluated by "point-to-point" plotting of the extinction values(OD) measured for the 3 calibrators against the corresponding units (linear/linear) for calculation of the standard curve. For quantitative interpretation of results, the EuroImmun upper limit of normal range which is 20 relative unit (RU)/mL was used. The interpretation range as recommended by EuroImmun is; "Positive for  $\geq$  20 RU/mL and "negative "for < 20 RU/mL.

# 2.2.3.3 Assay procedure for measuring serum titer of Anti-DGP IgG & Anti-tTG IgA antibodies:

As the method of measurement is the same for both kits, therefore it was mentioned once to overcome repeating.

With the exception of the Wash Buffer, all other reagents; calibrators, enzymes, substrates and solutions came in the kit, were ready to use. The Wash Buffer 1x solution was prepared by adding 450 mL of distilled water to 50 mL of the Wash Buffer 10x concentrate.

The samples were diluted in the Sample Buffer by adding 5  $\mu$ L of the sample to 1 mL of Sample Buffer and vortexed gently. One hundred microlitres (100  $\mu$ L) each of the calibrators, positive control, negative control and diluted samples were dispensed into appropriately labeled wells of a microwells plate and the plate was incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature. The plate was

then washed using the initially prepared Wash Buffer 1x in an automatic plate washer. After 3 cycles of washing, the content of the plate was disposed of completely by tapping it on absorbent paper with the openings facing downwards after which 100  $\mu$ L of the Enzyme Conjugate (peroxidase-labelled anti-human antibody) was added into each well. The plate was then incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. After incubation, 3 cycles of washing were executed, then 100  $\mu$ L of chromogen/ Substrate Solution was added to each well and the plate was incubated at room temperature in the dark for 15 minutes . After incubation, 100  $\mu$ L of Stop Solution was quickly added to each well, the plate was gently shacked to ensure homogenous distribution of the solution and the photometric measurement of the wells was carried out using a microplate reader at 450 nm wavelength as well as a reference wavelength.

### 2.3 Statistical analysis:

Data analysis was conducted using SPSS (version 24.0). All quantitative variables or numbers were expressed in form of mean +/- standard deviation. Independent student's t test was used to observe statistical significant association between the cytokines and serum antibodies of the test and control samples. On the other hand, qualitative data were expressed as numbers (N) and percentages, and qualitative variables were analyzed using Chi-square test. Pearson correlation analysis was used to reveal the association between two or more of the related quantitative variables.

\*A p values <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

The study design, as well as techniques and procedures used in this study are schematically summarized in Figure 2.1.



**Figure 2.1:** Schematic presentation showing details of the materials and methods employed in the study.

C

## **Chapter Three**

## The Results

### **3.1 Age distribution of participants:**

The participant's age of the case study group ranged from 17 to 56 years with a mean $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) of 33.86 $\pm$  10.79 years, while that of the control group age was 30.28 $\pm$ 10.35 years. The majority of the participants in the patient and control groups were in the age range of 20-29 years with percentages of 37.8% and 48,9% respectively. There was no significant statistical difference between the age groups of both control and patients (p=0.112) as illustrated in Table 3.1 below.

Age interval	Patients	Mean±	Control	Mean ±	<i>p</i> value
(years)	N (%)	(SD)	N (%)	( <b>SD</b> )	
10-19	2 (4.4)		5 (11.1)		
20-29	17 (37.8)		22 (48.9)		
30-39	11 (24.4)		10 (22.2)		
40-49	9 (20)	33.86±	4 (8.9)	$30.28\pm$ 10.35	0.112
≥50	6 (13.3)	10.79	4 (8.9)	10.55	
Range	17-56		17-55		
Total	45 (100%)		45 (100%)	]	
Range Total	17-56 45 (100%)		17-55 45 (100%)	-	

**Table 3.1**: The Age distribution of both patients and control groups.

N= number, (%)= percent, (SD)= standard deviation

### **3.2** The Gender of patients and control groups:

In the patient group there were 11(24.4%) male and 34(75.6%) female while in the control group, had 20(44.4%) male and 25(55.6%) female individuals. These

statistics show that there was significant difference between the patients and control groups in relation to gender (p=0.045) as shown below in the Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1: The gender distribution of the both patients and control groups.

The distribution of the participants is based on gender for the patient and control groups indicating that the number of females was significantly higher in the Patient group compared to males, while although more females were recruited in the control group relative to men, the difference in their numbers was not statistically significant.

### **3.3** Anemia in patients of Celiac Disease and control groups:

Regarding the anemia in the patients group, the mean value for hemoglobin was  $10.68\pm1.71$  g/dl while for the control group, the mean value was  $12.52\pm1.65$  g/dl. For ferritin, the patient group had mean value of  $16.51\pm15.82$  ng/ml, while

for the control group, mean ferritin value was  $42.63\pm39.41$  ng/ml. With the application of t-test, the results showed significant statistical difference between the patient and control groups (p<0.05). Table 3.2 shows these variables.

Pa	tients	Mean	Co	ontrol	Mean	<i>p</i> value
Ν	(%)	$\pm SD$	Ν	(%)	$\pm SD$	
26	(57.8)		16	(35.6)		
19	(42.2)	10.68	29	(64.4)	12.52	0.034
45	(100)	±1.71	45	(100)	±1.65	
35	(77.8)		17	(37.8)		0.0001
10	(22.2)	16.51	28	(62.2)	42.63	
45	(100)	$\pm 15.82$	45	(100)	±39.41	
	Pa N 26 19 45 35 10 45	Patients         N       (%)         26       (57.8)         19       (42.2)         45       (100)         35       (77.8)         10       (22.2)         45       (100)	Patients       Mean         N       (%)       ±SD         26       (57.8)	PatientsMeanComparisonN(%) $\pm$ SDN26(57.8)1619(42.2)10.682945(100) $\pm$ 1.714535(77.8)1710(22.2)16.512845(100) $\pm$ 15.8245	PatientsMeanControlN(%) $\pm$ SDN(%)26(57.8)1635.6)19(42.2)10.6829(64.4)45(100) $\pm$ 1.7145(100)35(77.8)1737.8)10(22.2)16.5128(62.2)45(100) $\pm$ 15.8245(100)	PatientsMeanControlMeanN(%) $\pm$ SDN(%) $\pm$ SD26(57.8)16(35.6)19(42.2)10.6829(64.4)45(100) $\pm$ 1.7145(100)35(77.8)17(37.8)10(22.2)16.5128(62.2)45(100) $\pm$ 15.8245(100) $\pm$ 39.41

N= number, (%)= percent, (SD)= standard deviation, Hb=Hemoglobin

# **3.4** Clinical manifestations of patients with CD in respect to the gender:

The majority of the CD patients presented with **•typical or intestinal symptoms** (73.3%) whereas **••extraintestinal clinical features** percentage report was (26.7%).The number and percentage of the male and female CD patients with these symptoms are illustrated in Table 3.3 below; however, the statistical records clear up that there is no significant association between them (p value more than 0.05). The results of presentation of anemia between male and female patients with CD showed predominance of anemia in female to males with statistical significant difference observed between the two gender types at (p<0.05). **•Typical or intestinal symptoms**: Include diarrhea, steatorrhea, abdominal pain, abdominal bloating or distension, nausea and vomiting, poor appitite, constipation, dyspepsia, dysphagia and weight loss.

••Atypical or extra-intestinal symptoms: Include micronutrient deficiencies like iron deficiency anemia, short stature, growth retardation or failure to thrive, oral manifestation, menstrual disturbances, infertility, skin manifestation, osteoporosis, and lethargy...etc.

Clinical disorder	Male	Female	Total	<i>p</i> value
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	
T a d a sed " a s 1	7 ((27)	$2(\sqrt{7}(5))$		
Intestinal	/ (63.7)	26 (76.5)	<b>33</b> (73.3)	
Extra-intestinal	4 (36.3)	8 (23.5)	12 (26.7)	
				0.402
Total	11 (100)	34 (100)	45 (100)	
Anemia parameters	Male	Female	Total	<i>p</i> value
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	
Hemoglobin level*				
Low Hb	2 (18.2)	24 (70.6)	26 (57.8)	0.002
*Normal Hb	9 (81.8)	10 (29.4)	19 (42.2)	
Total	11 (100)	34 (100)	45 (100)	
S. Ferritin Level**				
Low	6 (54.6)	29 (85.3)	35 (77.8)	0.032
**Normal	5 (45.4)	5 (14.7)	10 (22.2)	
Total	11 (100)	34 (100)	45 (100)	

Table 3.3: The clinical manifestation of patients with CD in relation to gender.

\*normal Hb level in female  $\geq 12g/dl$  and in male  $\geq 13.5g/dl$ 

\*\* normal s.Ferritin in female is  $\geq 12$ ng/ml while in male  $\geq 20$  ng/ml

# **3.5** Serum level measurement of anti-tTG IgA in the patients and control groups:

In this study, the mean  $\pm$ SD of anti tTG antibody level was  $184.17\pm176.52$  RU/mL in the patient group while in the control group was  $6.45 \pm 2.55$  RU/mL with a mean difference of 177.72 RU/mL. Patients with negative results below the 20 RU/ml constituted 28.9%(13 out of the total 45) while those with positive values( $\geq$ 20 RU/ml) were 32 out of 45(71.1%).Regarding the control group ,the majority of individuals included in the study were within the negative limit;43 out of 45(95.6%). By application of T-test,there was significant difference between the patient and control groups in relation to the anti tTG measurement(p=0.001) as cleared by the Figure 3.2.



**Figure 3.2:** The distribution of patients and control group in relation to the serum measurements of anti-tTG antibody, p=0.001 (Positive results  $\square$ , Negative results  $\square$ ).

The distribution of the participants based on serum anti-tTG antibody for the patient and control groups indicating that the number of positive values to anti-tTG was significantly higher in the patient group compared to control, while more negative values were recorded in the control group relative to the patient group, and the difference between the two groups was also statistically significant at p<0.05.

# **3.6** Serum level measurement of anti-DGP IgG in the patients and control groups:

The measurement of anti-deamidated gliadin peptide was applied in this study. The level of 25 RU/mL was chosen as the differentiation point between positive and negative results. The Table 3.4 down shows the data of the patients and control group and by application of T-test , there was significant difference between the 2 groups of study(p=0.001).

**Table 3.4:** Serum measurement of anti-DGP IgG in both patients and control groups.

Anti-DGP IgG	Patients		Mean	Control	Mean	*p <b>value</b>
	Ν	(%)	±SD	N(%)	±SD	
<25 RU/mL	3	(6.7)		41 (91.1)		
≥25 RU/ml	42	(93.3)	180.77	4 (8.9)	8.49	0.001
Total	45	(100)	$\pm 158.41$	45 (100)	±6.64	

\*Independent-Samples t test was used.

\*Anti-DGP IgG = anti-deamidated gliadin peptide of IgG type.

### 3.7 Serum results of soluble IL-2 Receptor(sIL-2R) in the

### participants:

Serum sIL-2 R was tested in both the control and patients group. The data showed that the persons in the control group have more negative (<160ng/L) scores(37 out 45), while the patients with more positive values of sIL-2R were 21 out of 45, so there was significant statistical differences in the patient group than the control group(p<0.05) as illustrated in the Table 3.5.

**Table 3.5:** Serum sIL-2R levels in CD patients compared with healthy controlgroup.

sIL-2 R	Pa	tients	Mean	Control		Mean	* <b>p</b>
	Ν	(%)	±SD	Ν	(%)	±SD	value
< 160ng/L	24	(53.3)		37	(82.2)		
			198.14			121.05	0.003
≥ 160ng/L	21	(46.7)	$\pm 146.21$	8	(17.8)	±130.01	
Total	45	(100)		45	(100)		

\*t-test was applied. \*sIL-2R= soluble interleukin -2 Receptor.

# **3.8 Detection of IL-18 serum level in the patients and control groups:**

According to IL-18 kit, the 16ng/L considered as a cutoff point to differentiate between the positive & negative results. In this study, the positive Interleukin 18(IL-18) cases of patient group were 31 out 45(68.9%) while cases with negative results recorded 14 out 45(31.1%). The mean  $\pm$ SD of the patients sample was 21.72  $\pm$ 12.55 while of the control group was 13.87 $\pm$ 12.17 with a mean difference equals to 7.85.In the control cases, the positive measurement of IL-18 were 6 out of 45(13.3%) cases and the negative cases constituted

86.7%(39 out of 45) .By application of the t-test , there was significant difference between the patient &control groups(p=0.001) as seen in the Table 3.6 below.

**Table 3.6:** Serum IL-18 levels in CD patients compared with healthycontrol group.

IL-18 level	Pa	tients	Mean	Control		Mean	* <b>p</b>
	Ν	(%)	±SD	Ν	(%)	±SD	value
< 16ng/L	14	(31.1)		39	(86.7)		
							0.001
≥16ng/L	31	(68.9)	21.72	6	(13.3)	13.87	
			±12.55			±12.17	
Total	45	(100)		45	(100)		

\*Independent-Samples t test was used. \*IL-18= interleukin-18

# **3.9** Distribution of the four serological markers in the patients' group:

Table 3.7 illustrates that serum level of the anti-DGP antibody recorded the highest positive results, 93.3%( 42 out of 45) patients more than the other markers, and it recorded the lowest negative results 6.7%(3 out of 45) cases. The lowest positivity was found in the sIL-2R marker 46.7% (21out of 45), this marker showed the highest negativity levels in the patient group with 53.3%(24 out of 45). The values presented in the mentioned table show significant statistical difference among the four serological markers used in the study with regards to the positivity and negativity to the markers analyzed in the CD patient groups (p<0.05).

**Table 3.7:** The association among serum results of Anti-tTG IgA , Anti-DGPIgG ,sIL-2R and IL-18 in the patients group.

Serological	Po	ositive	Ne	egative			
markers	Serum level		Seru	ım level	Tota	al	p value
	Ν	(%)	Ν	(%)	<b>N</b> (	%)	
Anti-tTG IgA	32	(71.1)	13	(28.9)	45 (1	.00)	(0.001)
Anti-DGP IgG	42	(93.3)	3	(6.7)	45 (1	.00)	(0.001)
sIL-2 R	21	(46.7)	24	(53.3)	45 (1	.00)	
IL-18	31	(68.9)	14	(31.1)	45 (1	.00)	

Anti-tTG IgA=anti-tissue transglutaminase of IgA type, Anti-DGP IgG = anti-deamidated gliadin peptide of IgG type, sIL-2R=soluble interleukin -2 Receptor, IL-18=interleukin-18.

# **3.10** The correlation of the serum markers among them and with the anemia parameters:

The Table 3.8 explains the correlation among the serum markers and the other laboratory findings (Hb and serum ferritin).

The data shows that there is positive correlation(r=0.493) between the serum level of anti- tTG IgA and DGP IgG antibody levels with a significant value (0.001). There was weak positive correlation between the tTG IgA and the sIL-2R (r=0.112) with significant difference (p=0.046). Also there was positive correlation between tTG IgA and IL-18(r=0.469) with a significance equal to (p=0.025). While negative correlation was observed between the tTG IgA with both the Hb and serum ferritin (r=-0.554 &-0.387 respectively) with high significance (0.001 and 0.009) respectively.

The data show that there is weak positive correlation between the DGP IgG and with both sIL-2R (r=0.377) with significance (0.011), and IL-18 (r=0.165) with significance (p=037). There was significant negative correlation between DGP

IgG and Hb(r=-0.528) with significant difference (0.001). Weak negative correlation was noticed between the DGP and s. ferritin (r=-0.301) with significance (0.044).

Considering the relationship between sIL-2R and IL-18, data recorded positive correlation (r=0.674) with significant level 0. 001.There was weak negative correlation between sIL-2R with both Hb and serum ferritin (-0.274&-0.211 respectively) with on significance. The relation of serum IL-18 with both Hb and ferritin showed negative correlation (- 0.161 and -0.109 respectively) with no significant level.

**Table 3.8:** The correlation of the four parameters together with the Hb and serum ferritin.

		tTG_IgA	DGP_IgG	sIL_2R	IL18
tTG_IgA	r		0.493**	0.112	0.469**
	Sig.		0.001	0.046	0.025
		**		*	
DGP_IgG	Г	0.493		0.377	0.165
	Sig.	0.001		0.011	0.037
sIL_2R	r	0.112	$0.377^*$		$0.674^{**}$
	Sig.	0.046	0.011		0.001
IL18	r	0.469**	0.165	$0.674^{**}$	
	Sig.	0.025	0.037	0.001	
	_				
Hb	r	-0.554**	-0.528**	$-0.274^{*}$	-0.161
	Sig.	0.001	0.001	0.068	0.291
Ferritin	r	-0.387*	-0.301*	-0.211*	-0.109
	Sig.	0.009	0.044	0.163	0.477

Pearson correlation was used. Correlation is significant at p value of <0.05.

intermediate correlation. \*\*\* strong correlation.
### **3.11** The distribution of the four serological markers in relation to gender of patients:

The data presented in the Table 3.9 were planned to show the possible correlation of the positive serum levels of the 4 markers used in this study with the gender of the patients .Due to the higher number of the female in the sample of the patients group, the data look as if the female group were higher in the recorded cases but the statistical analysis shows that there is no significant difference among the four markers enrolled in this study in relation to the gender of the patients(p>0.05).

**Table 3.9:**The positive results of Anti-TG IgA, Anti-DGP IgG, sIL-2R and IL-18 in relation to the gender of the patients.

Serum level	Male		Total		Female			Total	<i>p</i> value
	Ν	(%)	Ν	(%)	Ν	(%)	Ν	(%)	
Anti-tTG IgA	6	(54.5)	11	(100)	26	(76.5)	34	(100)	
Anti-DGP IgG	9	(81.8)	11	(100)	33	(97.1)	34	(100)	0.422
sIL-2 R	5	(45.5)	11	(100)	16	(47.1)	34	(100)	
IL-18	10	(90.9)	11	(100)	21	(61.8)	34	(100)	

Level of significant(*p* value) at <0.05 was used. Anti-tTG IgA=anti-tissue transglutaminase of IgA type, Anti-DGP IgG = anti-deamidated gliadin peptide of IgG type, sIL-2R=soluble interleukin -2 Receptor, IL-18=interleukin-18.

# **3.12** Patients' serum values of IL-18 and sIL-2R in relation to both positive DGP-IgG and tTG-IgA or discrepant DGP-IgG and tTG-IgA:

Patients with positivity of both antibodies (DGP-IgG and tTG-IgA) showed the more percentages of elevated interleukins (sIL-2R and& IL-18) more than the percentages that are associated with conflicting antibodies. While patients with negative values of sIL-2R clarified the same percentages for discrepant and&

elevated both antibodies. On the other hand, patients who have negative results of IL-18 revealed nearly approximated percentages for positive and discrepant antibodies, and these differences are statistically significant (p<0.05) as presented in Table 3.10.

**Table 3.10:** Patients' serum values of IL-18 and sIL-2R in relation to both positive DGP and tTG or discrepant DGP and tTG.

		<b>Positive Both</b>	Discrepant		
		tTG-IgA	values*	Total	Р
		and DGP-IgG	of tTG		Value
			and DGP		
		N (%)		N (%)	
			N (%)		
	Positive				
	N (%)	17 (81%)	4 (19%)	21 (100%)	0.031
sIL-2R	Negative				
	N (%)	12 (50%)	12 (50%)	24 (100%)	
-		29	16		
	Positive				
IL-18	N (%)	23 (74.2%)	8 (25.8%)	31 (100%)	
-	Negative				0.042
	N (%)	6 (42.9%)	8 (57.1%)	14 (100%)	
	Total	29	16		

\* Discrepant values were either (+ve DGP-IgG and -ve tTG-IgA) or (-ve DGP- IgG and + ve tTG-IgA).

#### 3.13 Histological outcome and MARSH grading of the patients:

The grading of the results of histological analysis of duodenal biopsy conducted on the patients based on MARSH grading is presented in the figures below. Figure 3.3 shows increased intraepithelial lymphocyte which represents MARSH I grade, Figure 3.4 shows crypt hyperplasia and increased IEL, representing MARSH II classification and Figure 3.5 shows subtotal villous atrophy which represents MARSH III grade.



**Figure 3.3:** An increased intraepithelial lymphocyte (yellow arrow) in celiac duodenal tissue representing MARSH grade I (x40).



**Figure 3.4:** The Duodenal tissue in Celiac disease (MARSH grade II) showing crypt hyperplasia (white arrow) and increased IEL (yellow arrow) (x 10).



**Figure 3.5:** The MARSH (Grade III) Duodenal tissue in Celiac disease showing subtotal villous atrophy (yellow arrow) (X 40).

### 3.14 MARSH histological grades in relation to patients' gender:

Table 3.11 illustrates the distribution of the different MARSH grades of the duodenal histology in regards to the patient's gender. The females had the higher number of patients in relation to the different MARSH grades, being the highest lies within the grade I (44.1%) (15 out of 34 cases) and lowest record was within the grade II (26.5%) (9 out of 34 total female cases). Regarding male patients, the highest recorded cases were within the grade I (63.6%) (7 out of 11 cases) while rest of cases were distributed equally within Grades II and III (i.e. 2 cases for each grade). There was no significant difference between the different histological grades in relation to the gender of patients(p>0.05).

Gender	MARSH		MARSH		MARSH			<i>p</i> Value
	grade I		grade II		grade III		Total	
	Ν	(%)	Ν	(%)	Ν	(%)	N (%)	
Male	7	(63.6)	2	(18.2)	2	(18.2)	11 (100)	
Female	15	(44.1)	9	(26.5)	10	(29.4)	34 (100)	0.528
Total		22		11		12	45	

**Table 3.11:** The patients MARSH Histological grades in relation to the gender.

\*Chi-square with level of significance at P < 0.05 was applied.

MARSH=Mucosal Algorithm Rules for Scoring Histology

### **3.15** Patients' MARSH histological grades in association with the serological markers results:

The combination of the histological diagnosis with the serological tests will clarify the severity level of CD. Each serological marker was studied independently in relation to the grades of the MARSH system. The distribution of the data reveals that there is significant difference in positive and negative limits of the (anti-tTG IgA, sIL-2R and IL-18) with the variable MARSH grading system(p<0.05).

This relationship was not achieved in the correlation of the different duodenal histological grades with the highest and lowest limits for the anti-DGP IgG antibodies, so there is no statistical significance (p > 0.05) as seen in the Table 3.12.

**Table 3.12:** Patients' MARSH histological grades in relation to the fourparameters results.

ELISA-detected	MARSH	MARSH	MARSH		p value
parameter	grade I	grade II	grade III		
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)		
Anti t-TG IgA					
< 20 IU/ML	11 (50 %)	1 (9.1%)	1	(8.3%)	0.009*
≥ 20 IU/ML	11 (50%)	10 (90.9%)	11	(91.7%)	
TOTAL	22 (100%)	11 (100%)	12	(100%)	
Anti- DGP IgG					
< 25 IU/ML	1 (4.5%)	1 (9.1%)	1	(8.3%)	0.854
≥ 25 IU/ML	21 (95.5%)	10 (90.9%)	11	(91.7%)	
TOTAL	22 (100%)	11 (100%)	12	(100%)	
sIL-2R					
< 160ng/L	5 (22.7%)	9 (81.8%)	10	(83.3%)	0.001*
≥ 160ng/L	17 (77.3%)	2 (18.2%)	2	(16.7%)	
TOTAL	22 (100%)	11 (100%)	12	(100%)	
IL-18					
<16ng/L	3 (13.6%)	4 (36.3%)	7	(58.3%)	0.024*
≥ 16ng/L	19 (86.4%)	7 (63.7%)	5	(41.7%)	
Total	22 (100%)	11 (100%)	12	(100%)	1

\*P-value was calculated as less than 0.05 level.

Anti-tTG IgA=anti-tissue transglutaminase of IgA type, Anti-DGP IgG = anti-deamidated gliadin peptide of IgG type, sIL-2R=soluble interleukin -2 Receptor, IL-18=interleukin-18.

C

### **Chapter Four**

### Discussion

Celiac disease, also known as gluten sensitive enteropathy, is an autoimmune disorder affecting persons who have genetic susceptibility, the immunopathogenesis happens in the small intestine(both in the epithelium and lamina propria)(Green and Jabri, 2006). According to the elevated incidence of CD, there are scarce Iraqi researches elaborated around the proinflammatory cytokines coordinating CD immunepathogenesis, genetic susceptibility, and the distribution of the disease in various races of Iraqi people. This study elaborated on the function of sIL-2R and IL-18 as biomarkers for assessing the severity of CD in correlation with circulating anti-tTG IgA and anti-DGP IgG matched for Socio-demographic characteristics (gender and age).

#### 4.1 Age distribution of the participants

The age of participants elected for the study regarding CD patients and controls was from 17 years old and above i.e. adults & elderly, with the range from 17-56 years, the mean age for the CD patients is  $33.86\pm 10.79$  years, while that of control group is  $30.28\pm10.35$  years, where highest number of both groups; patients and controls were presented between 20-29 years old (adults) with percentages of 37.8% and 48,9% respectively. After comparison among cases and controls there was no statistical significance ( p value=0.112 ). These age groups compared with many studies emphasizing that CD can be diagnosed at any age with most incidence at early childhood or in the third decade of age (Śmigielski and Gmitrowicz, 2014). However, children were not included in this study a circumstance that would not affect the findings of this study as Al-Saadi and his team reported that CD clinical presentation can occur at any time of life (Al-Saadi and Abid, 2009). Early realization about CD and the development of

the investigations may elevate CD diagnosis in adulthood (Al-Saadi and Abid, 2009).

#### 4.2 The Gender of patients and control groups

The data of the study presented in Figure 3.1 showed that there are more females both in the patients and the controls groups, in patients the percentage of the affected female was 75.6% while the male was 24.4% with statistical difference regarding the gender observed (p=0.045). This fact was shown in many researches which declared that the CD is predominant more in the women (Dixit et al., 2014) like most other autoimmune diseases (Quintero et al., 2012), Hameed and his research colleagues also reported that CD is more in women than in men (Hameed et al., 2016) while Green and his team illustrated that female to male ratio was 2.9:1 (Green et al., 2001), but mostly with no difference between the two genders in relation to the age onset or the mode of the clinical manifestation of the CD disease (Bai et al., 2005, Caio et al., 2019a).

#### 4.3 Anemia in patients of Celiac Disease and control groups

Anemia is a common presentation in CD and can be a preliminary symptom of the patients (Mahadev et al., 2018). The observations in this study illustrated that most of patients had anemia(57.8%) with a variable degrees of lowered Hb level, while in the control group the anemia which could be of different causes, 35.6% with significant difference comprised a between the two groups(p=0.034). These results are compatible with the most published researches which studied the anemia in CD (Laurikka et al., 2018). It is well known that CD is an autoimmune disease with a subsequent destruction of the intestinal villi that leads to decreased the mucosal surface with a secondary diminished absorption of minerals including the iron(Stefanelli et al., 2020).

Measurement of serum ferritin ,one of the tools to assess the iron deficiency anemia was applied in this study and results obtained show that 77.8% of patients group had low serum ferritin in comparison with the control group(37.8%) with a significant difference (p=0.001) (Table 3.2). This outcome has been previously illustrated in many articles (Wierdsma et al., 2013, Mahadev et al., 2018, Scricciolo et al., 2020) .

In Iraq, several articles focused on the association between the CD and both iron deficiency anemia and the low serum ferritin (Majeed, 2021).

## 4.4 Clinical manifestations of patients with CD in respect to the gender

Concerning the association between gender and clinical manifestations, the numbers clarify that both male and female patient present intestinal ( like abdominal pain, bloating and nausea) manifestation and extra-intestinal ( like short stature and osteoporosis) manifestations with no significant difference between the two genders (p=0.402) as seen in Table 3.3.This outcome was previously reported by other researchers (Laurikka et al., 2018).Dian Bai *et al* showed that there are no difference regarding the age of onset or the mode of presentation between male and female(Bai et al., 2005). Other studies concluded that the clinical signs are more recorded in female, partly due the higher incidence of CD in female (Rubio-Tapia et al., 2016).

The numbers in the Table 3.3 show that the females of the patient group had lower level of Hb and serum ferritin than the males in the same group with significant difference observed between the two groups( p values for HB &serum ferritin were 0.002 & 0.032 respectively). These data are in concordance with articles done by other authors (Ciacci et al., 1995). The female predominance of celiac disease and the menstrual loss of blood and other

stressful conditions may explain the higher women incidence of iron deficiency anemia than male(Abu-Zeid et al., 2014, Stefanelli et al., 2020).

## 4.5 Serum level measurement of anti-tTG IgA in the patients and control groups

In this study the level of anti-tTG IgA was analyzed since the measurement of this antibody is recognized as powerful diagnostic tool of CD (Germenis et al., 2005). The data showed that the patients who had positive values were 32 out of 45 (71.1%) and those that had negative results were 13 out of the total 45 most of whom were at borderline levels. In the control group, the negative results were 95.6% and the positive results were 2 out of 45(0.04%), with a lower mean than the patient group that showed significant difference (p=0.001). These results are compatible with those published by other authors (Klapp et al., 2013). The positive values in the control group may occur as reported in some articles (Lewis and Scott, 2006). The sensitivity of the anti tTG-IgA for untreated CD is about 93.0 % and the specificity is also 96.5% (Lewis and Scott, 2010, Lebwohl et al., 2018), while in another older study the tTG sensitivity was 92% of untreated patients (Troncone et al., 1999).

The lower positivity of the anti tTG-IgA (71.1%) in this study might be due to IgA deficiency as previously suggested by Absah et al (Absah et al., 2017) or seronegative villous atrophy CD patients (Aziz et al., 2017). Also CD patients whom suffered from malnourishment and failure to get weight may show negative score of anti tTG-IgA (Aldaghi et al., 2016).

Anti-tTG test of IgG type was not used in this study because the precision of an isolated positive values of IgG to tTG (with negative values of IgA to tTG) in diagnosing CD is unknown and may not detect CD in the presence negative scores of anti tTG-IgA (Absah et al., 2017).

As stated by the WGO diagnostic protocol, tTG are an acceptable representative of the EMA antibodies, especially in countries with limited resources ("The EMA test needs expert observers, and detecting tTG antibodies using ELISA tests should therefore be recommended in settings with low expertise")(Bai et al., 2013, Ludvigsson et al., 2014).The WGO advise the assessment of the available local resources to develop a diagnostic protocol.

## **4.6** Serum level measurement of anti-DGP IgG in the patients and control groups

The usage of anti-DGP IgG in celiac disease detection is of more sensitivity and specificity of the naïve gliadin antibodies and it was seen to be a superior in the detection rate than some other serological tests of CD (Vermeersch et al., 2010). In this study the positive level of anti DGP in the patient group 93.3% (42 out the total 45) while in the control group ,the positive cases were just 4 out of 45 with clear significant difference observed between the two groups (p< 0.05). Even in the 4 positive control cases, their scores were so close to the cutoff points (borderline level), These results are compatible with several recent researches executed globally (Kelly et al., 2015). Few articles concluded that anti-DGP can occur in healthy control or other disorders like gluten ataxia(Rashtak et al., 2011).

In this study anti DGP-IgA test was not conducted as a result of lower sensitivity by using anti DGP-IgA (87.8%) than anti tTG-IgA (93%) with no significant differences between the two tests (Lewis and Scott, 2010), furthermore anti DGP-IgG was carried out to detect CD in patients with negative anti tTG-IgA(Tonutti and Bizzaro, 2014) on the other hand the anti DGP-IgG has sensitivity of 98% and specificity range(90.3%-100%)(Schyum and Rumessen, 2013), L.Chaisemartin *et al* insisted on that anti-DGP was a sensitive predictive marker for detecting and following CD patient and it's widely

expressed in the serum CD patients, especially those with villous atrophy.(de Chaisemartin et al., 2015).

Detection of the serum levels of the antibodies (anti tTG-IgA and anti DGP-IgG) in this study was achieved by utilizing quantitative calculation of the data giving more precision for the diagnosis in contrast to some laboratories that yield semi-quantitative results producing uncertain assessment (Tucci et al., 2014).

### 4.7 IL-18 and sIL-2R as predictive markers for CD

#### immunopathogenesis

In this study, the serum positive results of sIL-2R in the patients group indicated in 21 out of 45 (46.7%) in comparison with 8 out of 45(17.8%) in the control group with a significant difference between the 2 groups(p=0.003) as seen in Table 3.5.These serum measurements were similar to other articles enrolled in CD and clarified that serum level of sIL-2R was higher in CD cases (especially in the untreated persons) than the control group (Kapoor et al., 2013).

Table 3.6 focused on the serum measurement of IL-18 in control and patient groups which showed that IL-18 positive results in CD patients were 68.9% while the positive control cases were just 6 out of 45 (13.3%) with a significant difference between the two groups (p=< 0.05). The pathogenic role of the IL-18 in the CD has been documented and it's found that it induces the  $\gamma$ -INF and has effect on the epithelial apoptosis and induces the inflammation associated with intake of gluten(Garrote et al., 2008). It was seen that serum IL-18 was higher in CD patients more than the control and it was not highly enhanced in other inflammatory bowel diseases(Lettesjö et al., 2005, Sattler et al., 2015).

### 4.8 Distribution of the four serological markers in the patients group

The results illustrated that all markers analyzed in the study showed higher

positive serum levels in the patient groups, except for the sIL-2R which showed semi equal results between the negative and positive levels in the patient group (24 negative vs 21 positive measurements), in spite of that even the negative values were so close to the cutoff point which equals to160 ng/L. This results were in concordance with that published in 2019.(Vorobjova et al., 2019).

Table 3.7 shows that 68.9%(31 out of 45) of patients had positive results regarding IL-18 and 31.1%(14 out of 45) revealed negative levels. These percentages were similar to other articles studied the level of this proinflammatory cytokine in the CD which was seen to be more specific for CD than other inflammatory diseases (Lettesjö et al., 2005, Leach et al., 2007).

The association of the serum measurements of Anti-tTG IgA, Anti-DGP IgG, sIL-2R and IL-18 in the patient group as seen in Table 3.7, demonstrate a significant difference of p value= 0.001 which is compatible with other studies (Vorobjova et al., 2019).

### **4.9** The correlation of the serum markers among them and with the anemia parameters

In the Table 3.8, t-test was applied to show the correlation and the significance among the four serum markers enrolled in this study and with the anemia clinical parameters (Hb concentration and serum ferritin). There was a positive correlation among the tTG IgA and anti-DGP IgG, sIL-2R and IL-18(0.493,0.112 and 0.469) and a significance equals to 0.001,0.046 and 0.025 respectively). The correlation between tTG IgA and DGP IgG (the old and new tests of CD) was emphasized by E.Marietta *et al* who record r=0.8(Marietta *et al*., 2009). Also the correlation of anti-tTG IgA with the sIL-2R was consistent with that reported by an article published in 2019(Vorobjova et al., 2019). The IL-18 cytokines which was seen to be increased both in the serum and peripheral blood of patients with active CD, was observed to be correlated with other CD

#### **Chapter Four**

markers especially the anti-tTG(Lettesjö al., 2005).Tissue et serum transglutaminase autoantibodies play an essential role in initiation the inflammatory cascades after ingestion the dietary gluten ,leading eventually to duodenal villi destruction with a subsequent decreased mineral, including the iron with the consequent development of iron deficiency anemia(Freeman, 2015). In this study, there was significant negative correlation of anti-tTG with both the Hb and the serum ferritin, which means that increased serum tissue TG is associated with reduction in the blood factors and increasing the level of anemia in CD. These data are comparable with that obtained by A. Gangi et al (Ganji et al., 2014). Interestingly, the results published by D.Vini et al showed that there were no correlation between the anti-tTG and the development of anemia (Deora et al., 2017), which is different from the findings of this study. Negative correlation was also observed among the anemia markers (Hb) and anti-DGP, sIL-2R and IL-18 and serum ferritin with those three markers. As mentioned above that all the three serum measured markers (DGP,sIL-2R&IL-18) are associated with the inflammatory process which leads to villous atrophy and subsequent malabsorption of minerals, especially the iron and consequently the anemia (iron deficiency anemia) which is considered as the most common type in CD(Harper et al., 2007). Moreover anemia can be caused by folate or vitamin B12 deficiency in CD (Martín-Masot et al., 2019).

### **4.10** The distribution of the four serological markers in relation to the gender of patients

Concerning the relationship of the serum markers (tTG, DGP, sIL-2R & IL-18) with gender of patient group, Table 3.9 shows that the positive results of the serum markers in female are more than male, possibly due to that the female patients constitute the greater portion of the sample. In spite of that, there was no significant difference between both genders (p=0.422). This confirms that these markers are independent factors in both male and female patients of CD. An

article published in 2018,declared that there is no significant difference in the serum level of tTG between male and female patients with CD (Jansson-Knodell et al., 2018).The same manner regarding the level of anti-DGP IgG in both male and female celiac patients ,there was no significant difference in the positive records in both genders (p>0.05). Similar findings has been reported by other authors (Jansson-Knodell et al., 2018).

The sIL-2R, a lymphocyte activation marker was recorded as positive in 45.5% of the male and 47.1% of the female with no significant difference between the 2 genders. This findings is consistent with another article published in 2013 (Kapoor et al., 2013).

In relation to the distribution of the serum IL-18 in the patients group, the data show that 90.9% of male and 61.8% of female patients have positivity with no significant difference between the two genders(p>0.05). These data coincide with a research published by other authors (Leach et al., 2007).

### 4.11 Patients' serum values of IL-18 and sIL-2R in relation to both positive DGP-IgG and tTG-IgA or discrepant DGP-IgG and tTG-IgA

The Table 3.10 shows that 81% of CD patients with positive sIL-2R have also positive both tTG IgA and DGP IgG and only 19% of those patients will have positivity for either the tTG or DGP, while patients with negative sIL-2R recorded 50%(12 out of 24) get positivity for both tTG and DGP and 50% recorded positivity for one of these auto-antibodies with a significance between both groups(positive and negative sIL-2R patient) was (p=0.031). This refers to that CD is an inflammatory process with multiple involvement of several inflammatory mediators with the subsequent arising of the histological and clinical disorders coordinated with the celiac sprue. The usage of more than one test is beneficial in diagnosing and following up CD patients since for example

there are cases who showed seronegative results, the combined usage of IgG-DGP and IgA-tTG will increase the sensitivity of diagnosis up to 100% and specificity to 97% (Anaya et al., 2013, Iervasi et al., 2020).

Regarding the association of the patients with triple positivity IL-18, tTG and DGP recorded 23 cases (74.2%), while only 8(25.8%) patients had positivity for IL-18 and for either tTG-IgA or DGP-IgG. Patients with negative IL-18 with double positivity for tTG and DGP scored only 6 out of 14(42.9%), and 8 of such patients (57.1%) had positivity for either the tTG or DGP. There was significant difference between the patients with positive and negative results of IL-18 in relation to double or single positivity of tTG and DGP(p=0.042). Several studies have been conducted with the aim of elucidating the effect of serum IL-18 together with tTG IgA in untreated CD and they found positive correlation and increased number of both markers(Lettesjö et al., 2005). Presence of celiac cases with selective IgA deficiency is a detectable problem which may interfere with the diagnosis of CD if it depends only on IgA tests (Chow et al., 2012) and so multiple tests were used in this study to increase the diagnosis level.

#### 4.12 MARSH histological grades in relation to patients' gender

The histological examination of upper small intestine biopsy is still considered as the gold standard method of diagnosis of celiac disease in most cases. Correlation of the histological examination with the clinical and serological information are essential to reach the final diagnosis(Kalhan et al., 2011). The MARSH system was introduced as a grading system for the histological changes associated with CD and still used till now(Peña, 2015). In this study, both male and female patients showed that most of them have MARSH grade I ,while there was predominance of the female for the other grades(II &III), probably due to the higher number of the female patients group in this study, as illustrated in Table 3.11. In spite of these data

differences, there was no significant differences (p>0.05) between male and female in relation to the histological changes(MARSH grading) of CD. This matter concordant with other studies (Kalhan et al., 2011).

### 4.13 Patients' MARSH histological grades in association with the serological markers results

As mentioned above the accuracy of the diagnosis of CD is increased by combining the intestinal biopsy interpretation and the serological testing for the patients of CD. Table 3.12 explains the association between the four serological markers enrolled, with the MARSH grades of the biopsies examined in this study. It was noticed that there was significant differences(p=0.009) between the patients with positive and negative values of anti-tTG IgA regarding the histological markers and it seems that the elevation of this autoantibody is associated with progressive intestinal damage interpreted by the MARSH grading. This finding is in agreement with several studies that showed the association of anti tTG with the histological grading of CD (Hawamdeh et al., 2016, Jora et al., 2017). Regarding the results of anti-DGP IgG, there was clear differences between the positive and negative results of this serum marker in the patients group rendering this antibody as a good diagnostic tool but when applied with the intestinal histological examination, the results showed no significance in regarding the MARSH grades(p=0.854), this might be due to all cases enrolled in this study were newly diagnosed and anti-DGP is the first antibody detected at the beginning of CD inflammatory process(Lammi et al., 2015). This matter is coincided with other authors who proposed that there is no significant association between the anti-DGP antibody and the MARSH grades (Hoerter et al., 2017). Conversely, there were authors who focused on the high association of the anti DGP with the MARSH grading of the CD (de Chaisemartin et al., 2015). The positive values of sIL-2R in concerned with MARSH grades were (17 in grade I, 2 in grade II and 2 in grade III) with a significant difference (p=0.001). Other articles documented the positive association of sIL-2R with the degree of small intestinal mucosal damage (Vorobjova et al., 2019). The essential role of the proinflammatory mediator, IL-18 was explored and it showed great influence on  $\gamma$ -INF production which has a central role in the inflammatory scenario of CD (Lettesjö et al., 2005, Masaebi et al., 2020). In this study, IL-18 positive results were distributed within the grades of MARSH as the following; 19 cases in grade I,7 cases in grade II and 5 in grade III with significant difference from the negative cases (p =0.024). Such association of IL-18 with the MARSH grading was cleared up in other articles (Heydari et al., 2018, Masaebi et al., 2020).

### **CHAPTER FIVE**

## **CONCLUSIONS** AND **RECOMMENDATIONS**

### **Chapter Five**

### 5.1 Conclusions

Depending on the results obtained from this study, several conclusions can be briefly listed below:

1- Two inflammatory mediators (cytokines ) were selected in this study; sIL-2R and IL-18 which participate in the immunopathogenesis of CD. Both of them showed remarkable rise of their serum levels in patients with CD including both gender in comparison to the control group. So the inflammatory process associated with CD can be monitored by detecting the serum level of these cytokines, thereby physicians can predict the severity of CD, clinical outcome and the Gluten free diet compliance.

2-The usage of anti-DGP IgG has beneficial role for diagnosing CD in patients with total IgA deficiency in whom serum level of anti-tTG IgA are negative.

**3-** The data of this research show that markers were applied in this study (antitTG IgA, anti-DGP IgG, sIL-2R and IL-18) give positive inter correlation among them, and so focusing about the multifactorial inflammatory process of the CD. These four serum markers showed negative correlation with both the Hb and serum ferritin level, making them good predictors of the anemic status of the patients with CD.

**4-**Anti-tTG IgA and anti-DGP IgG were applied in this study and both showed great degree of serum level rise in the patients with CD more than the control group indicating that the antibody profile of CD is still the best serological tool for diagnosis and differentiation from other clinical conditions with similar manifestations.

**5-** The biopsy examination applied in this study shows that there was no significant difference of the histopathological changes between male and female patients referring that the intestinal mucosal injury due to the active CD occurs in both genders .

**6**-The study data conducted that there was a significant association of the positive results of anti-tTG IgA, sIL-2R and IL-18 with different MARSH grading. The only exception was the anti-DGP IgG level which was scored positivity in patients with the MARSH grading but with no significant difference among the 3 grades, because all patients were newly diagnosed for CD in addition to that the increase of anti-DGP IgG level preceding the rise of other antibody levels and the intestinal mucosal changes, a truth proved by other articles.

**7-**In this study females were more affected with CD than males like most other AID, a finding that comes with many studies.

**8-**Low leveled hemoglobin and low serum ferritin were seen in most of patients affected with CD as a remarkable manifestation different from the general population, a fact proved by numerous studies.

**9-**Being CD have different presentations ,the combining study of different serum markers in diagnosing & monitoring CD will be more informative, boost the sensitivity of the diagnosis and will reduce the number of missed diagnosed cases.

### 5.2 Recommendations

Some propositions are advised to be estimated for the detection of numerous factors included in the inflammatory process in CD patients, these are:

1- Planning for a national screening program for celiac disease covering variable age groups is recommended to discover the unknown cases, since CD is an iceberg-like condition with the hidden cases are more than the discovered and its incidence is increasing.

**2-** Patients attending health centers with chronic anemia and low serum ferritin are mandatory to be examined for serological and histological investigations to rule out CD.

**3-** Since CD has a genetic basis; so genetic counseling is preferred to prove the diagnosis in the suspected cases, in addition to that first degree relatives for a patient with CD should be advised for Celiac screening with HLA typing.

**4-** For a definite diagnosis of CD, combination of clinical, serological and histological findings is recommended.

5- Since the histological changes associated with CD can mimic other conditions, so adding other techniques like giemsa stain to exclude infectious causes of villous atrophy and immunohistochemical stain to point out the duodenal IEL.

Ø

### REFERENCES

- ABADIE, V., SOLLID, L. M., BARREIRO, L. B. & JABRI, B. 2011. Integration of genetic and immunological insights into a model of celiac disease pathogenesis. *Annual review of immunology*, 29, 493-525.
- ABBAS, A. K., TROTTA, E., SIMEONOV, D. R., MARSON, A. & BLUESTONE, J. A. 2018. Revisiting IL-2: Biology and therapeutic prospects. *Science immunology*, 3.
- ABBASI, Z., NEZHAD, S. R. K., POURMAHDI-BROOJENI, M. & RAJAEI, E. 2017. Association of PTPN22 rs2476601 Polymorphism with rheumatoid arthritis and celiac disease in Khuzestan province, southwestern Iran. *Iranian Biomedical Journal*, 21, 61.
- ABENAVOLI, L., DASTOLI, S., BENNARDO, L., BOCCUTO, L., PASSANTE, M., SILVESTRI, M., PROIETTI, I., POTENZA, C., LUZZA, F. & NISTICò, S. P. 2019. The skin in celiac disease patients: the other side of the coin. *Medicina*, 55, 578.
- ABSAH, I., RISHI, A. R., GEBRAIL, R., SNYDER, M. R. & MURRAY, J. A. 2017. Lack of utility of anti-tTG IgG to diagnose celiac disease when anti-tTG IgA is negative. *Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition*, 64, 726-729.
- ABU-ZEID, Y. A., JASEM, W. S., LEBWOHL, B., GREEN, P. H. & ELGHAZALI, G. 2014. Seroprevalence of celiac disease among United Arab Emirates healthy adult nationals: a gender disparity. *World Journal of Gastroenterology: WJG*, 20, 15830.
- ADMOU, B., ESSAADOUNI, L., KRATI, K., ZAHER, K., SBIHI, M., CHABAA, L., BELAABIDIA, B. & ALAOUI-YAZIDI, A. 2012. Atypical celiac disease: from recognizing to managing. *Gastroenterology Research and Practice*, 2012.
- AGARWAL, A., CHAUHAN, A., AHUJA, V. & MAKHARIA, G. K. 2020. Opportunities and challenges in the management of celiac disease in Asia. *JGH Open*, 4, 795-799.
- AGGARWAL, S., LEBWOHL, B. & GREEN, P. H. 2012. Screening for celiac disease in average-risk and high-risk populations. *Therapeutic advances in gastroenterology*, 5, 37-47.
- AIRAKSINEN, L., MYLLYMäKI, L., KAUKINEN, K., SAAVALAINEN, P., HUHTALA, H., LINDFORS, K. & KURPPA, K. 2020. Differences Between Familial and Sporadic Celiac Disease. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 1-8.
- AKOBENG, A. & THOMAS, A. 2008. Systematic review: tolerable amount of gluten for people with coeliac disease. *Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics*, 27, 1044-1052.

- AL-AJLAN, A. S. 2016. Screening of coeliac disease in undetected adults and patients diagnosed with irritable bowel syndrome in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. *Saudi journal of biological sciences*, 23, 462-466.
- AL-HUSSAINI, A., ALHARTHI, H., OSMAN, A., ELTAYEB-ELSHEIKH, N. & CHENTOUFI, A. 2018. Genetic susceptibility for celiac disease is highly prevalent in the Saudi population. *Saudi journal of gastroenterology: official journal of the Saudi Gastroenterology Association*, 24, 268.
- AL-SAADI, H. A. & ABID, A. H. 2009. Celiac disease in Karbala. *Journal of Kerbala University*, 7, 51-61.
- AL-SHOBAILI, H. A., AHMED, A. A., ALNOMAIR, N., ALOBEAD, Z. A. & RASHEED, Z. 2016. Molecular genetic of atopic dermatitis: an update. *International journal of health sciences*, 10, 96.
- AL-TOMA, A., VOLTA, U., AURICCHIO, R., CASTILLEJO, G., SANDERS, D. S., CELLIER, C., MULDER, C. J. & LUNDIN, K. E. 2019. European Society for the Study of Coeliac Disease (ESsCD) guideline for coeliac disease and other gluten-related disorders. *United European gastroenterology journal*, 7, 583-613.
- AL HATLANI, M. M. 2015. Prevalence of celiac disease among symptom-free children from the Eastern Province of Saudi Arabia. *Saudi journal of gastroenterology: official journal of the Saudi Gastroenterology Association*, 21, 367.
- ALDAGHI, M.-A., DEHGHANI, S.-M. & HAGHIGHAT, M. 2016. Evaluation of the correlation between tTG-IgA titer and duodenal biopsy findings in children with suspected celiac disease. *Iranian journal of pediatrics*, 26.
- ALINA, P., JUHA, T., PAOLO, G., PAOLA, P., CLAUDIA, C., CARMELA, L., ANGELO, A., MARKKU, M. & JORMA, I. 2020. A New Intraepithelial γδ T-Lymphocyte Marker for Celiac Disease Classification in Formalin-Fixed Paraffin-Embedded (FFPE) Duodenal Biopsies. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 1-7.
- ALPER, A., ROJAS-VELASQUEZ, D. & PASHANKAR, D. S. 2018. Prevalence of anti-tissue transglutaminase antibodies and celiac disease in children with inflammatory bowel disease. *Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition*, 66, 934-936.
- ALTOBELLI, E., DEL NEGRO, V., ANGELETTI, P. M. & LATELLA, G. 2017. Low-FODMAP diet improves irritable bowel syndrome symptoms: a metaanalysis. *Nutrients*, 9, 940.
- ANAYA, J.-M., SHOENFELD, Y., ROJAS-VILLARRAGA, A., LEVY, R. A. & CERVERA, R. 2013. Autoimmunity: from bench to bedside [internet].
- ARONSSON, C. A., LEE, H.-S., AF SEGERSTAD, E. M. H., UUSITALO, U., YANG, J., KOLETZKO, S., LIU, E., KURPPA, K., BINGLEY, P. J. & TOPPARI, J. 2019. Association of gluten intake during the first 5 years of life with incidence of celiac disease autoimmunity and celiac disease among children at increased risk. *Jama*, 322, 514-523.

- ASSANDRI, R. & MONTANELLI, A. 2019. Diagnosis of gluten-related enteropathy in a newborn: how and when? *Gastroenterology and hepatology from bed to bench*, 12, 278.
- ATTARWALA, H. 2016. Multi-compartmental oral delivery systems for silencing intestinal tissue transglutaminase-2 and interleukin-15 genes in the treatment of celiac disease.
- AZIZ, I., PEERALLY, M. F., BARNES, J.-H., KANDASAMY, V., WHITELEY, J. C., PARTRIDGE, D., VERGANI, P., CROSS, S. S., GREEN, P. H. & SANDERS, D. S. 2017. The clinical and phenotypical assessment of seronegative villous atrophy; a prospective UK centre experience evaluating 200 adult cases over a 15-year period (2000–2015). *Gut*, 66, 1563-1572.
- BADIZADEGAN, K., VANLANDINGHAM, D. M., HAMPTON, W. & THOMPSON, K. M. 2020. Value of biopsy in a cohort of children with hightiter celiac serologies: observation of dynamic policy differences between Europe and North America. *BMC Health Services Research*, 20, 962.
- BAI, D., BRAR, P., HOLLERAN, S., RAMAKRISHNAN, R. & GREEN, P. H. 2005. Effect of gender on the manifestations of celiac disease: evidence for greater malabsorption in men. *Scandinavian journal of gastroenterology*, 40, 183-187.
- BAI, J. C., FRIED, M., CORAZZA, G. R., SCHUPPAN, D., FARTHING, M., CATASSI, C., GRECO, L., COHEN, H., CIACCI, C. & ELIAKIM, R. 2013.
  World Gastroenterology Organisation global guidelines on celiac disease. *Journal of clinical gastroenterology*, 47, 121-126.
- BAI, J. C. & VERDú, E. F. 2017. The CD That Pays Dividends: More Than 15 Years of Deamidated Gliadin Peptide Antibodies. Springer.
- BAKKER, S. F., TUSHUIZEN, M. E., STOKVIS-BRANTSMA, W. H., AANSTOOT, H. J., WINTERDIJK, P., VAN SETTEN, P. A., VON BLOMBERG, B. M., MULDER, C. J. & SIMSEK, S. 2013. Frequent delay of coeliac disease diagnosis in symptomatic patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus: clinical and genetic characteristics. *European journal of internal medicine*, 24, 456-460.
- BALABAN, D. V., POPP, A., IONITA RADU, F. & JINGA, M. 2019. Hematologic manifestations in celiac disease—a practical review. *Medicina*, 55, 373.
- BAO, F., GREEN, P. H. & BHAGAT, G. 2012. An update on celiac disease histopathology and the road ahead. *Archives of pathology & laboratory medicine*, 136, 735-745.
- BARADA, K., DAYA, H. A., ROSTAMI, K. & CATASSI, C. 2012. Celiac disease in the developing world. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy Clinics*, 22, 773-796.
- BARKER, A. V. & PILBEAM, D. J. 2015. *Handbook of plant nutrition*, CRC press.

- BAXTER, M. F., DRIDI, S., KOLTES, D. A., LATORRE, J. D., BOTTJE, W. G., GREENE, E. S., BICKLER, S. W., KIM, J. H., MERINO-GUZMAN, R. & HERNANDEZ-VELASCO, X. 2019. Evaluation of intestinal permeability and liver bacterial translocation in two modern broilers and their jungle fowl ancestor. *Frontiers in genetics*, 10, 480.
- BEKSAC, K., ÖRGUL, G., ÇAĞAN, M., KARAAĞAOĞLU, E., ARSLAN, S. & BEKSAC, M. S. 2017. Retrospective evaluation of pregnant women with celiac disease. *Journal of the Turkish German Gynecological Association*, 18, 56.

BEYERLEIN, A., DONNACHIE, E. & ZIEGLER, A.-G. 2017. Infections in early life and development of celiac disease. *American journal of epidemiology*, 186, 1277-1280.

- BIAGI, F., GOBBI, P., MARCHESE, A., BORSOTTI, E., ZINGONE, F., CIACCI, C., VOLTA, U., CAIO, G., CARROCCIO, A. & AMBROSIANO, G. 2014. Low incidence but poor prognosis of complicated coeliac disease: a retrospective multicentre study. *Digestive and Liver Disease*, 46, 227-230.
- BIESIEKIERSKI, J. R. 2017. What is gluten? *Journal of gastroenterology and hepatology*, 32, 78-81.
- BIESIEKIERSKI, J. R., PETERS, S. L., NEWNHAM, E. D., ROSELLA, O., MUIR, J. G. & GIBSON, P. R. 2013. No effects of gluten in patients with selfreported non-celiac gluten sensitivity after dietary reduction of fermentable, poorly absorbed, short-chain carbohydrates. *Gastroenterology*, 145, 320-328. e3.
- BISCHOFF, S. C., BARBARA, G., BUURMAN, W., OCKHUIZEN, T., SCHULZKE, J.-D., SERINO, M., TILG, H., WATSON, A. & WELLS, J. M. 2014. Intestinal permeability–a new target for disease prevention and therapy. *BMC gastroenterology*, 14, 1-25.
- BOGDANOS, D. P., SMYK, D. S., RIGOPOULOU, E. I., MYTILINAIOU, M. G., HENEGHAN, M. A., SELMI, C. & GERSHWIN, M. E. 2012. Twin studies in autoimmune disease: genetics, gender and environment. *Journal of autoimmunity*, 38, J156-J169.
- BRANDTZAEG, P. 2011. The gut as communicator between environment and host: immunological consequences. *European journal of pharmacology*, 668, S16-S32.
- BRUNO, B. J., MILLER, G. D. & LIM, C. S. 2013. Basics and recent advances in peptide and protein drug delivery. *Therapeutic delivery*, 4, 1443-1467.
- BUDAGIAN, V., BULANOVA, E., PAUS, R. & BULFONE-PAUS, S. 2006. IL-15/IL-15 receptor biology: a guided tour through an expanding universe. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews*, 17, 259-280.
- CAIO, G., LUNGARO, L., SEGATA, N., GUARINO, M., ZOLI, G., VOLTA, U. & DE GIORGIO, R. 2020. Effect of gluten-free diet on gut microbiota composition in patients with celiac disease and non-celiac gluten/wheat sensitivity. *Nutrients*, 12, 1832.

- CAIO, G., VOLTA, U., SAPONE, A., LEFFLER, D. A., DE GIORGIO, R., CATASSI, C. & FASANO, A. 2019a. Celiac disease: a comprehensive current review. *BMC medicine*, 17, 1-20.
- CAIO, G., VOLTA, U., URSINI, F., MANFREDINI, R. & DE GIORGIO, R. 2019b. Small bowel adenocarcinoma as a complication of celiac disease: clinical and diagnostic features. *BMC gastroenterology*, 19, 1-9.
- CAJA, S., MäKI, M., KAUKINEN, K. & LINDFORS, K. 2011. Antibodies in celiac disease: implications beyond diagnostics. *Cellular & molecular immunology*, 8, 103-109.
- CAMARCA, M. E., MOZZILLO, E., NUGNES, R., ZITO, E., FALCO, M., FATTORUSSO, V., MOBILIA, S., BUONO, P., VALERIO, G. & TRONCONE, R. 2012. Celiac disease in type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Italian journal of pediatrics*, 38, 1-7.
- CAMILLERI, M., LASCH, K. & ZHOU, W. 2012. Irritable bowel syndrome: methods, mechanisms, and pathophysiology. The confluence of increased permeability, inflammation, and pain in irritable bowel syndrome. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*.
- CANOVA, C., ZABEO, V., PITTER, G., ROMOR, P., BALDOVIN, T., ZANOTTI, R. & SIMONATO, L. 2014. Association of maternal education, early infections, and antibiotic use with celiac disease: a population-based birth cohort study in northeastern Italy. *American journal of epidemiology*, 180, 76-85.
- CAPPELLO, M., MORREALE, G. C. & LICATA, A. 2016. Elderly onset celiac disease: a narrative review. *Clinical Medicine Insights: Gastroenterology*, 9, CGast. S38454.
- CARROCCIO, A., MANSUETO, P., IACONO, G., SORESI, M., D'ALCAMO, A., CAVATAIO, F., BRUSCA, I., FLORENA, A. M., AMBROSIANO, G. & SEIDITA, A. 2012. Non-celiac wheat sensitivity diagnosed by double-blind placebo-controlled challenge: exploring a new clinical entity. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 107, 1898-1906.
- CASTILLO, N. E., THEETHIRA, T. G. & LEFFLER, D. A. 2015. The present and the future in the diagnosis and management of celiac disease. *Gastroenterology report*, 3, 3-11.
- CATASSI, C., ALAEDINI, A., BOJARSKI, C., BONAZ, B., BOUMA, G., CARROCCIO, A., CASTILLEJO, G., DE MAGISTRIS, L., DIETERICH, W. & DI LIBERTO, D. 2017. The overlapping area of non-celiac gluten sensitivity (NCGS) and wheat-sensitive irritable bowel syndrome (IBS): An update. *Nutrients*, 9, 1268.
- CATASSI, C. & CATASSI, G. N. 2018. The puzzling relationship between human leukocyte antigen HLA genes and celiac disease. *Saudi journal of gastroenterology: official journal of the Saudi Gastroenterology Association*, 24, 257.

CATASSI, C. & FASANO, A. 2010. Celiac disease diagnosis: simple rules are better than complicated algorithms. *The American journal of medicine*, 123, 691-693.

CATASSI, C., GATTI, S. & FASANO, A. 2014. The New Epidemiology of Celiac Disease. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, 59, S7-S9.

- CEROSALETTI, K., SCHNEIDER, A., SCHWEDHELM, K., FRANK, I., TATUM, M., WEI, S., WHALEN, E., GREENBAUM, C., KITA, M. & BUCKNER, J. 2013. Multiple autoimmune-associated variants confer decreased IL-2R signaling in CD4+ CD25 hi T cells of type 1 diabetic and multiple sclerosis patients. *PloS one*, 8, e83811.
- CHAUDHARY, N. & WESEMANN, D. R. 2018. Analyzing immunoglobulin repertoires. *Frontiers in immunology*, 9, 462.
- CHOW, M. A., LEBWOHL, B., REILLY, N. R. & GREEN, P. H. 2012. Immunoglobulin A deficiency in celiac disease. *Journal of clinical gastroenterology*, 46, 850-854.
- CIACCI, C., CIRILLO, M., SOLLAZZO, R., SAVINO, G., SABBATINI, F. & MAZZACCA, G. 1995. Gender and clinical presentation in adult celiac disease. *Scandinavian journal of gastroenterology*, 30, 1077-1081.
- CIACCIO, E. J., LEWIS, S. K., BIVIANO, A. B., IYER, V., GARAN, H. & GREEN, P. H. 2017. Cardiovascular involvement in celiac disease. *World journal of cardiology*, 9, 652.
- CIANFERONI, A. 2016. Wheat allergy: diagnosis and management. *Journal of asthma and allergy*, 9, 13.
- CIANFERONI, A., KHULLAR, K., SALTZMAN, R., FIEDLER, J., GARRETT, J. P., NAIMI, D. R. & SPERGEL, J. M. 2013. Oral food challenge to wheat: a near-fatal anaphylaxis and review of 93 food challenges in children. *World Allergy Organization Journal*, 6, 1-10.
- CIANFERONI, A. & SPERGEL, J. M. 2015. Eosinophilic esophagitis and gastroenteritis. *Current allergy and asthma reports*, 15, 1-15.
- CZAJA-BULSA, G. 2015. Non coeliac gluten sensitivity–A new disease with gluten intolerance. *Clinical nutrition*, 34, 189-194.
- D'ANGELO, M., CASTELLI, V., TUPONE, M. G., CATANESI, M., ANTONOSANTE, A., DOMINGUEZ-BENOT, R., IPPOLITI, R., CIMINI, A. M. & BENEDETTI, E. 2019. Lifestyle and food habits impact on chronic diseases: Roles of PPARs. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 20, 5422.
- DALIN, F., NORDLING ERIKSSON, G., DAHLQVIST, P., HALLGREN, Å., WAHLBERG, J., EKWALL, O., SöDERBERG, S., RöNNELID, J., OLCEN, P. & WINQVIST, O. 2017. Clinical and immunological characteristics of autoimmune Addison disease: a nationwide Swedish multicenter study. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 102, 379-389.
- DAMOISEAUX, J. 2020. The IL-2–IL-2 receptor pathway in health and disease: The role of the soluble IL-2 receptor. *Clinical Immunology*, 108515.

- DE CHAISEMARTIN, L., MEATCHI, T., MALAMUT, G., FERNANI-OUKIL, F., HOSKING, F., RAULT, D., BELLERY, F., CELLIER, C. & DRAGON-DUREY, M.-A. 2015. Application of deamidated gliadin antibodies in the follow-up of treated celiac disease. *PloS one*, 10, e0136745.
- DE RE, V., MAGRIS, R. & CANNIZZARO, R. 2017. New insights into the pathogenesis of celiac disease. *Frontiers in medicine*, 4, 137.
- DELBUE, D., CARDOSO-SILVA, D., BRANCHI, F., ITZLINGER, A., LETIZIA, M., SIEGMUND, B. & SCHUMANN, M. 2019. Celiac Disease Monocytes Induce a Barrier Defect in Intestinal Epithelial Cells. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 20, 5597.
- DEORA, V., AYLWARD, N., SOKORO, A. & EL-MATARY, W. 2017. Serum vitamins and minerals at diagnosis and follow-up in children with celiac disease. *Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition*, 65, 185-189.
- DEWAR, D. H., DONNELLY, S. C., MCLAUGHLIN, S. D., JOHNSON, M. W., ELLIS, H. J. & CICLITIRA, P. J. 2012. Celiac disease: management of persistent symptoms in patients on a gluten-free diet. *World journal of* gastroenterology: WJG, 18, 1348.
- DI SABATINO, A., BRUNETTI, L., MAFFE, G. C., GIUFFRIDA, P. & CORAZZA, G. R. 2013. Is it worth investigating splenic function in patients with celiac disease? *World journal of gastroenterology: WJG*, 19, 2313.
- DI SIMONE, N., DE SPIRITO, M., DI NICUOLO, F., TERSIGNI, C., CASTELLANI, R., SILANO, M., MAULUCCI, G., PAPI, M., MARANA, R. & SCAMBIA, G. 2013. Potential new mechanisms of placental damage in celiac disease: anti-transglutaminase antibodies impair human endometrial angiogenesis. *Biology of reproduction*, 89, 88, 1-11.
- DIACONESCU, I., ALEXANDRU, G., CARPA, R., LUPAN, I., CRISAN, C., SUR, L., SUR, G. & GIRBOVAN, A. 2016. Too few studies provided a link between viral infections and celiac disease. *Int J Celiac Dis*, 4, 135-137.
- DIXIT, R., LEBWOHL, B., LUDVIGSSON, J. F., LEWIS, S. K., RIZKALLA-REILLY, N. & GREEN, P. H. 2014. Celiac disease is diagnosed less frequently in young adult males. *Digestive diseases and sciences*, 59, 1509-1512.
- DIXON, K. O. & KUCHROO, V. K. 2020. IL-18: throwing off the shackles to boost anti-tumor immunity. *Cell Research*, 30, 831-832.
- DOERSCH, K. M., DELLOSTRITTO, D. J. & NEWELL-ROGERS, M. K. 2017. The contribution of interleukin-2 to effective wound healing. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 242, 384-396.
- DOMSA, E., BERINDAN-NEAGOE, I., PARA, I., MUNTEANU, L., MATEI, D. & ANDREICA, V. 2020. Celiac disease: a multi-faceted medical condition. *Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, 71.
- DONDETI, M. F., EL-MAADAWY, E. A. & TALAAT, R. M. 2016. Hepatitisrelated hepatocellular carcinoma: Insights into cytokine gene polymorphisms. *World journal of gastroenterology*, 22, 6800.

- DU, Y., SHAN, L.-F., CAO, Z.-Z., FENG, J.-C. & CHENG, Y. 2018. Prevalence of celiac disease in patients with Down syndrome: a meta-analysis. *Oncotarget*, 9, 5387.
- DUBOIS, P. C., TRYNKA, G., FRANKE, L., HUNT, K. A., ROMANOS, J., CURTOTTI, A., ZHERNAKOVA, A., HEAP, G. A., ÁDáNY, R. & AROMAA, A. 2010. Multiple common variants for celiac disease influencing immune gene expression. *Nature genetics*, 42, 295-302.
- DUMIC, I., NORDIN, T., JECMENICA, M., STOJKOVIC LALOSEVIC, M., MILOSAVLJEVIC, T. & MILOVANOVIC, T. 2019. Gastrointestinal tract disorders in older age. *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 2019.
- EL-METWALLY, A., TOIVOLA, P., ALAHMARY, K., BAHKALI, S.,
  ALKHATHAAMI, A., ALSAQABI, M. K., AL AMMAR, S. A., JAWED, M. & ALOSAIMI, S. M. 2020. The Epidemiology of Celiac Disease in the General Population and High-Risk Groups in Arab Countries: A Systematic Review. *BioMed Research International*, 2020.
- ELFSTRöM, P., SUNDSTRöM, J. & LUDVIGSSON, J. F. 2014. Systematic review with meta-analysis: associations between coeliac disease and type 1 diabetes. *Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics*, 40, 1123-1132.
- ELLI, L., BRANCHI, F., TOMBA, C., VILLALTA, D., NORSA, L., FERRETTI, F., RONCORONI, L. & BARDELLA, M. T. 2015. Diagnosis of gluten related disorders: Celiac disease, wheat allergy and non-celiac gluten sensitivity. *World journal of gastroenterology: WJG*, 21, 7110.
- ELLI, L., FERRETTI, F., ORLANDO, S., VECCHI, M., MONGUZZI, E., RONCORONI, L. & SCHUPPAN, D. 2019. Management of celiac disease in daily clinical practice. *European journal of internal medicine*, 61, 15-24.
- EURELINGS, L. E., MIEDEMA, J. R., DALM, V. A., VAN DAELE, P. L., VAN HAGEN, P. M., VAN LAAR, J. A. & DIK, W. A. 2019. Sensitivity and specificity of serum soluble interleukin-2 receptor for diagnosing sarcoidosis in a population of patients suspected of sarcoidosis. *PLoS One*, 14, e0223897.
- FARINA, F., PICASCIA, S., PISAPIA, L., BARBA, P., VITALE, S., FRANZESE, A., MOZZILLO, E., GIANFRANI, C. & DEL POZZO G, G. 2019. HLA-DQA1 and HLA-DQB1 alleles, conferring susceptibility to celiac disease and type 1 diabetes, are more expressed than non-predisposing alleles and are coordinately regulated. *Cells*, 8, 751.
- FASANO, A. 2011. Zonulin and its regulation of intestinal barrier function: the biological door to inflammation, autoimmunity, and cancer. *Physiological reviews*.
- FASANO, A. & CATASSI, C. 2012. Celiac disease. New england journal of medicine, 367, 2419-2426.
- FASANO, A., SAPONE, A., ZEVALLOS, V. & SCHUPPAN, D. 2015. Nonceliac gluten sensitivity. *Gastroenterology*, 148, 1195-1204.

- FREEMAN, H. J. 2015. Iron deficiency anemia in celiac disease. *World Journal of Gastroenterology: WJG*, 21, 9233.
- FREEMAN, H. J. 2016. Endocrine manifestations in celiac disease. *World journal* of gastroenterology, 22, 8472.
- FRIKHA, F., SNOUSSI, M. & BAHLOUL, Z. 2012. Case Report-Osteomalacia associated with cutaneous psoriasis as the presenting feature of coeliac disease: A case report. *Pan African medical journal*, 11.
- GAGLIARDI, M., CLEMENTE, N., MONZANI, R., FUSARO, L., FERRARI, E., SAVERIO, V., GRIECO, G., PAŃCZYSZYN, E., CARTON, F. & SANTORO, C. 2021. Gut-Ex-Vivo system as a model to study gluten response in celiac disease. *Cell death discovery*, 7, 1-10.
- GANJI, A., ESMAIELZADEH, A., AGHAYEE, M. A., GOSHAYESHI, L. & GHAFFARZADEGAN, K. 2014. The clinical presentation of celiac disease: experiences from northeastern iran. *Middle East journal of digestive diseases*, 6, 93.
- GARCÍA-MOLINA, M. D. & BARRO, F. 2017. Characterization of Changes in Gluten Proteins in Low-Gliadin Transgenic Wheat Lines in Response to Application of Different Nitrogen Regimes. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 8.
- GARROTE, J. A., GóMEZ-GONZáLEZ, E., BERNARDO, D., ARRANZ, E. & CHIRDO, F. 2008. Celiac disease pathogenesis: the proinflammatory cytokine network. *Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition*, 47, S27-S32.
- GELLER, M. 2020. Clinical management of exercise-induced anaphylaxis and cholinergic urticaria. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice*, 8, 2209-2214.
- GERMENIS, A. E., YIANNAKI, E. E., ZACHOU, K., ROKA, V., BARBANIS, S., LIASKOS, C., ADAM, K., KAPSORITAKIS, A. N., POTAMIANOS, S. & DALEKOS, G. N. 2005. Prevalence and clinical significance of immunoglobulin A antibodies against tissue transglutaminase in patients with diverse chronic liver diseases. *Clinical and Vaccine Immunology*, 12, 941-948.
- GIL-HUMANES, J., PISTÓN, F., GIMENEZ, M. J., MARTÍN, A. & BARRO, F. 2012. The introgression of RNAi silencing of γ-gliadins into commercial lines of bread wheat changes the mixing and technological properties of the dough. *PLoS One*, *7*, e45937.
- GILI, M., BEJAR, L., RAMÍREZ, G., LÓPEZ, J., CABANILLAS, J. L. & SHARP, B. 2013. Enfermedad celiaca y trastornos por consumo de alcohol: prolongación de estancias, exceso de costes y mortalidad atribuible. *Revista Española de Enfermedades Digestivas*, 105, 537-543.
- GILISSEN, L. J., VAN DER MEER, I. M. & SMULDERS, M. J. 2016. Why oats are safe and healthy for celiac disease patients. *Medical Sciences*, 4, 21.
- GIRBOVAN, A., SUR, G., SAMASCA, G. & LUPAN, I. 2017. Dysbiosis a risk factor for celiac disease. *Medical microbiology and immunology*, 206, 83-91.
- GLIMBERG, I., HAGGåRD, L., LEBWOHL, B., GREEN, P. H. & LUDVIGSSON, J. F. 2021. The prevalence of celiac disease in women with

infertility—A systematic review with meta-analysis. *Reproductive Medicine and Biology*, 20, 224-233.

- GOLDSMITH, D., RAPAPORT, M. & MILLER, B. 2016. A meta-analysis of blood cytokine network alterations in psychiatric patients: comparisons between schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and depression. *Molecular psychiatry*, 21, 1696-1709.
- GOYAL, A., SHARMA, V., SIHAG, M. K., TOMAR, S., ARORA, S., SABIKHI, L. & SINGH, A. 2015. Development and physico-chemical characterization of microencapsulated flaxseed oil powder: A functional ingredient for omega-3 fortification. *Powder Technology*, 286, 527-537.

GREEN, P. H. & JABRI, B. 2006. Celiac disease. Annu. Rev. Med., 57, 207-221.

- GREEN, P. H., STAVROPOULOS, S. N., PANAGI, S. G., GOLDSTEIN, S. L., MCMAHON, D. J., ABSAN, H. & NEUGUT, A. I. 2001. Characteristics of adult celiac disease in the USA: results of a national survey. *The American journal of gastroenterology*, 96, 126-131.
- GREENSON, J. K. 2015. The biopsy pathology of non-coeliac enteropathy. *Histopathology*, 66, 29-36.
- GUJRAL, N., FREEMAN, H. J. & THOMSON, A. B. 2012. Celiac disease: prevalence, diagnosis, pathogenesis and treatment. *World journal of gastroenterology: WJG*, 18, 6036.
- GUNTHER, U., MOOS, V., OFFENMULLER, G., OELKERS, G., HEISE, W., MOTER, A., LODDENKEMPER, C. & SCHNEIDER, T. 2015. Gastrointestinal diagnosis of classical Whipple disease: clinical, endoscopic, and histopathologic features in 191 patients. *Medicine*, 94.
- HADITHI, M., VON BLOMBERG, B. M. E., CRUSIUS, J. B. A., BLOEMENA,
  E., KOSTENSE, P. J., MEIJER, J. W., MULDER, C. J., STEHOUWER, C. D.
  & PENA, A. S. 2007. Accuracy of serologic tests and HLA-DQ typing for diagnosing celiac disease. *Annals of internal medicine*, 147, 294-302.
- HADJIVASSILIOU, M. & CROALL, I. 2021. Neurological manifestations of gluten sensitivity. *Biotechnological Strategies for the Treatment of Gluten Intolerance*. Elsevier.
- HADJIVASSILIOU, M., CROALL, I. D., ZIS, P., SARRIGIANNIS, P. G., SANDERS, D. S., AESCHLIMANN, P., GRUNEWALD, R. A., ARMITAGE, P. A., CONNOLLY, D. & AESCHLIMANN, D. 2019. Neurologic deficits in patients with newly diagnosed celiac disease are frequent and linked with autoimmunity to transglutaminase 6. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 17, 2678-2686. e2.
- HADJIVASSILIOU, M., GRUNEWALD, R. A., SANDERS, D. S., ZIS, P., CROALL, I., SHANMUGARAJAH, P. D., SARRIGIANNIS, P. G., TROTT, N., WILD, G. & HOGGARD, N. 2018. The significance of low titre antigliadin antibodies in the diagnosis of gluten ataxia. *Nutrients*, 10, 1444.
- HADJIVASSILIOU, M., RAO, D. G., GRÌNEWALD, R. A., AESCHLIMANN, D. P., SARRIGIANNIS, P. G., HOGGARD, N., AESCHLIMANN, P.,

MOONEY, P. D. & SANDERS, D. S. 2016. Neurological dysfunction in coeliac disease and non-coeliac gluten sensitivity. *The American journal of gastroenterology*, 111, 561.

HAMEED, W. S., ABDUL-MEHDI, R. J., TARISH, H. R. & ALSHEREES, H. A. A. 2016. Prevalence of DQ2, DQ8 and DR4 Alleles in Iraqi Celiac Patients.

HARDY, M. Y. & TYE-DIN, J. A. 2016. Coeliac disease: a unique model for investigating broken tolerance in autoimmunity. *Clinical & translational immunology*, 5, e112.

HARPER, J. W., HOLLERAN, S. F., RAMAKRISHNAN, R., BHAGAT, G. & GREEN, P. H. 2007. Anemia in celiac disease is multifactorial in etiology. *American journal of hematology*, 82, 996-1000.

HASHIM, A. F. 2018. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF RESEARCH IN PHARMACEUTICAL SCIENCES.

HASHIM, A. F., AL-MOUSAWI, M. J., YOUSIF, F. T. & MAJEED, M. S. CRYPTOSPORIDIOSIS: GIEMSA AIDED DIAGNOSIS OF DUODENALTISSUE.

HAWAMDEH, H., AL-ZOUBI, B., AL SHARQI, Y., QASRAWI, A., ABDELAZIZ, Y. & BARBAR, M. 2016. Association of tissue transglutaminase antibody titer with duodenal histological changes in children with celiac disease. *Gastroenterology research and practice*, 2016.

HEISENBERG, C.-P. & BELLAICHE, Y. 2013. Forces in tissue morphogenesis and patterning. *Cell*, 153, 948-962.

HEYDARI, F., ROSTAMI-NEJAD, M., MOHEB-ALIAN, A., MOLLAHOSEINI, M. H., ROSTAMI, K., POURHOSEINGHOLI, M. A., AGHAMOHAMMADI, E. & ZALI, M. R. 2018. Serum cytokines profile in treated celiac disease compared with non-celiac gluten sensitivity and control: a marker for differentiation. *Journal of Gastrointestinal & Liver Diseases*, 27.

HEYMAN, M., ABED, J., LEBRETON, C. & CERF-BENSUSSAN, N. 2012. Intestinal permeability in coeliac disease: insight into mechanisms and relevance to pathogenesis. *Gut*, 61, 1355-1364.

HOERTER, N. A., SHANNAHAN, S. E., SUAREZ, J., LEWIS, S. K., GREEN, P. H., LEFFLER, D. A. & LEBWOHL, B. 2017. Diagnostic yield of isolated deamidated gliadin peptide antibody elevation for celiac disease. *Digestive diseases and sciences*, 62, 1272-1276.

HOLLON, J., PUPPA, E. L., GREENWALD, B., GOLDBERG, E., GUERRERIO, A. & FASANO, A. 2015. Effect of gliadin on permeability of intestinal biopsy explants from celiac disease patients and patients with non-celiac gluten sensitivity. *Nutrients*, 7, 1565-1576.

HOOPER, L. V., LITTMAN, D. R. & MACPHERSON, A. J. 2012. Interactions between the microbiota and the immune system. *science*, 336, 1268-1273.

HUSBY, S., KOLETZKO, S., KORPONAY-SZABÓ, I., KURPPA, K., MEARIN, M. L., RIBES-KONINCKX, C., SHAMIR, R., TRONCONE, R., AURICCHIO, R. & CASTILLEJO, G. 2020. European Society Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition guidelines for diagnosing coeliac disease 2020. *Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition*, 70, 141-156.

- HUSBY, S., KOLETZKO, S., KORPONAY-SZABÓ, I., MEARIN, M.,
  PHILLIPS, A., SHAMIR, R., TRONCONE, R., GIERSIEPEN, K., BRANSKI,
  D. & CATASSI, C. 2012. European Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology,
  Hepatology, and Nutrition guidelines for the diagnosis of coeliac disease.
  Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition, 54, 136-160.
- IBRAHIM, M. M. 2020. Prevalence of Celiac Disease among Cases of Irritable Bowel Syndrome in Baghdad, Iraq. *EXECUTIVE EDITOR*, 11, 1943.
- IERVASI, E., AURICCHIO, R., STRANGIO, A., GRECO, L. & SAVERINO, D. 2020. Serum IL-21 levels from celiac disease patients correlates with anti-tTG IgA autoantibodies and mucosal damage. *Autoimmunity*, 53, 225-230.
- IGBINEDION, S. O., ANSARI, J., VASIKARAN, A., GAVINS, F. N., JORDAN, P., BOKTOR, M. & ALEXANDER, J. S. 2017. Non-celiac gluten sensitivity: All wheat attack is not celiac. *World journal of gastroenterology*, 23, 7201.
- INGLE, S. B. & HINGE, C. R. 2013. Eosinophilic gastroenteritis: an unusual type of gastroenteritis. *World journal of gastroenterology: WJG*, 19, 5061.
- JABRI, B. & SOLLID, L. M. 2017. T cells in celiac disease. *The Journal of Immunology*, 198, 3005-3014.
- JANDHYALA, S. M., TALUKDAR, R., SUBRAMANYAM, C., VUYYURU, H., SASIKALA, M. & REDDY, D. N. 2015. Role of the normal gut microbiota. *World journal of gastroenterology: WJG*, 21, 8787.
- JANSSON-KNODELL, C. L., KING, K. S., LARSON, J. J., VAN DYKE, C. T., MURRAY, J. A. & RUBIO-TAPIA, A. 2018. Gender-based differences in a population-based cohort with celiac disease: more alike than unalike. *Digestive diseases and sciences*, 63, 184-192.
- JELSNESS-JØRGENSEN, L.-P., BERNKLEV, T. & LUNDIN, K. E. 2018. Fatigue as an extra-intestinal manifestation of celiac disease: A systematic review. *Nutrients*, 10, 1652.
- JIANG, N.-N., WEN, L.-P., LI, H. & YIN, J. 2018. A new diagnostic criteria of wheat-dependent, exercise-induced anaphylaxis in China. *Chinese medical journal*, 131, 2049.
- JNAWALI, P., KUMAR, V. & TANWAR, B. 2016. Celiac disease: Overview and considerations for development of gluten-free foods. *Food Science and Human Wellness*, 5, 169-176.
- JORA, R., RAGHUVANSHI, V., PAYAL, V., SHARMA, P. & VISHNOI, S. K. 2017. Correlation of tissue transglutaminase with modified marsh grading in celiac disease: a prospective cohort study. *The Indian Journal of Pediatrics*, 84, 515-520.
- JóZEFCZUK, J., KONOPKA, E., BIERŁA, J. B., TROJANOWSKA, I.,
  SOWIŃSKA, A., CZARNECKI, R., SOBOL, L., JóZEFCZUK, P., SURDY,
  W. & CUKROWSKA, B. 2018. The occurrence of antibodies against gluten in children with autism spectrum disorders does not correlate with serological
markers of impaired intestinal permeability. *Journal of medicinal food*, 21, 181-187.

- JUNKER, Y., ZEISSIG, S., KIM, S.-J., BARISANI, D., WIESER, H., LEFFLER, D. A., ZEVALLOS, V., LIBERMANN, T. A., DILLON, S. & FREITAG, T. L. 2012. Wheat amylase trypsin inhibitors drive intestinal inflammation via activation of toll-like receptor 4. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 209, 2395-2408.
- KABBANI, T., GOLDBERG, A., KELLY, C., PALLAV, K., TARIQ, S., PEER, A., HANSEN, J., DENNIS, M. & LEFFLER, D. 2012. Body mass index and the risk of obesity in coeliac disease treated with the gluten-free diet. *Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics*, 35, 723-729.
- KALHAN, S., JOSEPH, P., SHARMA, S., DUBEY, S., DUDANI, S. & DIXIT, M. 2011. Comparative study of histopathological Marsh grading with clinical and serological parameters in celiac iceberg of north India. *Indian Journal of Pathology and Microbiology*, 54, 279.
- KAMYCHEVA, E., GOTO, T. & CAMARGO, C. 2017. Celiac disease is associated with reduced bone mineral density and increased FRAX scores in the US National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Osteoporosis International*, 28, 781-790.
- KANEKO, N., KURATA, M., YAMAMOTO, T., MORIKAWA, S. & MASUMOTO, J. 2019. The role of interleukin-1 in general pathology. *Inflammation and regeneration*, 39, 1-16.
- KAPOOR, A., PATWARI, A., KUMAR, P., JAIN, A. & NARAYAN, S. 2013. Serum soluble interleukin-2 receptor, interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor alpha as markers of celiac disease activity. *The Indian Journal of Pediatrics*, 80, 108-113.
- KARNSAKUL, W., SKITARELIC, K., GILLESPIE, S. & ARKACHAISRI, T. 2012. Isolated positive anti-gliadin immunoglobin-A antibody in children with gastrointestinal symptoms. *Turk J Gastroenterol*, 23, 485-489.
- KASWALA, D. H., VEERARAGHAVAN, G., KELLY, C. P. & LEFFLER, D. A. 2015. Celiac disease: diagnostic standards and dilemmas. *Diseases*, 3, 86-101.
- KAUKINEN, K., MãKI, M., PARTANEN, J., SIEVãNEN, H. & COLLIN, P. 2001. Celiac disease without villous atrophy. *Digestive diseases and sciences*, 46, 879-887.
- KELLY, C. P., BAI, J. C., LIU, E. & LEFFLER, D. A. 2015. Advances in diagnosis and management of celiac disease. *Gastroenterology*, 148, 1175-1186.
- KHALESI, M., JAFARI, S. A., KIANI, M., PICARELLI, A., BORGHINI, R., SADEGHI, R., EGHTEDAR, A., AYATOLLAHI, H. & KIANIFAR, H. R. 2016. In vitro gluten challenge test for celiac disease diagnosis. *Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition*, 62, 276-283.
- KING, J. A., JEONG, J., UNDERWOOD, F. E., QUAN, J., PANACCIONE, N., WINDSOR, J. W., COWARD, S., DEBRUYN, J., RONKSLEY, P. E. &

SHAHEEN, A.-A. 2020a. Incidence of celiac disease is increasing over time: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Official journal of the American College of Gastroenterology*/*ACG*, 115, 507-525.

- KING, J. A., JEONG, J., UNDERWOOD, F. E., QUAN, J., PANACCIONE, N., WINDSOR, J. W., COWARD, S., DEBRUYN, J., RONKSLEY, P. E. & SHAHEEN, A.-A. 2020b. Incidence of celiac disease is increasing over time: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 115, 507-525.
- KLAPP, G., MASIP, E., BOLONIO, M., DONAT, E., POLO, B., RAMOS, D. & RIBES-KONINCKX, C. 2013. Celiac disease: the new proposed ESPGHAN diagnostic criteria do work well in a selected population. *Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition*, 56, 251-256.
- KNEEPKENS, C. F. & VON BLOMBERG, B. M. E. 2012. Clinical practice. *European journal of pediatrics*, 171, 1011-1021.
- KöNIG, J., WELLS, J., CANI, P. D., GARCÍA-RÓDENAS, C. L., MACDONALD, T., MERCENIER, A., WHYTE, J., TROOST, F. & BRUMMER, R.-J. 2016. Human intestinal barrier function in health and disease. *Clinical and translational gastroenterology*, 7, e196.
- KOTZE, L. M. D. S., NISIHARA, R. M., UTIYAMA, S. R. D. R., KOTZE, P. G., THEISS, P. M. & OLANDOSKI, M. 2010. Antibodies anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae (ASCA) do not differentiate Crohn's disease from celiac disease. *Arquivos de gastroenterologia*, 47, 242-245.
- KUCEK, L. K., VEENSTRA, L. D., AMNUAYCHEEWA, P. & SORRELLS, M. E. 2015. A grounded guide to gluten: how modern genotypes and processing impact wheat sensitivity. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 14, 285-302.
- KUPFER, S. S. & JABRI, B. 2012. Celiac disease pathophysiology. *Gastrointestinal endoscopy clinics of North America*, 22.
- KURPPA, K., SALMINIEMI, J., UKKOLA, A., SAAVALAINEN, P., LöYTYNOJA, K., LAURILA, K., COLLIN, P., MäKI, M. & KAUKINEN, K. 2012. Utility of the new ESPGHAN criteria for the diagnosis of celiac disease in at-risk groups. *Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition*, 54, 387-391.
- KYLöKäS, A., KAUKINEN, K., HUHTALA, H., COLLIN, P., MäKI, M. & KURPPA, K. 2016. Type 1 and type 2 diabetes in celiac disease: prevalence and effect on clinical and histological presentation. *BMC gastroenterology*, 16, 1-7.
- LAFIANDRA, D., RICCARDI, G. & SHEWRY, P. R. 2014. Improving cereal grain carbohydrates for diet and health. *Journal of cereal science*, 59, 312-326.
- LAMMI, A., ARIKOSKI, P., SIMELL, S., KINNUNEN, T., SIMELL, V., PAAVANEN-HUHTALA, S., HINKKANEN, A., VEIJOLA, R., KNIP, M. & TOPPARI, J. 2015. Antibodies to deamidated gliadin peptide in diagnosis of

celiac disease in children. *Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition*, 60, 626-631.

- LARUSSA, T., SURACI, E., NAZIONALE, I., ABENAVOLI, L., IMENEO, M. & LUZZA, F. 2012. Bone mineralization in celiac disease. *Gastroenterology research and practice*, 2012.
- LAURET, E. & RODRIGO, L. 2013. Celiac disease and autoimmune-associated conditions. *BioMed research international*, 2013.
- LAURIKKA, P., NURMINEN, S., KIVELä, L. & KURPPA, K. 2018. Extraintestinal manifestations of celiac disease: early detection for better longterm outcomes. *Nutrients*, 10, 1015.
- LEACH, S. T., MESSINA, I., LEMBERG, D. A., NOVICK, D., RUBENSTEIN, M. & DAY, A. S. 2007. Local and systemic interleukin-18 and interleukin-18binding protein in children with inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflammatory bowel diseases*, 14, 68-74.
- LEBWOHL, B., KAPEL, R. C., NEUGUT, A. I., GREEN, P. H. & GENTA, R. M. 2011. Adherence to biopsy guidelines increases celiac disease diagnosis. *Gastrointestinal endoscopy*, 74, 103-109.
- LEBWOHL, B., MURRAY, J. A., RUBIO-TAPIA, A., GREEN, P. H. & LUDVIGSSON, J. F. 2014. Predictors of persistent villous atrophy in coeliac disease: a population-based study. *Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics*, 39, 488-495.
- LEBWOHL, B., SANDERS, D. S. & GREEN, P. H. 2018. Coeliac disease. *The Lancet*, 391, 70-81.
- LECCIOLI, V., OLIVERI, M., ROMEO, M., BERRETTA, M. & ROSSI, P. 2017. A new proposal for the pathogenic mechanism of non-coeliac/non-allergic gluten/wheat sensitivity: piecing together the puzzle of recent scientific evidence. *Nutrients*, 9, 1203.
- LEFFLER, D., SCHUPPAN, D., PALLAV, K., NAJARIAN, R., GOLDSMITH, J. D., HANSEN, J., KABBANI, T., DENNIS, M. & KELLY, C. P. 2013. Kinetics of the histological, serological and symptomatic responses to gluten challenge in adults with coeliac disease. *Gut*, 62, 996-1004.
- LEONARD, M. M., SAPONE, A., CATASSI, C. & FASANO, A. 2017. Celiac disease and nonceliac gluten sensitivity: a review. *Jama*, 318, 647-656.
- LETTESJÖ, H., HANSSON, T., BERGQVIST, Å., GRÖNLUND, J. & DANNAEUS, A. 2005. Enhanced interleukin-18 levels in the peripheral blood of children with coeliac disease. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology*, 139, 138-143.
- LEWIS, N. & SCOTT, B. 2006. Systematic review: the use of serology to exclude or diagnose coeliac disease (a comparison of the endomysial and tissue transglutaminase antibody tests). *Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics*, 24, 47-54.

- LEWIS, N. & SCOTT, B. 2010. Meta-analysis: deamidated gliadin peptide antibody and tissue transglutaminase antibody compared as screening tests for coeliac disease. *Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics*, 31, 73-81.
- LICHTWARK, I. T., NEWNHAM, E., ROBINSON, S. R., SHEPHERD, S. J., HOSKING, P., GIBSON, P. R. & YELLAND, G. W. 2014. Cognitive impairment in coeliac disease improves on a gluten-free diet and correlates with histological and serological indices of disease severity. *Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics*, 40, 160-170.
- LIONETTI, E. & CATASSI, C. 2015. The role of environmental factors in the development of celiac disease: what is new? *Diseases*, 3, 282-293.
- LIU, E., LEE, H.-S., ARONSSON, C. A., HAGOPIAN, W. A., KOLETZKO, S., REWERS, M. J., EISENBARTH, G. S., BINGLEY, P. J., BONIFACIO, E. & SIMELL, V. 2014. Risk of pediatric celiac disease according to HLA haplotype and country. *New england journal of medicine*, 371, 42-49.
- LIU, W., CHEN, Y., GOLAN, M. A., ANNUNZIATA, M. L., DU, J.,
  DOUGHERTY, U., KONG, J., MUSCH, M., HUANG, Y. & PEKOW, J.
  2013. Intestinal epithelial vitamin D receptor signaling inhibits experimental colitis. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 123, 3983-3996.
- LIU, Z., TAN, J. L., COHEN, D. M., YANG, M. T., SNIADECKI, N. J., RUIZ, S. A., NELSON, C. M. & CHEN, C. S. 2010. Mechanical tugging force regulates the size of cell–cell junctions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107, 9944-9949.
- LONARDI, S., VILLANACCI, V., LORENZI, L., LANZINI, A., LANZAROTTO, F., CARABELLESE, N., VOLTA, U. & FACCHETTI, F. 2013. Anti-TCR gamma antibody in celiac disease: the value of count on formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded biopsies. *Virchows Archiv*, 463, 409-413.
- LUCIA, S. M., MARIUS, C., ALDEA, C., GENEL, S. & EMANUELA, F. 2018. Celiac Disease a Road Paved with Many Obstacles. Differential Diagnosis in Children. *International Journal*, 6, 7-10.
- LUDVIGSSON, J. F., BAI, J. C., BIAGI, F., CARD, T. R., CIACCI, C., CICLITIRA, P. J., GREEN, P. H., HADJIVASSILIOU, M., HOLDOWAY, A. & VAN HEEL, D. A. 2014. Diagnosis and management of adult coeliac disease: guidelines from the British Society of Gastroenterology. *Gut*, 63, 1210-1228.
- LUDVIGSSON, J. F., LEFFLER, D. A., BAI, J. C., BIAGI, F., FASANO, A., GREEN, P. H., HADJIVASSILIOU, M., KAUKINEN, K., KELLY, C. P. & LEONARD, J. N. 2013. The Oslo definitions for coeliac disease and related terms. *Gut*, 62, 43-52.
- LUDVIGSSON, J. F., RUBIO-TAPIA, A., CHOWDHARY, V., MURRAY, J. A. & SIMARD, J. F. 2012a. Increased risk of systemic lupus erythematosus in 29,000 patients with biopsy-verified celiac disease. *The Journal of rheumatology*, 39, 1964-1970.

- LUDVIGSSON, J. F., ZINGONE, F., TOMSON, T., EKBOM, A. & CIACCI, C. 2012b. Increased risk of epilepsy in biopsy-verified celiac disease: a population-based cohort study. *Neurology*, 78, 1401-1407.
- MAHADEV, S., LASZKOWSKA, M., SUNDSTRÖM, J., BJÖRKHOLM, M., LEBWOHL, B., GREEN, P. H. & LUDVIGSSON, J. F. 2018. Prevalence of celiac disease in patients with iron deficiency anemia—a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Gastroenterology*, 155, 374-382. e1.
- MAJEED, Y. H. 2021. Clinical, Serological and Histopathological Aspect of Celiac Disease at AL-Ramadi Province West of Iraq. *Systematic Reviews in Pharmacy*, 12, 435-439.
- MAKHARIA, G. K., CATASSI, C., GOH, K. L. & MULDER, C. J. J. 2012. Celiac Disease. *Gastroenterology Research and Practice*, 2012, 758560.
- MANSOUR, A. A. & NAJEEB, A. A. 2011. Coeliac disease in Iraqi type 1 diabetic patients. *Arab Journal of Gastroenterology*, 12, 103-105.
- MARIETTA, E. V., RASHTAK, S. & MURRAY, J. A. 2009. Correlation analysis of celiac sprue tissue transglutaminase and deamidated gliadin IgG/IgA. *World Journal of Gastroenterology: WJG*, 15, 845.
- MARTÍN-MASOT, R., NESTARES, M. T., DIAZ-CASTRO, J., LÓPEZ-ALIAGA, I., ALFEREZ, M. J. M., MORENO-FERNANDEZ, J. & MALDONADO, J. 2019. Multifactorial etiology of anemia in celiac disease and effect of gluten-free diet: A comprehensive review. *Nutrients*, 11, 2557.
- MARTUCCIELLO, S., SPOSITO, S., ESPOSITO, C., PAOLELLA, G. & CAPUTO, I. 2020. Interplay between Type 2 Transglutaminase (TG2), Gliadin Peptide 31-43 and Anti-TG2 Antibodies in Celiac Disease. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 21, 3673.
- MASAEBI, F., LOOHA, M. A., ROSTAMI-NEJAD, M., POURHOSEINGHOLI, M. A., MOHSENI, N., SAMASCA, G., LUPAN, I., REZAEI-TAVIRANI, M. & ZALI, M. R. 2020. The predictive value of serum cytokines for distinguishing celiac disease from non-celiac gluten sensitivity and healthy subjects. *Iranian Biomedical Journal*, 24, 340.
- MEHRDAD, M., MANSOUR-GHANAEI, F., MOHAMMADI, F., JOUKAR, F., DODANGEH, S. & MANSOUR-GHANAEI, R. 2012. Frequency of celiac disease in patients with hypothyroidism. *Journal of thyroid research*, 2012.
- MEIJER, C. R., SCHWEIZER, J. J., PEETERS, A., PUTTER, H. & MEARIN, M. L. 2021. Efficient implementation of the 'non-biopsy approach' for the diagnosis of childhood celiac disease in the Netherlands: a national prospective evaluation 2010–2013. *European journal of pediatrics*, 1-8.
- MENDO-LOPEZ, R., YOOSUF, S. & LEFFLER, D. 2021. Gluten Challenge in Gluten-Associated Disorders. *Diagnosis and Management of Gluten-Associated Disorders*. Springer.
- METSO, S., HYYTIä-ILMONEN, H., KAUKINEN, K., HUHTALA, H., JAATINEN, P., SALMI, J., TAURIO, J. & COLLIN, P. 2012. Gluten-free diet

and autoimmune thyroiditis in patients with celiac disease. A prospective controlled study. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology*, 47, 43-48.

- MILLS, J. R. & MURRAY, J. A. 2016. Contemporary celiac disease diagnosis: is a biopsy avoidable? *Current opinion in gastroenterology*, 32, 80-85.
- MOLLAZADEGAN, K., KUGELBERG, M., LINDBLAD, B. E. & LUDVIGSSON, J. F. 2011. Increased risk of cataract among 28,000 patients with celiac disease. *American journal of epidemiology*, 174, 195-202.
- MONZANI, A., RAPA, A., FONIO, P., TOGNATO, E., PANIGATI, L. & ODERDA, G. 2011. Use of deamidated gliadin peptide antibodies to monitor diet compliance in childhood celiac disease. *Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition*, 53, 55-60.
- MORENO-NAVARRETE, J. M., SABATER, M., ORTEGA, F., RICART, W. & FERNANDEZ-REAL, J. M. 2012. Circulating zonulin, a marker of intestinal permeability, is increased in association with obesity-associated insulin resistance. *PloS one*, *7*, e37160.
- MORMILE, R. 2016a. Celiac disease and Hashimoto's thyroiditis: a shared plot? *International journal of colorectal disease*, 31, 947-947.
- MORMILE, R. 2016b. Sarcoidosis in celiac disease: A page written by genetic variants in IL-18 miRNAs target site? *Medical hypotheses*, 90, 51-52.
- MORMILE, R. & VITTORI, G. 2013. Celiac disease and endometriosis: what is the nexus? *Archives of gynecology and obstetrics*, 288, 1197-1198.
- MURARO, A., LEMANSKE JR, R., CASTELLS, M., TORRES, M. J., KHAN, D., SIMON, H. U., BINDSLEV-JENSEN, C., BURKS, W., POULSEN, L. K. & SAMPSON, H. A. 2017. Precision medicine in allergic disease—food allergy, drug allergy, and anaphylaxis—PRACTALL document of the European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology and the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology. *Allergy*, 72, 1006-1021.
- NAKANISHI, K. 2018. Unique action of interleukin-18 on T cells and other immune cells. *Frontiers in immunology*, 9, 763.
- NAMATOVU, F., SANDSTRÖM, O., OLSSON, C., LINDKVIST, M. & IVARSSON, A. 2014. Celiac disease risk varies between birth cohorts, generating hypotheses about causality: evidence from 36 years of populationbased follow-up. *BMC Gastroenterology*, 14, 59.
- NENNA, R., TIBERTI, C., PETRARCA, L., LUCANTONI, F., MENNINI, M., LUPARIA, R. P. L., PANIMOLLE, F., MASTROGIORGIO, G., PIETROPAOLI, N. & MAGLIOCCA, F. M. 2013. The celiac iceberg: characterization of the disease in primary schoolchildren. *Journal of pediatric* gastroenterology and nutrition, 56, 416-421.
- NIELSEN, J. A., STEEPHEN, A. & LEWIN, M. 2013. Angiotensin-II inhibitor (olmesartan)-induced collagenous sprue with resolution following discontinuation of drug. *World journal of gastroenterology: WJG*, 19, 6928.

- NIKIPHOROU, E. & HALL, F. C. 2014. First report of improvement of coeliac disease in a patient with Sjögren's syndrome treated with rituximab. *Rheumatology*, 53, 1906-1907.
- NISTAL, E., CAMINERO, A., HERRÁN, A. R., ARIAS, L., VIVAS, S., DE MORALES, J. M. R., CALLEJA, S., DE MIERA, L. E. S., ARROYO, P. & CASQUEIRO, J. 2012. Differences of small intestinal bacteria populations in adults and children with/without celiac disease: effect of age, gluten diet, and disease. *Inflammatory bowel diseases*, 18, 649-656.
- ONTIVEROS, N., HARDY, M. Y. & CABRERA-CHAVEZ, F. 2015. Assessing of Celiac Disease and Nonceliac Gluten Sensitivity. *Gastroenterology Research and Practice*, 2015, 723954.
- OZUNA, C. V., IEHISA, J. C., GIMENEZ, M. J., ALVAREZ, J. B., SOUSA, C. & BARRO, F. 2015. Diversification of the celiac disease α-gliadin complex in wheat: a 33-mer peptide with six overlapping epitopes, evolved following polyploidization. *The Plant Journal*, 82, 794-805.
- PAHR, S., SELB, R., WEBER, M., FOCKE-TEJKL, M., HOFER, G., DORDIĆ,
  A., KELLER, W., PAPADOPOULOS, N. G., GIAVI, S. & MäKELä, M. 2014.
  Biochemical, biophysical and IgE-epitope characterization of the wheat food allergen, Tri a 37. *PloS one*, 9, e111483.
- PARISIS, D., CHIVASSO, C., PERRET, J., SOYFOO, M. S. & DELPORTE, C. 2020. Current State of Knowledge on Primary Sjögren's Syndrome, an Autoimmune Exocrinopathy. *Journal of clinical medicine*, 9, 2299.
- PARZANESE, I., QEHAJAJ, D., PATRINICOLA, F., ARALICA, M., CHIRIVA-INTERNATI, M., STIFTER, S., ELLI, L. & GRIZZI, F. 2017. Celiac disease: From pathophysiology to treatment. *World journal of gastrointestinal pathophysiology*, 8, 27.
- PASTORE, R. L., MURRAY, J. A., COFFMAN, F. D., MITROFANOVA, A. & SRINIVASAN, S. 2019. Physician Review of a Celiac Disease Risk Estimation and Decision-Making Expert System. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 38, 722-728.
- PEATE, I. 2017. Tests, scans and investigations, 11. Gastroscopy. British Journal of Healthcare Assistants, 11, 268-272.
- PEñA, A. S. 2015. What is the best histopathological classification for celiac disease? Does it matter? *Gastroenterology and Hepatology from bed to bench*, 8, 239.
- PENNAZIO, M., SPADA, C., ELIAKIM, R., KEUCHEL, M., MAY, A., MULDER, C. J., RONDONOTTI, E., ADLER, S. N., ALBERT, J. & BALTES, P. 2015. Small-bowel capsule endoscopy and device-assisted enteroscopy for diagnosis and treatment of small-bowel disorders: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Clinical Guideline. *Endoscopy*, 47, 352-376.

- PEREZ, S., TALENS-VISCONTI, R., RIUS-PEREZ, S., FINAMOR, I. & SASTRE, J. 2017. Redox signaling in the gastrointestinal tract. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 104, 75-103.
- PERRIER, C. & CORTHESY, B. 2011. Gut permeability and food allergies. *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, 41, 20-28.
- PERRY, A. S., BAIRD, A.-M. & GRAY, S. G. 2015. Epigenetic methodologies for the study of celiac disease. *Celiac Disease*. Springer.
- PICARELLI, A., DI TOLA, M., BORGHINI, R., ISONNE, C., SAPONARA, A., MARINO, M., CASALE, R., TIBERTI, A., PICA, R. & DONATO, G. 2013. Colonic involvement in celiac disease and possible implications of the sigmoid mucosa organ culture in its diagnosis. *Journal of clinical immunology*, 33, 1250-1256.
- PODDIGHE, D., TURGANBEKOVA, A., BAYMUKASHEVA, D., SADUAKAS, Z., ZHANZAKOVA, Z. & ABDRAKHMANOVA, S. 2020. Genetic predisposition to celiac disease in Kazakhstan: Potential impact on the clinical practice in Central Asia. *Plos one*, 15, e0226546.
- POPP, A., KIVELä, L., FUCHS, V. & KURPPA, K. 2019. Diagnosing Celiac Disease: Towards Wide-Scale Screening and Serology-Based Criteria? *Gastroenterology research and practice*, 2019.
- POPP, A. & MäKI, M. 2019. Gluten-induced extra-intestinal manifestations in potential celiac disease—celiac trait. *Nutrients*, 11, 320.
- POZO-RUBIO, T., OLIVARES, M., NOVA, E., DE PALMA, G., MUJICO, J. R., FERRER, M. D., MARCOS, A. & SANZ, Y. 2012. Immune development and intestinal microbiota in celiac disease. *Clinical and Developmental Immunology*, 2012.
- PULIDO, O., ZARKADAS, M., DUBOIS, S., MACISAAC, K., CANTIN, I., LA VIEILLE, S., GODEFROY, S. & RASHID, M. 2013. Clinical Features and Symptom Recovery on a Gluten-Free Diet in Canadian Adults with Celiac Disease. *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology*, 27, 741740.
- QUINN, E. M., COLEMAN, C., MOLLOY, B., CASTRO, P. D., CORMICAN, P., TRIMBLE, V., MAHMUD, N. & MCMANUS, R. 2015. Transcriptome analysis of CD4+ T cells in coeliac disease reveals imprint of BACH2 and IFNγ regulation. *PloS one*, 10, e0140049.
- QUINTERO, O. L., AMADOR-PATARROYO, M. J., MONTOYA-ORTIZ, G., ROJAS-VILLARRAGA, A. & ANAYA, J.-M. 2012. Autoimmune disease and gender: plausible mechanisms for the female predominance of autoimmunity. *Journal of autoimmunity*, 38, J109-J119.
- RACHNER, T. D., KHOSLA, S. & HOFBAUER, L. C. 2011. Osteoporosis: now and the future. *The Lancet*, 377, 1276-1287.
- RAEL, E., SAMPATH, V. & NADEAU, K. C. 2020. Diagnosis and differential diagnosis of food allergy. *Child Food Allergy*, 1, 31-44.
- RASHTAK, S., RASHTAK, S., SNYDER, M. R., PITTOCK, S. J., WU, T.-T., GANDHI, M. J. & MURRAY, J. A. 2011. Serology of celiac disease in gluten-

sensitive ataxia or neuropathy: role of deamidated gliadin antibody. *Journal of neuroimmunology*, 230, 130-134.

- RATHINAM, V. A. & CHAN, F. K.-M. 2018. Inflammasome, inflammation, and tissue homeostasis. *Trends in molecular medicine*, 24, 304-318.
- RAVELLI, A. & VILLANACCI, V. 2012. Tricks of the trade: how to avoid histological pitfalls in celiac disease. *Pathology-Research and Practice*, 208, 197-202.
- REILLY, N. R., AGUILAR, K., HASSID, B. G., CHENG, J., DEFELICE, A. R., KAZLOW, P., BHAGAT, G. & GREEN, P. H. 2011. Celiac disease in normal-weight and overweight children: clinical features and growth outcomes following a gluten-free diet. *Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition*, 53, 528-531.
- REMELY, M., AUMUELLER, E., MEROLD, C., DWORZAK, S., HIPPE, B., ZANNER, J., POINTNER, A., BRATH, H. & HASLBERGER, A. G. 2014. Effects of short chain fatty acid producing bacteria on epigenetic regulation of FFAR3 in type 2 diabetes and obesity. *Gene*, 537, 85-92.
- REUNALA, T., SALMI, T. T., HERVONEN, K., KAUKINEN, K. & COLLIN, P. 2018. Dermatitis herpetiformis: a common extraintestinal manifestation of coeliac disease. *Nutrients*, 10, 602.
- REX, D., AGARWAL, N., PRASAD, T. K., KANDASAMY, R. K., SUBBANNAYYA, Y. & PINTO, S. M. 2019. A comprehensive pathway map of IL-18-mediated signalling. *Journal of Cell Communication and Signaling*, 1-10.
- ROBERT, M. E., CROWE, S. E., BURGART, L., YANTISS, R. K., LEBWOHL,
  B., GREENSON, J. K., GUANDALINI, S. & MURRAY, J. A. 2018.
  Statement on best practices in the use of pathology as a diagnostic tool for celiac disease. *The American journal of surgical pathology*, 42, e44-e58.
- ROSSIN, F. & PIACENTINI, M. 2020. Celiac disease TG2 autoantibodies development: it takes two to tango. *Cell Death & Disease*, 11, 1-3.
- ROSTAMI-NEJAD, M., VILLANACCI, V., HOGG-KOLLARS, S., VOLTA, U., MANENTI, S., REZA-ZALI, M., CAIO, G., GIOVENALI, P., BARAKAUSKIENE, A. & KAZENAITE, E. 2013. Endoscopic and histological pitfalls in the diagnosis of celiac disease: A multicentre study assessing the current practice. *Rev Esp Enferm Dig*, 105, 326-333.
- ROYCHOUDHURI, R., HIRAHARA, K., MOUSAVI, K., CLEVER, D., BONELLI, M., KLEBANOFF, C., SARTORELLI, V., KANNO, Y., GATTINONI, L. & WANG, E. 2013. BACH2 represses effector programmes to stabilize Treg-mediated immune homeostasis-a new target in tumor immunotherapy? *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer*, 1, 1-1.
- RUBIO-TAPIA, A., HILL, I. D., KELLY, C. P., CALDERWOOD, A. H. & MURRAY, J. A. 2013. American College of Gastroenterology clinical guideline: diagnosis and management of celiac disease. *The American journal of gastroenterology*, 108, 656.

- RUBIO-TAPIA, A., JANSSON-KNODELL, C. L., RAHIM, M. W., SEE, J. A. & MURRAY, J. A. 2016. Influence of gender on the clinical presentation and associated diseases in adults with celiac disease. *Gaceta medica de Mexico*, 152, 38-46.
- RUBIO-TAPIA, A. & MURRAY, J. A. 2010. Classification and management of refractory coeliac disease. *Gut*, 59, 547-557.
- RUBIO-TAPIA, A., RAHIM, M. W., SEE, J. A., LAHR, B. D., WU, T.-T. & MURRAY, J. A. 2010. Mucosal recovery and mortality in adults with celiac disease after treatment with a gluten-free diet. *The American journal of gastroenterology*, 105, 1412.
- RUJNER, J., SOCHA, J., ROMAŃCZUK, W., STOLARCZYK, A.,
  WOŹNIEWICZ, B., GREGOREK, H., MADALIŃSKI, K. & SYCZEWSKA,
  M. 2002. Individual sensitivity of jejunal mucosa to small doses of gluten in
  coeliac disease. *Wiadomosci Lekarskie (Warsaw, Poland: 1960)*, 55, 554-560.
- SAMSEL, A. & SENEFF, S. 2013. Glyphosate, pathways to modern diseases II: Celiac sprue and gluten intolerance. *Interdisciplinary toxicology*, 6, 159.
- SáNCHEZ, E., DE PALMA, G., CAPILLA, A., NOVA, E., POZO, T., CASTILLEJO, G., VAREA, V., MARCOS, A., GARROTE, J. A., POLANCO, I., LÓPEZ, A., RIBES-KONINCKX, C., GARCÍA-NOVO, M. D., CALVO, C., ORTIGOSA, L., PALAU, F. & SANZ, Y. 2011. Influence of Environmental and Genetic Factors Linked to Celiac Disease Risk on Infant Gut Colonization by <span class="named-content genus-species" id="namedcontent-1">Bacteroides</span> Species. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 77, 5316-5323.
- SANDERSON, D. C. 2020. Checkmate: Exploring father-son communication regarding reproduction and sexual health in males with cystic fibrosis.
- SAPONE, A., BAI, J. C., CIACCI, C., DOLINSEK, J., GREEN, P. H.,
  HADJIVASSILIOU, M., KAUKINEN, K., ROSTAMI, K., SANDERS, D. S.
  & SCHUMANN, M. 2012. Spectrum of gluten-related disorders: consensus on new nomenclature and classification. *BMC medicine*, 10, 1-12.
- SATTLER, A., DANG-HEINE, C., REINKE, P. & BABEL, N. 2015. IL-15 dependent induction of IL-18 secretion as a feedback mechanism controlling human MAIT-cell effector functions. *European journal of immunology*, 45, 2286-2298.
- SCHERF, K. A., CATASSI, C., CHIRDO, F., CICLITIRA, P. J., FEIGHERY, C., GIANFRANI, C., KONING, F., LUNDIN, K. E. A., SCHUPPAN, D.,
  SMULDERS, M. J. M., TRANQUET, O., TRONCONE, R. & KOEHLER, P. 2020. Recent Progress and Recommendations on Celiac Disease From the Working Group on Prolamin Analysis and Toxicity. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 7.
- SCHERF, K. A., KOEHLER, P. & WIESER, H. 2016. Gluten and wheat sensitivities–an overview. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 67, 2-11.

- SCHERF, K. A., WIESER, H. & KOEHLER, P. 2018. Novel approaches for enzymatic gluten degradation to create high-quality gluten-free products. *Food Research International*, 110, 62-72.
- SCHUPPAN, D., JUNKER, Y. & BARISANI, D. 2009. Celiac disease: from pathogenesis to novel therapies. *Gastroenterology*, 137, 1912-1933.
- SCHUPPAN, D. & ZIMMER, K.-P. 2013. The diagnosis and treatment of celiac disease. *Deutsches Ärzteblatt International*, 110, 835.
- SCHYUM, A. C. & RUMESSEN, J. J. 2013. Serological testing for celiac disease in adults. *UEG Journal*, 1, 319-325.
- SCRICCIOLO, A., ELLI, L., DONEDA, L., BASCUNAN, K. A., BRANCHI, F., FERRETTI, F., VECCHI, M. & RONCORONI, L. 2020. Efficacy of a High-Iron Dietary Intervention in Women with Celiac Disease and Iron Deficiency without Anemia: A Clinical Trial. *Nutrients*, 12, 2122.
- SELLITTO, M., BAI, G., SERENA, G., FRICKE, W. F., STURGEON, C., GAJER, P., WHITE, J. R., KOENIG, S. S., SAKAMOTO, J. & BOOTHE, D. 2012. Proof of concept of microbiome-metabolome analysis and delayed gluten exposure on celiac disease autoimmunity in genetically at-risk infants. *PloS one*, 7, e33387.
- SEMOVA, I., CARTEN, J. D., STOMBAUGH, J., MACKEY, L. C., KNIGHT, R., FARBER, S. A. & RAWLS, J. F. 2012. Microbiota regulate intestinal absorption and metabolism of fatty acids in the zebrafish. *Cell host & microbe*, 12, 277-288.
- SHARMA, A., LIU, X., HADLEY, D., HAGOPIAN, W., LIU, E., CHEN, W.-M., ONENGUT-GUMUSCU, S., SIMELL, V., REWERS, M. & ZIEGLER, A.-G. 2016. Identification of non-HLA genes associated with celiac disease and country-specific differences in a large, international pediatric cohort. *PloS one*, 11, e0152476.
- SHARMA, N., BHATIA, S., CHUNDURI, V., KAUR, S., SHARMA, S., KAPOOR, P., KUMARI, A. & GARG, M. 2020. Pathogenesis of celiac disease and other gluten related disorders in wheat and strategies for mitigating them. *Frontiers in nutrition*, 7.
- SINGH, P., ARORA, A., STRAND, T. A., LEFFLER, D. A., CATASSI, C., GREEN, P. H., KELLY, C. P., AHUJA, V. & MAKHARIA, G. K. 2018. Global prevalence of celiac disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 16, 823-836. e2.
- SINGH, P., ARORA, S., LAL, S., STRAND, T. A. & MAKHARIA, G. K. 2015. Risk of celiac disease in the first-and second-degree relatives of patients with celiac disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Official journal of the American College of Gastroenterology*/*ACG*, 110, 1539-1548.
- SINGH, P., ARORA, S., SINGH, A., STRAND, T. A. & MAKHARIA, G. K. 2016. Prevalence of celiac disease in Asia: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Journal of gastroenterology and hepatology*, 31, 1095-1101.

- SLAOUI, M. & FIETTE, L. 2011. Histopathology procedures: from tissue sampling to histopathological evaluation. *Drug safety evaluation*. Springer.
- ŚMIGIELSKI, J. & GMITROWICZ, A. 2014. Neuropsychiatric symptoms and celiac disease. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 10, 1961-1964.
- SMITH, L. B., LYNCH, K. F., KURPPA, K., KOLETZKO, S., KRISCHER, J., LIU, E., JOHNSON, S. B., AGARDH, D. & GROUP, T. S. 2017. Psychological manifestations of celiac disease autoimmunity in young children. *Pediatrics*, 139.
- SOLIMAN, A., LAHAM, M., JOUR, C., SHAAT, M., SOUIKEY, F., ITANI, M., AL-SAFI, A., KARMALLAH, A., QUDAISAT, A. & ALARABI, Z. 2019. Linear growth of children with celiac disease after the first two years on gluten-free diet: A controlled study. *Acta Bio Medica: Atenei Parmensis*, 90, 20.
- SOLLID, L. M., QIAO, S.-W., ANDERSON, R. P., GIANFRANI, C. & KONING, F. 2012. Nomenclature and listing of celiac disease relevant gluten T-cell epitopes restricted by HLA-DQ molecules. *Immunogenetics*, 64, 455-460.
- SOLLID, L. M., TYE-DIN, J. A., QIAO, S.-W., ANDERSON, R. P., GIANFRANI, C. & KONING, F. 2020. Update 2020: nomenclature and listing of celiac disease–relevant gluten epitopes recognized by CD4+ T cells. *Immunogenetics*, 72, 85-88.
- SPERANDEO, M. P., TOSCO, A., IZZO, V., TUCCI, F., TRONCONE, R., AURICCHIO, R., ROMANOS, J., TRYNKA, G., AURICCHIO, S. & JABRI, B. 2011. Potential celiac patients: a model of celiac disease pathogenesis. *PloS one*, 6, e21281.
- SPIJKERMAN, M., TAN, I. L., KOLKMAN, J. J., WITHOFF, S., WIJMENGA, C., VISSCHEDIJK, M. C. & WEERSMA, R. K. 2016. A large variety of clinical features and concomitant disorders in celiac disease–a cohort study in the Netherlands. *Digestive and Liver Disease*, 48, 499-505.
- STEFANELLI, G., VISCIDO, A., LONGO, S., MAGISTRONI, M. & LATELLA, G. 2020. Persistent iron deficiency anemia in patients with celiac disease despite a gluten-free diet. *Nutrients*, 12, 2176.
- STØRDAL, K., WHITE, R. A. & EGGESBØ, M. 2013. Early feeding and risk of celiac disease in a prospective birth cohort. *Pediatrics*, 132, e1202-e1209.
- TAAVELA, J., KOSKINEN, O., HUHTALA, H., LäHDEAHO, M.-L., POPP, A., LAURILA, K., COLLIN, P., KAUKINEN, K., KURPPA, K. & MäKI, M.
  2013. Validation of morphometric analyses of small-intestinal biopsy readouts in celiac disease. *PLoS One*, 8, e76163.
- THERRIEN, A., KELLY, C. P. & SILVESTER, J. A. 2020. Celiac disease: extraintestinal manifestations and associated conditions. *Journal of clinical gastroenterology*, 54, 8.
- TONUTTI, E. & BIZZARO, N. 2014. Diagnosis and classification of celiac disease and gluten sensitivity. *Autoimmunity reviews*, 13, 472-476.

- TORSTEN, M. & AARON, L. 2018. Microbial transglutaminase is immunogenic and potentially pathogenic in pediatric celiac disease. *Frontiers in pediatrics*, 6, 389.
- TORTORA, R., IMPERATORE, N., CAPONE, P., DE PALMA, G., DE STEFANO, G., GERBINO, N., CAPORASO, N. & RISPO, A. 2014. The presence of anti-endomysial antibodies and the level of anti-tissue transglutaminases can be used to diagnose adult coeliac disease without duodenal biopsy. *Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics*, 40, 1223-1229.
- TRONCONE, R., MAURANO, F., ROSSI, M., MICILLO, M., GRECO, L., AURICCHIO, R., SALERNO, G., SALVATORE, F. & SACCHETTI, L. 1999. IgA antibodies to tissue transglutaminase: an effective diagnostic test for celiac disease. *The Journal of pediatrics*, 134, 166-171.
- TRUZZI, F., TIBALDI, C., WHITTAKER, A., DILLOO, S., SPISNI, E. & DINELLI, G. 2021. Pro-Inflammatory Effect of Gliadins and Glutenins Extracted from Different Wheat Cultivars on an In Vitro 3D Intestinal Epithelium Model. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22, 172.
- TRYNKA, G., HUNT, K. A., BOCKETT, N. A., ROMANOS, J., MISTRY, V., SZPERL, A., BAKKER, S. F., BARDELLA, M. T., BHAW-ROSUN, L. & CASTILLEJO, G. 2011. Dense genotyping identifies and localizes multiple common and rare variant association signals in celiac disease. *Nature genetics*, 43, 1193-1201.
- TUCCI, F., ASTARITA, L., ABKARI, A., ABU-ZEKRY, M., ATTARD, T., HARIZ, M. B., BILBAO, J. R., BOUDRAA, G., BOUKTHIR, S. & COSTA, S. 2014. Celiac disease in the Mediterranean area. *BMC gastroenterology*, 14, 1-7.
- TYE-DIN, J. A., GALIPEAU, H. J. & AGARDH, D. 2018. Celiac disease: a review of current concepts in pathogenesis, prevention, and novel therapies. *Frontiers in pediatrics*, 6, 350.
- TYE-DIN, J. A., SKODJE, G. I., SARNA, V. K., DZURIS, J. L., RUSSELL, A. K., GOEL, G., WANG, S., GOLDSTEIN, K. E., WILLIAMS, L. J. & SOLLID, L. M. 2020. Cytokine release after gluten ingestion differentiates coeliac disease from self-reported gluten sensitivity. *United European gastroenterology journal*, 8, 108-118.
- ULLUWISHEWA, D., ANDERSON, R. C., MCNABB, W. C., MOUGHAN, P. J., WELLS, J. M. & ROY, N. C. 2011. Regulation of tight junction permeability by intestinal bacteria and dietary components. *The Journal of nutrition*, 141, 769-776.
- VALITUTTI, F., CUCCHIARA, S. & FASANO, A. 2019. Celiac disease and the microbiome. *Nutrients*, 11, 2403.
- VAN DER WINDT, D. A., JELLEMA, P., MULDER, C. J., KNEEPKENS, C. F. & VAN DER HORST, H. E. 2010. Diagnostic testing for celiac disease among patients with abdominal symptoms: a systematic review. *Jama*, 303, 1738-1746.

- VERMEERSCH, P., GEBOES, K., MARIEN, G., HOFFMAN, I., HIELE, M. & BOSSUYT, X. 2010. Diagnostic performance of IgG anti-deamidated gliadin peptide antibody assays is comparable to IgA anti-tTG in celiac disease. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 411, 931-935.
- VILLALTA, D., TONUTTI, E., PRAUSE, C., KOLETZKO, S., UHLIG, H. H., VERMEERSCH, P., BOSSUYT, X., STERN, M., LAASS, M. W. & ELLIS, J. H. 2010. IgG antibodies against deamidated gliadin peptides for diagnosis of celiac disease in patients with IgA deficiency. *Clinical chemistry*, 56, 464-468.
- VILLANACCI, V., CEPPA, P., TAVANI, E., VINDIGNI, C. & VOLTA, U. 2011. Coeliac disease: the histology report. *Digestive and Liver Disease*, 43, S385-S395.
- VOROBJOVA, T., TAGOMA, A., ORAS, A., ALNEK, K., KISAND, K., TALJA, I., UIBO, O. & UIBO, R. 2019. Celiac disease in children, particularly with accompanying type 1 diabetes, is characterized by substantial changes in the blood cytokine balance, which may reflect inflammatory processes in the small intestinal mucosa. *Journal of immunology research*, 2019.
- VRIEZINGA, S. L., AURICCHIO, R., BRAVI, E., CASTILLEJO, G., CHMIELEWSKA, A., CRESPO ESCOBAR, P., KOLAČEK, S., KOLETZKO, S., KORPONAY-SZABO, I. R. & MUMMERT, E. 2014a. Randomized feeding intervention in infants at high risk for celiac disease. *New england journal of medicine*, 371, 1304-1315.
- VRIEZINGA, S. L., AURICCHIO, R., BRAVI, E., CASTILLEJO, G., CHMIELEWSKA, A., CRESPO ESCOBAR, P., KOLAČEK, S., KOLETZKO, S., KORPONAY-SZABO, I. R., MUMMERT, E., POLANCO, I., PUTTER, H., RIBES-KONINCKX, C., SHAMIR, R., SZAJEWSKA, H., WERKSTETTER, K., GRECO, L., GYIMESI, J., HARTMAN, C., HOGEN ESCH, C., HOPMAN, E., IVARSSON, A., KOLTAI, T., KONING, F., MARTINEZ-OJINAGA, E., TE MARVELDE, C., PAVIC, A., ROMANOS, J., STOOPMAN, E., VILLANACCI, V., WIJMENGA, C., TRONCONE, R. & MEARIN, M. L. 2014b. Randomized Feeding Intervention in Infants at High Risk for Celiac Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 371, 1304-1315.
- WACKLIN, P., KAUKINEN, K., TUOVINEN, E., COLLIN, P., LINDFORS, K., PARTANEN, J., MäKI, M. & MäTTö, J. 2013. The duodenal microbiota composition of adult celiac disease patients is associated with the clinical manifestation of the disease. *Inflammatory bowel diseases*, 19, 934-941.
- WANG, Z., GAO, Z.-M., HUANG, H.-B., SUN, L.-S., SUN, A.-Q. & LI, K. 2018. Association of IL-8 gene promoter– 251 A/T and IL-18 gene promoter– 137 G/C polymorphisms with head and neck cancer risk: a comprehensive metaanalysis. *Cancer management and research*, 10, 2589.
- WEI, G., HELMERHORST, E. J., DARWISH, G., BLUMENKRANZ, G. & SCHUPPAN, D. 2020. Gluten degrading enzymes for treatment of celiac disease. *Nutrients*, 12, 2095.

- WERKSTETTER, K. J., KORPONAY-SZABÓ, I. R., POPP, A., VILLANACCI, V., SALEMME, M., HEILIG, G., LILLEVANG, S. T., MEARIN, M. L., RIBES-KONINCKX, C. & THOMAS, A. 2017. Accuracy in diagnosis of celiac disease without biopsies in clinical practice. *Gastroenterology*, 153, 924-935.
- WIERDSMA, N. J., BOKHORST-DE VAN DER SCHUEREN, V., MARIAN, A., BERKENPAS, M., MULDER, C. J. & VAN BODEGRAVEN, A. A. 2013. Vitamin and mineral deficiencies are highly prevalent in newly diagnosed celiac disease patients. *Nutrients*, 5, 3975-3992.

WITKOWSKA, A. M. 2005. On the role of sIL-2R measurements in rheumatoid arthritis and cancers. *Mediators of inflammation*, 2005, 121-130.

WOLF, J., HASENCLEVER, D., PETROFF, D., RICHTER, T., UHLIG, H. H., LAAB, M. W., HAUER, A., STERN, M., BOSSUYT, X. & DE LAFFOLIE, J. 2014. Antibodies in the diagnosis of coeliac disease: a biopsy-controlled, international, multicentre study of 376 children with coeliac disease and 695 controls. *PloS one*, 9, e97853.

WOSEN, J. E., MUKHOPADHYAY, D., MACAUBAS, C. & MELLINS, E. D. 2018. Epithelial MHC class II expression and its role in antigen presentation in the gastrointestinal and respiratory tracts. *Frontiers in immunology*, 9, 2144.

YANTISS, R. K. & ODZE, R. D. 2009. Optimal approach to obtaining mucosal biopsies for assessment of inflammatory disorders of the gastrointestinal tract. *Official journal of the American College of Gastroenterology*/ ACG, 104, 774-783.

- YASUDA, K., NAKANISHI, K. & TSUTSUI, H. 2019. Interleukin-18 in health and disease. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 20, 649.
- YLÖNEN, V., LINDFORS, K., REPO, M., HUHTALA, H., FUCHS, V., SAAVALAINEN, P., MUSIKKA, A., LAURILA, K., KAUKINEN, K. & KURPPA, K. 2020. Non-Biopsy serology-based diagnosis of celiac disease in adults is accurate with different commercial kits and pre-test probabilities. *Nutrients*, 12, 2736.
- YOOSUF, S. & MAKHARIA, G. K. 2019. Evolving therapy for celiac disease. *Frontiers in pediatrics*, 7, 193.
- YU, J., FREUD, A. G. & CALIGIURI, M. A. 2013. Location and cellular stages of natural killer cell development. *Trends in immunology*, 34, 573-582.
- YU, X. B., UHDE, M., GREEN, P. H. & ALAEDINI, A. 2018. Autoantibodies in the extraintestinal manifestations of celiac disease. *Nutrients*, 10, 1123.
- ZAHARY, M. N., ANKATHIL, R., HASSAN, M. R. A., SINGH, H., SIDEK, A. S. M., MAZUWIN, M., SHARIFF, S. E. T. & KAUR, G. The 11TH Annual Scientific Meeting of the College of Pathologists, Academy of Medicine Malaysia was held at the Crowne Plaza Mutiara Hotel, Kuala Lumpur from 8-10 June 2012. Abstracts of papers presented follow.
- ZEVALLOS, V. F., RAKER, V., TENZER, S., JIMENEZ-CALVENTE, C., ASHFAQ-KHAN, M., RUSSEL, N., PICKERT, G., SCHILD, H.,

STEINBRINK, K. & SCHUPPAN, D. 2017. Nutritional wheat amylase-trypsin inhibitors promote intestinal inflammation via activation of myeloid cells. *Gastroenterology*, 152, 1100-1113. e12.

- ZHANG, T.-Y., LIN, Y., FAN, R., HU, S.-R., CHENG, M.-M., ZHANG, M.-C., HONG, L.-W., ZHOU, X.-L., WANG, Z.-T. & ZHONG, J. 2016. Potential model for differential diagnosis between Crohn's disease and primary intestinal lymphoma. *World journal of gastroenterology*, 22, 9411.
- ZHANG, X., ZHANG, B.-Q., WU, H.-Y., LU, C.-B., LU, G.-F., LIU, D.-T., MAN, L., JIANG, W., SONG, G.-H. & GAO, D.-R. 2018. Effect of highmolecular-weight glutenin subunit deletion on soft wheat quality properties and sugar-snap cookie quality estimated through near-isogenic lines. *Journal of integrative agriculture*, 17, 1066-1073.
- ZIMMERMANN, C., RUDLOFF, S., LOCHNIT, G., ARAMPATZI, S., MAISON, W. & ZIMMER, K.-P. 2014. Epithelial transport of immunogenic and toxic gliadin peptides in vitro. *PloS one*, 9, e113932.
- ZIS, P., JULIAN, T. & HADJIVASSILIOU, M. 2018. Headache associated with coeliac disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrients*, 10, 1445.



Ø

#### **APPENDICES**

**Appendix** (A): Ethical Approval (Karbala health directorate/research unit)

جمهورية العراق محافظة كريلاء المقدسة دائرة صحة كريلاء المقدسة Holy Karbala governorate مركز التدريب والتتمية البث Karbala Health Department شعبة ادارة المعرفة General manager's office وحدة البحوث **Training and Human Development** العد: \ ( Center 11.11 4/1 4/17.1 الى/ مدينة الامام الحمين عليه السلام الطبية الموضوع/ تسهيل مهمة تحيه طيبه.... كتابكم ذي العدد ٢٠٢١/٧/١٣ فــــــي لا مانع لدينا من تسهيل مهمة طالبة الدر اسات العليا (مها صباح مجيد) لإنجاز بحثها الموسوم حول Evaluation of Serum IL-and IL- 18 in patients With Coeiiac Disease ) correlation With circulating Anti-Tissue Transglutaminase and Antideamidated Gliadin Antibodies across Biodemographic ) فى موسستكم الصحية /مدينة الامام الحسين عليه السلام الطبية ويكون المشرف العملي للبحث (طبيب استشاري /هادي عبد زيد صياح ضاحي ) على أن لاتتحمل دائرتنا أي نفقات مادية مع الاحترام • تقوى مدير قسم التدريب والتن نسخة منه إلى مركز التدريب والتنمية البشرية مع الأوليات العند 1/ ك بلاء المعدمة \*. م المعد ٢٠١ - ق ب دان وكاتب العدا ... قد الدائف ١ ٢٢٢٢٨٠٠٢.

### **Appendix (B):** The reagents & solutions of IL-18 ELISA kit (BIOTECH User Manual).

Reagents	Quantity
Standard solution(128ng/L)	0.5ml×1 ( 1 vial )
Pre-coated ELISA Plate	12*8 well strips×1 (96 wells)
Standard Diluent	3ml × 1vial
Streptavidin-HRP	6ml × 1vial
Stop Solution	6ml × 1vial
Substrate Solution A	6ml × 1vial
Substrate Solution B	6ml × 1vial
Wash Buffer Concentrate(25x)	20ml × 1vial
Biotinylated human IL-18	1ml × 1vial
Antibody	
Plate Sealer	2 pics
User Instruction	1

Appendix (C): The reagents & solutions of sIL-2R ELISA kit (BIOTEC)	H
User Manual).	

Reagents	Quantity	
Standard solution(1280ng/L)	0.5ml×1 ( 1 vial )	
Pre-coated ELISA Plate	12*8 well strips $\times 1$ (96	
	wells)	
Standard Diluent	3ml × 1vial	
Streptavidin-HRP	6ml × 1vial	
Stop Solution	6ml × 1vial	
Substrate Solution A	6ml × 1vial	
Substrate Solution B	6ml × 1vial	
Wash Buffer Concentrate(25x)	20ml × 1vial	
Biotinylated human sIL-2R Antibody	1ml × 1vial	
Plate Sealer	2 pics	
User Instruction	1	

# **Appendix (D):** The components of anti-DGP IgG antibody ELISA kit (EUROIMMUN).

Reagents	Colour	Quantity
Microplate wells; coated with		12 x 8 well
antigens		strips (96wells)
Calibrator 1	Dark red	2ml x1vial
Calibrator 2	red	2ml x1vial
Calibrator 3	Light red	2ml x1vial
Positive control	blue	2ml x1vial
Negative control	green	2ml x1vial
Enzyme conjugate;	green	12 ml x 1vial
peroxidase-labelled anti –human		
IgG		
Sample buffer	Light blue	100ml x 1vial
Wash buffer 10x concentrate	colourless	100ml x 1vial
Chromogen/substrate	colourless	12ml x 1vial
solution(TMB/H2O2)		
Stop solution(sulpheric acid)	colourless	12ml x 1vial
Test instruction		1 booklet

# **Appendix (E):** The components of anti-tTG IgA antibody ELISA kit (EUROIMMUN).

Reagents	Colour	Quantity
Microplate wells; coated with		12 x 8 well
antigens		strips (96wells)
Calibrator 1	Dark red	2ml x1vial
Calibrator 2	red	2ml x1vial
Calibrator 3	Light red	2ml x1vial
Positive control	blue	2ml x1vial
Negative control	green	2ml x1vial
Enzyme conjugate;	Orange	12 ml x 1vial
peroxidase-labelled anti –human		
IgA		
Sample buffer	Light blue	100ml x 1vial
Wash buffer 10x concentrate	colourless	100ml x 1vial
Chromogen/substrate	colourless	12ml x 1vial
solution(TMB/H2O2)		
Stop solution(sulpheric acid	colourless	12ml x 1vial
H2SO4)		
Test instruction		1 booklet

#### الخلاصة:

مرض السيلياك (الزلاقي) هو مرض مزمن من أمراض المناعة الذاتية يصيب بشكل رئيسي الجهاز الهضمي بدرجات متفاوتة من الشدة ونوع الأعراض الظاهرة. يسببه تناول الأطعمة المحتوية على الغلوتين ، والموجودة بشكل أساسي في القمح والشعير والجاودار في الأشخاص المهيئين وراثيًا من جميع الأعمار. منذ عقود ، تم التركيز على كيفية حدوث مرض السيلياك ومحاولة الربط مع اضطرابات المناعة الذاتية الأخرى في الانسان وهناك العديد من العوامل التي تحفز ظهور المرض بما في ذلك الاضطرابات المناعية والبيئية والوراثية. الهدف من هذه الدراسة هو إجراء تقييم نسبي لمستقبلات إنترلوكين ٢ في الدم (sil-2R) وإنترلوكين ١٨ (-IL 18) مع الاجسام المضادة لانزيم ترانسجلوتاميناز الأنسجة (مضاد للـ tTG) والأجسام المضادة لببتيد الغليادين المتحلل (مضاد DGP) عبر العوامل الديموغرافية الحيوية في المرضى الذين يعانون من مرض السيلياك. حيث ان إنزيم تر انسجلوتاميناز الأنسجة وببتيد الغليادين المتحلل يشاركان في سلسلة من العمليات المناعية المرتبطة بمرض السيلياك، ويعتبر SIL-2R مع IL-18 مع IL-18 من العلامات التنبؤية للعملية الالتهابية للأمعاء الدقيقة لدى الأشخاص العراقيين البالغين المصابين بمرض السيلياك وذلك لارتفاع مستوياتهما في الدم عند هؤلاء المرضى . ولقد تم استخدام الفحص النسيجي لخزعات نسيج الاثني عشر والذي كان يعتبر حجر الزاوية في تشخيص مرض السيلياك لعدة عقود في هذه الدراسة. الطريقة: أجريت دراسة لاختبار ٤٥ من مرضى السيلياك من الفئة العمرية البالغة من كلا الجنسين لقياس مستوى مصل العلامات الأربعة باستخدام تقنية ELISA ثم مقارنتها بـ ٤٥ من الشخاص السليمين الملائمين للعمر والجنس. وتم فحص الخزعات المستحصل عليها بالمنظار من أنسجة الاثني عشر للمرضى المصابين بمرض السيلياك عن طريق تطبيق بروتوكول الهيماتوكسيلين والايوزين ومن ثم تصنيفها حسب نظام MARSH. النتائج: لوحظ ارتفاع تركيزات مضاد لـ TG و DGP و IL-18 و sIL-2R في الدم عند غالبية مرضى السيلياك ، والتي ربما تُعزى إلى استهلاك الغلوتين في النظام الغذائي لمعظم المرشحين. وتوضح هذه الدراسة فروق ذات دلالة إحصائية في مستويات الدم للواسمات الأربعة المذكورة أعلاه بين مرضى السيلياك مقارنة بمجموعة الأشخاص السليمين (p<0.05). وكانت هناك ارتباطات معنوية بين مستوى الواسمات المضادة لـ tTG و L-18 و sIL-2R مع درجات نسيجية مختلفة (p <0.05). ان العملية الالتهابية

المرتبطة بمرض السيلياك يمكن مراقبتها عن طريق الكشف عن مستوى الدم من السيتوكينات المشمولة في هذه الدراسة وبالتالي يمكن للأطباء التنبؤ بالنتيجة السريرية ، وتدعو هذه الدراسة أيضًا إلى التحقيق في الأشخاص الذين يعانون من فقر الدم المقاوم أو الاعراض غير المعوية والتي ربما تكون اعراض مرض السيلياك الغير مكتشف عند هؤلاء المرضى باستخدام علامات الالتهاب المصلية المتمثلة بالسيتوكينات المذكورة ( IL-18 و SIL-2R ) وهذا قد يقلل من الحاجة إلى تطبيق تنظير الجهاز الهضمي العلوي.



جمهورية العراق وزارة التعليم العالى والبحث العلمي جامعة كريلاء كلية الطب- فرع الأحياء المجهرية



علاقة مستويات الانترلوكينات (sil-2R & IL-18) في مصل الدم مع الاجسام الذاتية المضادة لدى المصابين بمرض السيلياك في محافظة كربلاء

رسالة مقدمة الى

كلية الطب/ جامعة كربلاء وهي جزء من متطلبات نيل درجة الماجستير في المناعة السريرية / فرع الاحياء المجهرية

من قبل:

مها صباح مجيد

بكلوريوس طب وجراحة عامة

أشراف:

الاستاذ المساعد الدكتور

ستار جبار الكريطي

الاستاذ المساعد الدكتور

محمد فوزي قنبر

۲۰۲۱ میلادیة

١٤٤٣ هجري